



# COVID-19 Science Report: Clinical Characteristics

NUS Saw Swee Hock School of Public Health As of 28 May 2020

## Announcement

We started the first of our COVID-19 Science Reports in the last week of January 2020, as the very first wave of the COVID-19 pandemic reached Singapore. It was a rapid scan for the current state of development of diagnostics, therapeutics and vaccines that could be useful against the novel coronavirus, as it was called then. It was an urgent request made on a Monday night, and we managed to deliver by that week Friday afternoon.

Since then, it has been a weekly saga (some might call it a nightmare), as we continued to scan and update these reports (highlighting the updated text and paragraphs each week) and added more chapters, first on symptoms and signs, then on laboratory and imaging findings, and then on containment measures. Each addition was responding to yet another urgent request and delivered in the same three to four days, and subsequently updated each week as we continued our scans.

By the fifth week, the Science Report had grown to well over a hundred pages (not counting of course the references) and had become somewhat unwieldy. This was also the same time we were requested to make the report available for downloading on the School's website. We broke up the report into five stand-alone Science Reports and launched them online on 28 February. We were pleasantly surprised by its reception. What started off as "national service" to support our local healthcare and government sector was praised, shared, and even tweeted about.

As the pandemic progressed, we did other reports as well, of course, for the government and for other agencies, not all of which made it online for various reasons. We summarised the available data on fomite-mediated transmission, the risks and management of persons in high density accommodations, how different countries are moving into lockdowns, the use of digital technologies in containment, business continuity measures for enterprises, stay home strategies, and more.

Through it all, our small team were able to deliver on time each week, working through weekends, juggling pieces of work in progress and helped by a group of enthusiastic and hardworking medical students and Public Health interns (some of whom were volunteering their vacations to help). It's been 19 weeks since we started the Science Reports and it is a good time to review and consolidate.

There are now many repositories that cover much of the same ground as our clinical characteristics, diagnostics, therapeutics and vaccines reports. There is also a lot more known about these aspects as clinicians around the world treat their patients. Our student interns have to move on as well, some to examinations, others back to their courses. We will therefore freeze our reports on 1 June 2020, enabling us to focus on the ones that continue to be of critical importance in the global and national responses to COVID-19.

For continuing information on the clinical characteristics of COVID-19, please see:

- <u>CDC Interim Clinical Guidance for Management of Patients with Confirmed</u> <u>Coronavirus Disease</u> Outlines the latest evidence in clinical presentation, clinical progression, risk factors, illness severity, and laboratory and radiographic findings.
- **COVIPENDIUM** Provides information on the virus, immunity, clinical characteristics, fatalities, specific populations and many other issues.
- <u>Medscape</u> Provides a summary write up of the topics covered in our science report.
- **<u>UpToDate®</u>**. Outlines the epidemiology, virology, clinical features, diagnosis and prevention of COVID-19.
- **<u>BMJ Best Practice</u>**. Covers theory (Epidemiology, Aetiology), diagnosis, management and follow up with regard to COVID-19.

## Contents

Contents	1
Clinical Characteristics	3
Caveat	
Sociodemographic Characteristics	4
Age	
Gender	
Past Medical History	
Smoking Status Predictive Factors of Disease Susceptibility	
Clinical Presentation	
Initial Presentation	
Asymptomatic Presentation	
Incubation Period	
Symptoms Reported over the Course of Illness	
Progression of Disease	
Recovery	
Radiographic Findings	
Chest X-ray	
Chest CT Scans	
Laboratory Findings	
Haematology	
Liver Function Kidney Function	
Others/Cardiology/Endocrinology/Musculoskeletal	23
Viral Load and Seroconversion	
Complications/Morbidity	
Potential At-Risk Populations	
Predictive Factors of Disease Severity	
Mortality	35
Factors affecting Mortality	
Causes of Death	39
Certification and Classification of COVID-19 as Cause of Death	39
Search method	
Acknowledgement	
Appendix A	
References	54

## **Clinical Characteristics**

In the case of an emerging infectious disease such as COVID-19, it can be difficult for medical practitioners to recognise and diagnose the disease because of the relative lack of knowledge around the presentation of the disease. This section reviews the literature that describe the clinical characteristics of patients with COVID-19, which will hopefully provide health authorities and medical practitioners with a better idea of how COVID-19 presents globally. Where possible, we compare the situation in Singapore to the global situation. Information about Singapore's COVID-19 patients are taken from the case series on the first 18 patients diagnosed between 23 January and 3 February 2020, with onset of symptoms occurring between 14 and 30 January 2020 All of these cases had a travel history to Wuhan city within 14 days prior to developing symptoms.

As of 25 March 2020, we found 223 published papers that reported the various clinical characteristics of COVID-19 patients (Table 4). A systematic search of pre-print articles was not carried out in view of the overwhelming number of papers, although selected pre-print papers were included in the report where relevant. These preprints are preliminary and yet to be peer reviewed, the results should be interpreted with caution. We recorded the various key clinical characteristics of patients and reported them as aggregates. We divided up the clinical characteristics into sociodemographic characteristics, clinical presentation, complications, morbidity and mortality. The report will continue to be updated weekly with the emergence of new studies and findings, and with continued expansion of our search strategy. From 26 March 2020, weekly updates to the report focused on highlighting novel presentations of COVID-19, risk factors for disease susceptibility and severity, as well as clinical characteristics in vulnerable sub-populations.

## Caveat

The reported numbers and percentages for the various symptoms and signs should be interpreted with caution. There are multiple structural challenges in comparing the different reports, and these figures may change with the emergence of new studies and findings.

Variations in study design and data quality hinder our compilation. There is a risk of **selection bias** in particular in retrospective studies. Reported counts and percentages of sociodemographic characteristics, and clinical characteristics, incubation periods and mortality rates will vary by the selected sample of patients included in each study. Our analysis excludes individuals infected by SARS-CoV-2 for whom data has not been collected and analysed, including mild cases that did not receive treatment and follow-up in hospitals. Most of the studies were conducted in China, along with some studies in other countries such as Nepal, Singapore, South Korea, Taiwan, Vietnam, UK, USA and beyond. Thus, the findings will not be representative and predictive of the full spectrum of clinical disease, while morbidity and mortality rates will vary across different health care systems.

The current analysis (Table 2) involves summarizing patient counts for each included study. A key limitation of this is repetition and **double counting** of patients. Large scale studies such as that by the Chinese Centre for Disease Control and Prevention<sup>1</sup> involve data extracted from multiple sources and databases and are likely to include patients that have already been reported in the other studies (eg Chen et al 2020<sup>2</sup>) included in this analysis.

Several studies are **incomplete** in the sense that the final outcome for patients (discharged/survived vs. death) have not been determined. Patients may fail to present with signs and symptoms within the cut-off period even though they might subsequently go on to develop them. Moreover, most studies neither reported nor stratified findings by disease severity, or duration from the onset of symptoms or diagnosis. Time constraints may preclude thorough verification of data quality and accuracy.

There was also variation across studies, and within studies, in terms of **case definition**. The method of diagnosis was not reported in some studies<sup>1</sup>. While RT-PCR was the most commonly reported method, details such as the type of swab (throat or nasopharyngeal) were not included in some studies. One study used lower respiratory tract specimens<sup>3</sup>, while another included any case picked up by at least one of three different diagnostic methods (SARS-CoV-2 isolation, at least two positive RT-PCR assay results, or genetic sequence match)<sup>4</sup>. The sensitivity and specificity of tests may vary across settings, and the rate of misclassification of false-positives and false-negatives cannot be determined. Variations also exist across studies in clinical practice and the use of terminology (eg classification of disease severity).

Finally, there is variation in the **range of coverage** of clinical presentations. Some studies report a wide range of clinical and laboratory parameters, while others focus only on specific parameters, such as chest X-ray findings, renal function, or T-cells. The effect of COVID-19 on specific organs and systems may not be fully captured in the existing studies.

## **Sociodemographic Characteristics**

As of 25 March 2020, a total of 223 published papers were included in this report (Table 4).

#### Age

In China<sup>1</sup>, the most commonly infected persons reported are those aged 50-59 years (22.4%), followed by those aged 60-69 years (19.2%) and 40-49 years (19.2%). Those aged 0-9 years are least commonly affected (0.9%). In Korea, the age distribution involves two peaks, with most cases aged 20-29 or 50-59<sup>5</sup>; children aged 19 and below accounted for 4.8% of all confirmed cases<sup>5</sup>. Among cases with data in US<sup>6</sup>, 6% were aged 85 and above, 25% were aged 65-84 years old, 18% were aged 55-64 and 45-54 respectively, 29% were aged 20-44, and 5% were aged 0-19. In Italy<sup>7</sup>, the median age reported was 64 years, with 37.6% above 70 years, 37.3% were aged 51-70, 24.0% were aged 19-50, and 1.2% were aged 0-18 (Table 1). An Italian study conducted in 783 COVID-19 positive patients concluded that males aged above 50-years and females aged above 80 years were at the highest risk of developing severe lung disease<sup>8</sup>.

In Singapore<sup>9</sup>, the median age of the first 18 cases reported was 47 (range: 31-73) years old.

Overall, it was suggested that adults aged 30-50 may tend to become infected as they are more active in social circles<sup>4</sup>, and hence more likely to be exposed to someone who might transmit them the virus. Proposed explanations for the lower rate of infections among children include (1) lower exposure to the virus within their social circles, and (2) lack of testing among children<sup>10</sup>. A retrospective cohort study on 305 individuals in the US hypothesized higher risk in adults due to higher ACE2 expression in their nasal epithelium when compared to children<sup>11</sup>.

Country\ Age Range	0-9	10-19	20-29	30-39	40-49	50-59	60-69	70-79	80+	Total number
China <sup>1</sup>	0.9	1.2	8.1	17.0	19.2	22.4	19.2	8.8	3.2	44672
Italy	1.2 (0	)-18yo)	24.0	) (19-50)	/0)	37.3 (5	1-70yo)	37.6 (>	70yo)	22512
USA <sup>6</sup>	5 (0-	19yo)	29 (20-	·44yo)	18 (45- 54yo)	18 (55- 64yo)	25 (64	-84yo)	6 (≥85 yo)	2449 (with known ages)

Table 1 Age distribution of confirmed COVID-19 patients reported (%)

#### Gender

Out of the major epidemiological studies that took patient gender into account, some<sup>1,2,12-21</sup> reported a higher male to female ratio, while others reported otherwise<sup>5,22-27</sup>. Suggested reasons for the gender imbalance include lower susceptibility among females due to X chromosomes and sex hormone-related protective factors<sup>2</sup>, and higher smoking rates among men<sup>28</sup>. However, it is more likely that there was a confounding effect (ie differential exposure to infected persons) that result in this gender imbalance. In Singapore, as of 27 March 2020, 393 out of 683 diagnosed cases (57.5%) in Singapore are male. In Italy, as of 15 March 2020, 59.8% of cases are male<sup>7</sup>.

A study on 331 COVID-19 patients compared the IgG levels in male and female showed that the concentration of serum SARS-CoV-2 IgG antibody was higher in female patients than male patients, especially in early disease phase<sup>29</sup>. The authors postulated that this difference in antibody levels may be a potential cause leading to different disease outcomes based on sex.

#### **Past Medical History**

The most common comorbidities among patients with a confirmed diagnosis of COVID-19 in China<sup>1</sup> are hypertension (12.8%), followed by diabetes (5.3%), heart/cardiovascular disease (4.2%), chronic respiratory diseases such as COPD and/or asthma (2.4%), and ongoing malignancies (0.5%). A meta-analysis of 6 included studies noted that "the most prevalent cardiovascular metabolic comorbidities were hypertension (17.1%, 95% CI 9.9–24.4%) and cardia-cerebrovascular disease (16.4%, 95% CI 6.6–26.1%), followed by diabetes (9.7%, 95% CI 6.9–12.5%)<sup>30</sup>.

In Singapore<sup>9</sup>, out of the first 18 patients diagnosed, 5 (28%) had hypertension, 2 (11%) of the cases had pre-existing diabetes, and 1 case (6%) had hyperlipidaemia.

#### **Smoking Status**

Out of 1085 patients with acute respiratory disease due to SARS-CoV-2 in China<sup>16</sup>, 85% had no history of smoking, 13% were current smokers, and 2% had smoked in the past. This contrasts with the known high smoking prevalence in China of 27.7% (52.1% among men and 2.7% among women) in 2015<sup>31</sup>. There were no comments on this in the reviewed reports. There is no clear evidence on the association between smoking and the prevalence of COVID-19 currently,

and further studies may help to determine whether ACE2 expression contributes to disease susceptibility<sup>28</sup>.

#### **Predictive Factors of Disease Susceptibility**

There is currently limited evidence on the factors that determine individuals' susceptibility to COVID-19. A pre-print article suggested that there is no gender difference in terms of susceptibility to SARS-CoV-2<sup>32</sup>, while another suggested that children are as likely as adults to be infected<sup>33</sup>, although disease severity and mortality may differ by age groups. In contrast, another pre-print study that has yet to be peer-reviewed<sup>34</sup> found that cigarette smoking is associated with elevated ACE-2 receptor expression in the respiratory tract, and thus potentially increases smokers' susceptibility to COVID-19. There is currently insufficient evidence to conclude that patients with cancer have a higher risk of SARS-CoV-2 infection<sup>35</sup>, although one study in Wuhan found a higher risk of infection among cancer patients (OR 2.31, 95% ci 1.89-3.02)<sup>36</sup>. It has been hypothesized that patients with diabetes and hypertension who are treated with angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors and angiotensin II type-I receptor blockers are at a higher risk of SARS-CoV-2 infection, as the expression of ACE2 which facilitates the binding of SARS-CoV-2 to cells is increased, although there is no clear evidence at present<sup>37</sup>. Another study conducted on 12,594 patients reported no association of ACE 2 inhibitors and other five common classes of antihypertensive medications with a substantial increase in the likelihood of a COVID-19 positive test or a risk of severe infection among patients consuming antihypertensive medications<sup>38</sup>. Studies confirmed that though underlying cardiovascular disease is associated with an increased risk in mortality, it does not confirm association of ACE inhibitors or angiotensin receptor blockers (ARBs) with poor outcomes<sup>39-41</sup>. However an Italian study reported that ACE-inhibitor had no effect on risk of death<sup>42</sup>. This was confirmed by another large cohort study of 18,472 patients whereby ACE-inhibitor or ARBs were not associated with COVID-19 disease<sup>43</sup>. It was also proposed that the increased susceptibility of patients with diabetes, stroke and hypertension to COVID-19 may be due to ACE2 polymorphism, although this requires further investigation<sup>37</sup>. An analysis suggested that SARS-CoV-2 has a receptor-binding domain that may bind well to human ACE-2, and that pericytes in cardiac cells with a high expression of ACE2 may be targeted<sup>44</sup>. Another yet to be peerreviewed Finnish study compared genetic differences in the human angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (hACE2) gene on 56,885 Non-Finnish Europeans and 9,197 east Asians. The study reported small yet insignificant genetic differences.45

There is said to be no increased risk of infection among patients with inflammatory bowel disease (IBD)<sup>46,47</sup>. However, an Italian study reported that active IBD was independently associated with negative COVID-19 outcome whereas IBD treatments were not associated with COVID-19 outcomes<sup>48</sup>. Thus, further research is needed on IBD patients co-infected with SARS-CoV-2.

A study that has yet to be peer-reviewed, noted that among 1559 individuals tested for SARS-Cov-2 (of which 682 tested positive) the New York Presbyterian Hospital, individuals with blood group A have a higher odds of testing positive for COVID-19, and individuals with blood group O have lower odds of testing positive<sup>49</sup>. This association was only noted in patients who are Rh+<sup>49</sup>. Another study also yet to be peer-reviewed, reported similar findings where risk of COVID-19 infection was higher in patients with blood group A compared to other blood groups with an OR value of 1.40 (1.01-1.96) in mild cases and an OR of 1.63 (1.10-2.42) in critical cohorts<sup>50</sup>. However, the blood type distribution was not relevant in predicting severe outcomes of acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), acute kidney infection (AKI) and mortality rate. Similar to previous study, COVID-19 with blood group O were less likely to progress to severe infection.

## **Clinical Presentation**

#### **Initial Presentation**

As of 25 March 2020, a total of 42 published studies discussed the initial presentation of COVID-19 patients. Most papers reported fever and cough as the most common symptoms reported at initial presentation. A dry cough is more commonly reported than productive cough among patients diagnosed with COVID-19<sup>51</sup>.

Chen et al<sup>2</sup> found that the top three signs and symptoms upon admission include fever (83%). cough (82%) and shortness of breath (31%). Liu et al<sup>22</sup> reported that the fevers were typically "high fevers" that "occurred within several days and were not alleviated by routine anti-infective drugs", although some patients, in particular middle-aged and older patients with co-morbidities, did not have any fever. Huang et al<sup>3</sup> reported that fever was the most common presenting symptom in 40 (98%) of 41 patients, followed by cough (76%) and myalgia or fatigue (44%). Only 43.8% of patients showed signs of fever upon hospital admission in the study by Guan et al<sup>16</sup>. Myalgia and fatigue was also reported in 34.8% and 69.6% of patients respectively in a study by Wang et al<sup>23</sup>. Early clinical manifestations noted by Han et al<sup>52</sup> include fever (87%), dry cough (60%) and fatigue (60%). Two studies reported acute onset of olfactory and taste disorders (OTD) to be more frequent among COVID-19 patients compared with influenza patients<sup>53,54</sup>. While less common, other reported symptoms include sputum production, haemoptysis and diarrhoea (Table 2). One study of 116 patients in California noted that 31.9% of patients had gastro-intestinal symptoms (in particular loss of appetite, nausea/vomiting and diarrhoea), of which 89.2% described it as mild<sup>55</sup>. A study of 59 patients in Hong Kong found the proportion of patients with gastrointestinal symptoms to be 25.4%<sup>56</sup>. In Singapore<sup>9</sup>, the most common presenting symptoms were cough (83%), fever (72%), and sore throat (61%). In another case report, a man showcased atypical symptom of constant stabbing testicular and abdominal pain with no accompanying respiratory symptoms but was later tested positive for COVID-19<sup>57</sup>.

In Singapore<sup>58</sup>, earlier cases had a median of 2 (1-10) days of symptoms and 1 (0-8) day of fever before admission. In Beijing, patients attend the hospital on average  $4.5\pm3.7$  days after the onset of symptoms<sup>26</sup>, while the median interval was noted to be 6.8 days in a study in Wenzhou<sup>17</sup>. In Taiwan, the first 10 cases averaged  $4.2\pm2.9$  days before diagnosis confirmation following symptom onset<sup>59</sup>.

Both children and adults can be infected by SARS-CoV-2, although the disease was concentrated among adults 15 years and above during the initial stages of the epidemic<sup>60</sup>.

Stronger clinical predictors for a positive SARS-CoV-2 test in a study in Singapore<sup>61</sup> included elevated body temperature (Adjusted OR: 4.81, 95% CI: 1.97-13.12), gastrointestinal symptoms (Adjusted OR: 3.73, 95% CI: 1.23-12.45), and elevated respiratory rate (Adjusted OR: 1.21, 95% CI: 0.93-1.5). A model including male gender, exposure risk factors (eg contact with COVID-19 case), body temperature, heart rate, respiration rate, diastolic blood pressure, sore throat, sputum production, gastrointestinal symptoms, CT X-ray findings suggestive of pneumonia, neutrophil count, eosinophil count, creatinine levels, sodium levels performed well with an area under the receiver operating characteristics curve (AUC) of 0.91<sup>61</sup>. In few cases,

patients initially presented with fever and a distinctive febrile rash<sup>62</sup>, acute urticaria<sup>63</sup> or in peculiar cases as petechial rash<sup>64</sup> which in a case has been misdiagnosed as dengue<sup>65</sup>. Another study reported two COVID-19 positive cases with initial herpes zoster-like lesions.<sup>66</sup>

A yet to be reviewed study reported changing clinical presentations over the course of time<sup>67</sup>. Those presenting before 23 January had more systemic symptoms such as fever, fatigue and myalgia. Also, a greater proportion of the earlier patients had small amount of sputum production compared to the those admitted after 23 January. The earlier group also had greater proportion of patients with reduced lymphocyte, CD3 and CD8 counts and elevated serum amyloid.

In rare cases, patients have reported with solely ocular symptoms as the initial presentation of infection. A case report described a 62-year-old man presenting with persistent diplopia and a droopy left eyelid with no fever or respiratory symptoms who was eventually tested positive for COVID-19<sup>68</sup>. In another case, a 2 years-10 months old child presented with conjunctivitis and eyelid dermatitis as the only signs of COVID-19 infection<sup>69</sup>. A New York City study reported five cases of stroke in patients younger than 50-years of age who were later tested to be COVID-19 positive<sup>70</sup>.

#### **Asymptomatic Presentation**

It is noteworthy that for cases outside of China, 27 out 804 cases (3.36%) were detected while apparently asymptomatic<sup>71</sup>. A study<sup>72</sup> found that out of 24 cases that did not present with symptoms before laboratory test confirmation, 5 eventually developed symptoms in hospital, including fever (38°C and below), cough, nasal congestion, fatigue, dizziness and arthralgia. High levels of "alanine aminotransferase, aspartate aminotransferase, creatine kinase, C-reactive protein and D-dimer were uncommon" and 4 patients had lymphopenia and leukopenia on admission. Seven out of 24 patients had normal CT images and remained asymptomatic during follow-up. While most cases received initial antiviral therapy, none of the cases developed severe pneumonia, and 18 cases were cleared of the virus (after two consecutive negative nucleic acid tests) by the end of the study. One important caveat is that 21 of these patients – including all 5 symptomatic patients – were started on specific antiviral therapy (details of therapy were otherwise unavailable) upon hospitalization. Of 55 cases that were initially asymptomatic, 12 cases eventually developed symptoms of cough or fever<sup>73</sup>.

A study in Beijing found that 5% of cases were asymptomatic<sup>26</sup>. 46.5% of COVID-19 cases on the "Diamond Princess" cruise ship were reported to be asymptomatic at the point of testing<sup>74</sup>, although a statistical modelling study estimated the true asymptomatic proportion to be 17.9% (95% CI 15.5-20.2)<sup>75</sup>. Based on data from Japanese evacuees from Wuhan, the estimated asymptomatic ratio is 30.8% (95% CI 7.7%-53.8%)<sup>76</sup>. It was reported that 78% of new infections in China recorded over 24 hours up to 1<sup>st</sup> April 2020 were asymptomatic, although the data is preliminary<sup>77</sup>. In Korea, 3 of the 28 initial laboratory confirmed COVID-19 cases were asymptomatic<sup>78</sup>. In Singapore, pre-symptomatic cases accounted for 6.4% of the 157 locally acquired cases recorded between January 23 and March 16<sup>79</sup>. As of 15 March 2020, 6.7% of patients in Italy were asymptomatic, while 10.6% had unspecified symptoms<sup>7</sup>. However, a study in an isolated village in Italy (Vo'Euganeo) with testing of the entire population found that 50-75% of cases were asymptomatic<sup>80</sup>.

15.8% of children treated in Wuhan Children's Hospital were asymptomatic<sup>81</sup>, while 12.9% of children confirmed to have COVID-19 were asymptomatic in a retrospective study<sup>82</sup>. One infant

was asymptomatic in spite of a positive test result on admission, and remained generally afebrile during hospitalization<sup>83</sup>. In another retrospective study of 36 children, 28% were asymptomatic<sup>84</sup>. Approximately 50% of residents who tested positive for COVID-19 in a skilled nursing facility were asymptomatic or pre-symptomatic at testing<sup>85</sup>.

There have been reports of pre-symptomatic transmission<sup>79,86</sup>, as well as suggested asymptomatic transmission<sup>85</sup>. One study found rapid transmission of COVID-19 by an initially asymptomatic youth, to a cluster of youngsters, with a median incubation period of 2 days (range 1-4) and median serial interval of 1 day (range 0-4)<sup>87</sup>. The international WHO mission report noted that most asymptomatic cases go on to develop symptoms, thus truly asymptomatic infections are rare although the true proportion of asymptomatic cases is unclear<sup>88</sup>.

In a study of 1012 non-critically ill patients in Wuhan, 30 patients (3.0%) were asymptomatic from exposure to admission, of which 53.3% developed symptoms during follow-up. 14 patients (1.4%) remained asymptomatic during the follow-up period lasting a median of 24 days (IQR 22-27)<sup>89</sup>. Another study of 58 patients in Wuhan found that 27.6% of asymptomatic patients eventually developed symptoms<sup>90</sup>, including fever, fatigue, shortness of breath and diarrhoea.

A study in Shanghai<sup>91</sup> classified 13 patients who tested positive for COVID-19 on RT-PCR but with no symptoms into 4 categories: (1) patients in incubation period, (2) patients with signs of disease (eg chest CT findings) but no subjective symptoms, (3) patients with subclinical infection, and (4) asymptomatic chronic carriers. Out of 13 patients who did not have subjective symptoms, 3 patients fell under both category 1 and 2, 10 under category 2 only, 1 patient under category 3, and none under category 4 as all patients tested negative within 3 weeks.

#### **Incubation Period**

In total, 26 out of the 223 published papers included as of 25 March 2020, discussed the incubation period. The incubation period for SARS-Cov-2 has been reported to range from 0-24 days. One of the first estimations of mean incubation period published on January 29, 2020, based on a small sample size of 10 cases, was 5.2 days (95% CI 4.1-7.0)<sup>34</sup>. A subsequent report<sup>13</sup> suggested published on February 6, 2020 estimated that incubation times, based on 88 cases, are between 6.4 days (95% CI 5.6-7.7 days). A study by Guan et al<sup>16</sup> suggested that the median incubation period time of SARS-Cov-2 is 4.0 days (IQR 2.0-7.0), while a statistical analysis by Linton et al suggested the mean incubation period (including Wuhan residents) is 5.6 days (95% CI 5.0-6.3)<sup>92</sup>. Lauer et al suggested that the median incubation period is 5.1 days (95% CI 4.5-5.8) based on a pooled analysis, and that 97.5% of patients who eventually became symptomatic developed symptoms in 11.5 days (95% CI 8.2-15.6). It was estimated that 101 of every 10,000 cases will develop symptoms after 14 days of quarantine<sup>93</sup>. A recent preprint study broke down the incubation time of the 132 patients into two age groups: 110 patients in 15 to 64 and 22 patients in 65 to 86<sup>94</sup>. It was found that the median incubation time for the 15 to 64 age group was 7.00 (+1.10 - 0.9) days whereas it was significantly higher in the 65-86 age group, 10.9 (+2.7 - 2.0) days. In a peculiar case in Wuhan, China, a patient reported with an incubation period of 38 days which is the longest reported incubation period so far<sup>95</sup>

A study of 10 children<sup>96</sup> suggested a mean incubation period of 6.5 days (range 2-10). There is said to be no observable difference between the mean incubation period of SARS-CoV-2 and that of SARS and MERS<sup>97</sup>.

#### Symptoms Reported over the Course of Illness

As of 25 March 2020, 137 published studies reported symptoms reported by their patients. Across studies, fever, cough, expectoration, fatigue, and myalgia or arthralgia were the most common symptoms reported. In a large-scale study by Guan et al<sup>16</sup> involving 1099 patients, the percentage of confirmed cases with fever was highest (88.7%), followed by cough (67.8%), fatigue (38.1%) and expectoration (33.7%). The list of reported symptoms among adults can be found in Table 2 below.

There is preliminary evidence that anosmia, hyposmia, and dysgeusia are symptoms of SARS-CoV-2 infection<sup>98,99</sup>. Approximately two thirds of 100 patients in a university hospital in Germany were reported<sup>100</sup> to have anosmia, while this figure is approximately 30% in South Korea in mild cases<sup>101</sup>. A survey of 59 hospitalized COVID-19 patients in Italy found that 33.9% reported at least one olfactory or taste disorder (OTD), with 18.6% reporting both. OTDs were more commonly reported in females, and younger patients<sup>102</sup>. A study of 417 mild-to-moderate COVID-19 patients in Europe<sup>103</sup> found that 85.6% of patients had infection related olfactory dysfunction, of which 79.6% were anosmic and 20.4% were hyposmic. 12.6% of patient developed phantosmia, while 32.4% developed parosmia<sup>103</sup>. The majority of patients (65.4%) developed olfactory dysfunction after general or ENT symptoms, although 11.8% olfactory dysfunction before other symptoms. On the other hand, 88.0% of patients reported gustatory dysfunctions. Olfactory and gustatory dysfunctions were found to have a statistically significant association<sup>103</sup>. 44.0% of patients recovered their olfactory in the short-term, of which 72.6% recovered within 8 days following disease resolution<sup>103</sup>. In a preprint study, 78 patients investigated the COVID-19 status of patients with initial sudden olfactory anosmia (ISOA) using nasopharyngeal swabs for RT-PCR analysis<sup>103</sup>. In patients with anosmia duration ≤12 days, 42 patients (87.5%) had a positive viral load while in those with duration >12 days, 7 patients (23%) had positive viral load. Among the 46 patients whom psychophysical olfactory evaluation was performed, anosmia was observed in 52% (N=24), hyposmia in 24% (N=11) and normosmia in 24% (N=11) of patients. In a Korean study over 3,191 patients in Daegu, researchers reported that anosmia or ageusia were significantly more prevalent in females and younger patients (p =0.01, P < 0.001 respectively)<sup>104</sup>.

A study reported that neurological symptoms occurred in 36.4% of patients, including central nervous system manifestations (24.8%) such as dizziness (16.8%) and headache (13.1%), peripheral nervous system manifestations (8.9%) such as taste impairment (5.6%) and smell impairment (5.1%) as well as skeletal muscular injury (10.7%)<sup>105</sup>. Nervous system manifestations were more common in patients with severe infections<sup>105</sup>. In a case report, a COVID-19 positive patient was reported to have suffered interstitial pneumonia and seizures and showed demyelinating lesions on an MRI<sup>106</sup>

In a study in China, out of 38 patients with clinically confirmed COVID-19 (of which 73.7% tested positive based on RT-PCR from nasopharyngeal swab), 31.6% (95% CI 17.5-48.7) had ocular abnormalities consistent with conjunctivitis<sup>107</sup>. However only one of 30 patients had conjunctivitis in another study<sup>108</sup>, and only 9 out of 1099 patients had conjunctival congestion in the study by Guan et al<sup>16</sup>. In a meta-analysis study, ocular symptoms were reported to have relatively low prevalence in COVID-19 patients<sup>109</sup>, however, conjunctivitis and other ocular symptoms were associated with severe disease<sup>109,110</sup>.

Other manifestations may include cutaneous manifestations (20.4% of 88 patients), including erythematous rash, urticaria, and chickenpox-like vesicles<sup>111</sup> and chilblain like lesions with our

without Raynaud's phenomenon<sup>112,113</sup>. A French observational study also reported vascular lesions such as macules with "porcelain-like" appearance, livedo, non-necrotic purpura, necrotic purpura, and eruptive cherry angioma<sup>113</sup>. A 32-old-woman COVID-19 positive case in China was reported with a rare case of immune thrombocytopenic purpura nearly two weeks after developing COVID-19 symptoms<sup>114</sup>. Another study reported a digitate papulosquamous eruption in an elderly patient on the second day of hospitalization<sup>115</sup>. A new pattern of erythema multiforme-like eruption was reported in four women patients in the older age group (range: 58-77 years) with COVID-19 infection<sup>116</sup>. A 57-year-old woman presented with erythema nodosum on day 8 of hospital admission<sup>117</sup>. A review study speculated that clinical features such as viral exanthems have low specificity and thus poor diagnostic and prognostic value for COVID-19 disease, however, vasculopathy-related skin manifestations such as chilblain-like lesions, vasculitis among others may provide prognostic values by indicating severe COVID-19 disease. Early detection of cutaneous signs may help in predicting severe disease and help in improving patient outcomes<sup>118</sup>.

Among children, a study of 9 infants<sup>32</sup> under the age of 1 infected with SARS-CoV-2 found that the most common symptoms reported were fever (44%), and upper respiratory tract symptoms (22%). Fever (80%), cough (60%) and sore throat (40%) were the most common symptoms in another study of 10 children<sup>96</sup>, although fevers tend to resolve within a day, with peak temperatures ranging from 37.7-39.2°C. The predominance of fever and cough was noted in another study<sup>119</sup>. In a study of 171 children in Wuhan<sup>81</sup>, 48.5% of patients had a cough, 46.2% had pharyngeal erythema, and 41.5% had fever lasting a median of 3 days (range 1-16). On admission, tachycardia (42.1%) and tachypnoea (28.7%) were also noted<sup>81</sup>. Other reported symptoms among neonates and children include nausea<sup>120</sup>, vomiting<sup>81,120,121</sup>, diarrhoea<sup>81,120</sup>, abdominal pain or discomfort<sup>120</sup>, fatigue<sup>81</sup>, rhinorrhea<sup>81</sup>, nasal congestion<sup>81</sup>, and shortness of breath<sup>121</sup>. In a peculiar case, a 10-year old COVID-19 positive child with mild respiratory symptoms presented with gross haematuria which on analysis showed normally shaped red blood cells<sup>122</sup>. However, renal function and renal ultrasound were both normal in this case.

#### **Progression of Disease**

While only 43.8% of patients showed signs of fever upon hospital admission in the study by Guan et al<sup>16</sup>, 88.7% of the patients exhibited signs of fever during their hospital stay, with the median highest temperature going up to 38.3°C (IQR 37.8 -38.9). This is similar across patients of varying disease severities at admission (classification based on clinical practice guidelines by the American Thoracic Society and Infectious Disease Society of America)<sup>16</sup>.

Another study reported that a self-reported anosmia was strongly and independently associated with outpatient care and a milder clinical course<sup>123</sup>.

The highest recorded body temperatures of patients in the study by Huang et al<sup>3</sup> were in the range of 38.1-39.0°C (44%), 39.0°C and above (34%), and 37.3-38.0°C (20%). Most patients who required ICU care eventually had their highest body temperature recorded at 38.1-39.0°C (54%); the number of remaining patients with ICU care were split equally between the other two temperature ranges. Chen et al reported that the median duration of fever in patients with fever was 10 days (95% CI: 8-11) following the onset of symptoms<sup>124</sup>, and patients transferred to intensive care units have fevers for a longer period of time (31 vs 9 days).

Huang et al<sup>3</sup> noted that above half (55%) of patients eventually developed dyspnoea, and that the median duration from "illness onset to dyspnoea was 8.0 days (IQR: 5.0–13.0)". The time

from initial symptoms to the development of shortness of breath is similar in the report by Wu et  $al^{24}$ . Liu et  $al^{22}$  reported that this duration was 7 days (range 1.0 – 20.0).

Physician-diagnosed pneumonia was common (91.1%<sup>16</sup>, 100%<sup>3</sup>) among patients in a few studies in China. The median time from symptom onset to pneumonia development is said to be 3.0 days (IQR 1.0-6.0)<sup>16</sup>. In a rare case, a 47-year-old man presented with bowel necrosis in the setting of patent mesenteric vessels<sup>125</sup>.

The median duration of hospitalization is said to be 12.0 days (IQR 10.0-14.0)<sup>16</sup>.

In the study of 44,672 cases in China<sup>1</sup>, 80.9% were mild (with mild pneumonia or no pneumonia), 13.8% were severe (with "dyspnea, respiratory frequency  $\geq$ 30/minute, blood oxygen saturation  $\leq$ 93%, PaO<sub>2</sub>/FiO<sub>2</sub> ratio <300, and/or lung infiltrates >50% within 24–48 hours") and 4.7% were critical (with "respiratory failure, septic shock and/or multiple organ dysfunction/ failure"). In a study of 2143 suspected and confirmed children with COVID-19 in China, 50.9% of cases were mild, 38.8% were moderate, 5.2% were severe, and 0.6% were critical<sup>82</sup>. Polypnea was the most common symptom, followed by fever and cough in a case series of 8 children with severe COVID-19<sup>126</sup>. However, a three-week-old new-born showed a late-onset neonatal sepsis which was complicated by pneumothorax<sup>127</sup>. The patient was successfully managed in PICU with mechanical ventilation and appropriate antibiotic course. A brain MRI studying brain imaging features on 27 critically ill COVID-19 patients reported 4 patients presenting with leukoencephalopathy, one with microhaemorrhages and 6 with a combination of both<sup>128</sup>.

#### Recovery

The median duration from symptom onset to first negative RT-PCR results is said to be 9.5 days (IQR 6.0-11.0)<sup>129</sup>. Mo et al<sup>130</sup> found that 45.2% of patients showed clinical and radiological signs of remission within 10 days of hospitalization.

There have been case reports of patients who tested positive for SARS-CoV-2 after discharge from hospital in China<sup>131,132</sup>. While delayed viral clearance and viral reactivation have been suggested, further studies are required to verify these postulations<sup>131</sup>. A prospective cohort study of 131 patients discharged after COVID-19 disease reported readmission in 2.29% of cases because of fever or positive SARS-CoV-2 retest<sup>133</sup>. Majority of the cohort patients were self-quarantined and were in the course of recovery.

Hong Kong's Hospital Authority reported that some patients showed signs of 20-30% reduction in lung function, and abnormal lung scans after recovery from COVID-19. Nonetheless, the long-term effect on recovered patients, including the risk of pulmonary fibrosis, is uncertain<sup>134</sup>. Lei et al<sup>135</sup> found that 46.9% of 49 patients studied showed evidence of lung fibrosis in a follow-up CT after an average of 15.8 days after hospital discharge (range 7 – 25 days). Patients who developed fibrosis tended to be older (Mean age 45.4 vs 33.8 years), had a longer length of stay in hospital (19.1 vs 15.0 days), and had ICU admission (17.4% vs 3.8%)<sup>135</sup>. A preprint case study on 34 ICU patients reported complications rate (including acute liver injury, acute cardiac injury and acute kidney injury) were higher in invasive mechanical ventilation (IMV) cases than non-invasive ventilation (NIV) cases<sup>136</sup>. Lymphocytopenia, neutrophilia, and increase of IL-6 and IL-10 occurred in SARS-CoV-2 infected on admission day of patients in ICU, however, the progression of those was significantly different in IMV cases and NIV cases during hospitalization.

Table 2 Selected studies on signs and symptoms of COVID-19 ("-" indicates Not Reported)

Study	Chen N et al <sup>2</sup>	Liu K et al <sup>22</sup>	Wang D et al <sup>23</sup>	Wu J et al <sup>24</sup>	Huang C et al <sup>3</sup>	Guan W et al <sup>16</sup>
Time point	On admission	On admission	On admission	On admission	On admission	Throughout hospital stay
Study sample (n)	99	137	138	80	41	1099
Fever	-	-	-	-	-	88.7%
(on admission)	83%	81.8%	98.6%	78.8%	98%	43.8%
Cough	82%	48.2%	59.4% (dry)	63.8%	76%	67.8%
Fatigue	-	32.1%	69.6%	-	44%	38.1%
Myalgia/ Arthralgia	11%	-	34.8%	22.5%		14.9%
Sputum production/ Expectoration	-	4.4%	26.8%	-	28%	33.7%
Dypsnoea/ Shortness of breath	31%	19.0%	31.2%	37.5%	55%	18.7%
Nasal congestion/ Rhinorrhea	4%	-	-	6.1%	-	4.8%
Headache	8%	9.5%	6.5%	16.3%	8%	13.6%
Dizziness	-	-	9.4%	-		-
Sore throat/ Pharyngalgia	5%	-	17.4%	13.8%	-	13.9%
Chills	-	-	-	-	-	11.5%
Diarrhoea	2%	8.0%	10.1%	1.3%	3%	3.8%
Nausea	1%	-	10.1%	1.3%	-	5.0%
Vomiting		-	3.6%			
Haemoptysis	-	5.1%	-	-	5%	0.9%
Abdominal pain	-	-	2.2%	-	-	-
Anorexia	-	-	39.9%	-	-	-
Chest pain	2%	-	-	3.8%	-	-
Confusion	9%	-	-	-	-	-

Study	Chen N et al <sup>2</sup>	Liu K et al <sup>22</sup>	Wang D et al <sup>23</sup>	Wu J et al <sup>24</sup>	Huang C et al <sup>3</sup>	Guan W et al <sup>16</sup>
Conjunctival congestion	-	-	-	-	-	0.8%
Heart palpitations	-	7.3%	-	-	-	-
Throat congestion	-	-	-	-	-	1.8%
Tonsil Swelling	-	-	-	-	-	1.8%

## **Radiographic Findings**

123 out of 223 published studies included as of 25 March 2020, discussed chest X-ray and CT findings.

Zhang et al<sup>137</sup> and Chen et al<sup>138</sup> highlighted that chest CT scans show pulmonary lesions more clearly than chest X-rays<sup>137</sup>, while She et al<sup>139</sup> cited that elderly patients may show more "diffuse and extensive" chest CT imaging than younger patients, with more consolidated lung lesions in persons aged 50 and above<sup>27</sup>.

#### **Chest X-ray**

An early case report<sup>140</sup> suggested the presentation of bilateral lung opacities eight days after admission, which became more extensive in a chest radiograph taken three days later, especially in the lower lung. The patient died nine days later. In terms of disease progression, for a COVID-19 case in the US<sup>141</sup>, while no abnormalities were noted on Day 7, signs of pneumonia developed in the lower left lobe by Day 9 along with a fall in oxygen saturation to 90% and "basilar streaky opacities" were seen on Day 10. This coincided with rales on bilateral lungs during auscultation. Extension of opacities and "basilar predominant consolidation" were noted in a patient who died subsequently<sup>142</sup>. In Singapore<sup>9</sup>, 12 of the first 18 patients showed no radiographic signs on admission. Three subsequently developed "bilateral diffuse airspace opacities". 5 of 9 patients showed radiographic anomalies on baseline chest X-rays in Korea<sup>143</sup>. In a study of 64 patients, using three RT-PCR tests as a gold standard, baseline chest X-ray had a sensitivity of 69% (95% CI 56-80) compared to 91% (95% CI 83-97) for initial RT-PCR in patients with COVID-19 infection<sup>144</sup>. Chest X-ray severity scores peaked at 10-12 days<sup>144</sup>, and the common presentation was bilateral lower zone consolidation<sup>144</sup>. In Italy, a chest X-ray scoring system was studied for quantifying and monitoring disease progression. In a preliminary validation study on 100 hospitalized patients the CXR scoring of higher scores correlated with higher mortality<sup>145</sup>.

In children<sup>138</sup>, early stages of pneumonia may show up as "small patchy shadows and interstitial changes", in particular in the "lung periphery" on Chest X-rays, which develop into "bilateral multiple ground-glass opacity, infiltrating shadows, and pulmonary consolidation, with infrequent pleural effusion". Unilateral patchy infiltrates were noted in 40% of children with COVID-19 in a study<sup>96</sup>.

#### **Chest CT Scans**

Across major studies<sup>2,16,19,22,24,25,146-153</sup>, bilateral lung involvement occurred in the majority of cases (range: 36<sup>153</sup>-90%<sup>148</sup>), with all five lobes commonly affected (range 27<sup>149</sup>-36%<sup>153</sup>). Ground glass opacities (GGO) were common (range: 56<sup>16</sup>-90%<sup>148</sup>), and may be accompanied by consolidation (range: 13<sup>153</sup>-44%<sup>150</sup>). Ground glass opacities are predominantly distributed in the posterior<sup>27,143</sup> and peripheral regions<sup>18,27,143,146,150,152</sup>, and have been noted in the perihilar and subpleural regions bilaterally<sup>154</sup>. A summary of radiographic findings across selected studies is presented in Table 3. In one study of 21 symptomatic patients<sup>155</sup>, a rounded morphology was reported in 33% of cases. Linear opacities and a "crazy-paving pattern" were less common at 14% and 19% respectively, although linear opacities was found to be more common (61%) in another study<sup>153</sup>. No lung cavitation, pulmonary nodule, pleural effusion, lymphadenopathy, emphysema, and pulmonary fibrosis was detected in the study<sup>155</sup>. Nonetheless, a small cavity has been reported in a case report<sup>156</sup>, and bronchiectasis was reported in another<sup>157</sup>. Air bronchogram was noted in 62.5% of patients with early phase disease, and 90.9% of patients with advanced-phase disease<sup>152</sup>.

In terms of the prevalence of abnormal CT findings, a study of 121 symptomatic patients<sup>149</sup> found that 56% of patients reviewed early (0-2 days from symptom onset) did not have any abnormal CT findings. However, bilateral lung involvement with more extensive opacities become more common with time from initial presentation<sup>149</sup>, while consolidation became more common 5 or more days after the onset of symptoms<sup>27</sup>. Pleural effusion, pericardial effusion and lymphadenopathy were less common, occurring in 8%, 6% and 6% of patients respectively<sup>27</sup>, but may be more common in severe or critical cases<sup>18</sup>. An enlarged subsegmental vessel (>3mm diameter) was noted in 89% of 58 patients in Italy<sup>158</sup>. 2 out of 21 cases<sup>159</sup> recruited from Hong Kong and Shenzhen had normal chest CT scans, while 14-23% of patients in other studies in China had normal CT scans at baseline<sup>153,155</sup>.

Shi et al<sup>19</sup> reported that CT features of patients who are preclinical may involve unilateral ground glass opacification. In the first week from symptom onset, lesions may become bilateral and diffuse, with potential pleural effusion and lymphadenopathy. In the second week of symptom onset, consolidation patterns may be noted, although ground glass opacities are still predominant. In the third week, reticular patterns may also become predominant, with thickening of adjacent pleura. Based on findings of patients with mild COVID-19 pneumonia, Pan et al<sup>146</sup> defined four stages of lung involvement: early stage (0-4 days from onset of symptoms), progressive stage (5-8 days from onset), peak stage (9-13 days from onset) and absorption stage (14 days and above after onset). Wang et al<sup>160</sup> suggested that CT abnormalities rapidly progressed after symptom onset, and peaked after approximately 6-11 days, followed by sustained high levels. While ground glass opacities were predominant initially, mixed patterns became second most prevalent and peaked after 12-17 days of symptom onset<sup>160</sup>. Similarly, Han et al<sup>161</sup> noted rapid increase in mean CT score from first to third week, with a peak of 8.2 in the second week, as well as increasing presentation of consolidation and mixed patterns in the second week, which become less prevalent as compared to ground glass opacities again in the third and fourth week during recovery.

Shi et al<sup>19</sup> also observed 4 patterns of radiographic changes: (1) progression to peak before improvement (46%), (2) radiographic deterioration (32%), (3) radiographic improvement (14%), and (4) unchanged (9%). Chen et al found that upon repeat imaging after a median of 3 days, 65.7% patients showed progression or worsening, 22.6% showed improvement, and 12.1%

remained stable<sup>124</sup>. Lei et al found that 89.8% of patients followed a typical transition from early to advanced followed by dissipating stages<sup>135</sup>.

In a study of 41 patients<sup>3</sup>, on admission, ICU patients had "bilateral multiple lobular and subsegmental areas of consolidation" compared to non-ICU patients that typically had "bilateral ground-glass opacity and subsegmental areas of consolidation". For the latter, the consolidation resolved over time. Patients with severe or critical illness over the course of the disease were said to have higher CT scores, and more frequently present with linear opacities, consolidation, crazy-paving pattern, bronchial wall thickening, lymph node enlargement, and pleural effusion with right upper and middle lobe involvement on chest CTs at baseline<sup>162</sup>. Similar findings were reported in another study observing 93 cases and correlating CT characteristics with disease severity<sup>163</sup>. The study reported that multiple lobe involvement, presence of consolidation, crazy-paving sign, interlobular septal thickening and pleural thickening and effusion was more common in severe infections (p < 0.05) and have potential prognostic value<sup>164</sup> whereas ground-glass opacities, involvement in one-two lobes and the halo sign were more likely to be seen in mild cases.

16 of 20 children studied in China presented with chest CT abnormalities, with 10 children (50%) with bilateral pulmonary lesions<sup>119</sup>. Twelve children (60%) showed ground glass opacities, and 10 children (50%) showed consolidation with halo signs on chest CT<sup>119</sup>. In children<sup>138</sup> with severe infection, "multiple lobar lesions", ground glass opacities and segmental consolidation, may be present bilaterally. A study of 10 children found that chest X-rays showed largely normal or coarse lung markings without signs of pneumonia, although ground glass opacities were noted in the chest CT scans of 5 children<sup>165</sup>. In a study of 171 children under 16 years old with COVID-19 in Wuhan, 32.7% had ground glass opacities, 18.7% had local patchy shadowing, 12.3% had bilateral patchy shadowing and 1.2% had interstitial abnormalities<sup>81</sup>. A case series reported that children had milder CT findings than adults with smaller and mainly ground-glass nodules, with rare larger consolidations and white-outs <sup>166,167</sup>.

It was found that on chest CT, pure ground glass opacities were less commonly noted among pregnant women than non-pregnant women, while consolidation was more commonly noted among pregnant women<sup>168</sup>.

A study<sup>72</sup> found that out of 24 cases that did not present with symptoms before laboratory test confirmation, 50% had chest CT scans that showed patchy shadows or a ground-glass appearance while approximately 21% showed stripe shadows. The rest had normal radiographic findings. Similarly, a study found unremarkable CT findings in an asymptomatic COVID-19 patient<sup>169</sup>. 54% of the asymptomatic COVID-19 patients on the "Diamond Princess" cruise ship had lung opacities on chest CT, as compared to 80% among symptomatic patients<sup>170</sup>. On chest CT, ground glass appearance predominance was noted in 80% of asymptomatic cases, with milder CT severity score as compared to symptomatic cases<sup>170</sup>.

One report suggested that ground glass changes on chest CT scans may appear before positive RT-PCR test results<sup>139</sup>. In one study<sup>171</sup>, five out of 167 (3%) cases who were tested positive for COVID-19 after initial negative test results had initial chest CT scans with ground-glass opacities indicative of viral pneumonia, although seven patients who were tested positive (4%) did not have positive CT findings. Other studies noted the limited sensitivity of chest CT scans in the early stages of disease<sup>149</sup>, and lack of evidence of the "prognostic role of chest CT"<sup>153</sup>. One study found that 17 out of 149 (11.4%) symptomatic patients did not show radiographic abnormalities on chest CT on admission, of which 12 remained negative for chest

CT findings after 10 days. Another study found a relatively high proportion of patient with normal chest CT (30.8%), and suggested it is not suitable as an independent screening modality<sup>172</sup>. Nonetheless, one study recommended the use of chest CT for screening among patients with clinical findings suggestive of SARS-CoV-2 infection, but negative RT-PCR results<sup>147</sup>. Using RT-PCR as a gold standard for diagnosis, the sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, negative predictive value, and accuracy of chest CT were found to be 97% (95% CI 95-98), 25% (95% CI 22-30), 65% (95% CI 62-68), 83% (95% CI 76-89), and 68% (95% CI 65-70), respectively<sup>173</sup>. Another study in Rome, Italy, found the sensitivity, specificity and accuracy of CT to be 97% (95% CI 88-99), 56% (95% CI 45-66), and 72% (95% CI 64-78)<sup>158</sup>. Another study analysed CT findings over a period of 0-28 days since symptom onset and showed the radiological changes occurred rapidly in early disease and lasted for a long time<sup>174</sup>.

The presentation on chest X-rays and CT scans after full recovery from COVID-19, including the presence of residual fibrotic changes, is uncertain at present<sup>155</sup>. Nonetheless, it was noted that improvements in chest CT signs<sup>146</sup> began approximately 14 days after the onset of symptoms in patients with mild pneumonia.

On four <sup>18</sup>F-FDG PET/CT scans, similar ground-glass appearances (with potential lung consolidations), and high <sup>18</sup>F-FDG uptake were noted<sup>175</sup>. No disseminated lesions were noted<sup>175</sup>. It should be highlighted that these scans should not be performed routinely<sup>175</sup> for COVID-19 cases. A case report noted a diagnosis of COVID-19 in an initially asymptomatic patient after findings of "bilateral, diffuse and intense FDG uptake" on a <sup>18</sup>F-FDG PET/CT scan for malignancy, which correlated with ground-glass opacities seen on a low-dose CT scan<sup>176</sup>.

One study<sup>177</sup> found weak associations between clinical and CT findings at baseline. Nonetheless, significant positive associations were noted between CT features (eg sum score, lesion size, and air bronchogram) and CRP, ESR and LDH levels. High fevers above 38.1-39°C (4.06, 95% CI 0.39-7.73) were associated with a higher risk of a change in opacification size sum score, as compared to those with temperatures below 37.3°C, after adjustment for age and gender.

In a preprint study, an advanced 3-dimensional virtual histological imaging of a single gross sample of lung tissue was taken from a COVID-19 patient at the time of autopsy. The true extent of cytopathic viral changes and damage to the lung from COVID-19 were visualized<sup>178</sup>. Notably, there was activated mature megakaryocytes in the small vessels of the lung, pulmonary microangiopathy independent of diffuse alveolar damage and the pathologic extent of fibrin deposition and clot formation with inflammatory cell attachment, which was far more extensive than previously visualised in 2D. In a case of a 68-year-old COVID-19 positive male patient, non-smoker, with no history of lung disease, a lung scintigraphy showed signs of tracheobronchitis<sup>179</sup>.

A CT scan-based scoring system was developed for COVID-19 infections<sup>180</sup>. The scoring system has a sensitivity of 56.67% and a specificity of 95.35% for a score > 4, a sensitivity of 86.67% and a specificity of 67.44% for a score > 2, and a sensitivity of 100% and a specificity of 23.26% for a score > 0.

Table 3 Selected studies on common chest CT findings

Study	Chung M et al (2020) <sup>155</sup>	Bernheim A et al (2020) <sup>149</sup>	Song F et al (2020) <sup>27</sup>	Ng M-Y et al (2020) <sup>87</sup>	Xu X et al (2020) <sup>153</sup>		
Ν	21	121 (includes the 21 patients in Chung et al's study)	51	21	90		
Ground Glass Opacities	86%	44% (early), 88% (intermediate), 88% (late)	77%	86%	72%		
Consolidation		17% (early), 55% (intermediate), 60% (late)	55%	62%	13%		
Number of lobes	affected						
1	5%	15%	8%	15%	13%		
2	10%	12%	16%	12%	4%		
3	14%	9%	12%	9%	14%		
4	19%	15%	24%	15%	9%		
5	38%	27%	39%	27%	36%		
Bilateral lung disease	76%	60% (overall) 28% (early) 76% (intermediate) 88% (late)	86%	60%	59%		
Lobe involvemen	t						
Right upper lobe	67%	44%	84%	67%	53%		
Left upper lobe	67%	48%		76%	53%		
Right middle lobe	57%	41%	59%	48%	44%		
Right lower lobe	76%	65%	90%	76%	66%		
Left lower lobe	67%	63%		81%	61%		
Opacification distribution and pattern							
Rounded morphology	33%	54%	-	-	-		
Linear opacities	14%	7% (overall) 0% (early) 20% (late)	-	-	61%		

Crazy-paving pattern	19%	5% (overall) 0% (early) 20% (late)	-	-	12%
Peripheral distribution	33%	52% 22% (early) 72% (late)	86% (80% posterior)	86%	51%
Cavitation	0%	0%	-	-	0%
Reverse halo	-	2% (overall) 0% (early) 4% (late)	-	-	-
Reticulation	-	-	22%	-	-
Pleural Effusion	0%	1%	8%	0%	4%

#### Lung Ultrasound

In a study of 30 patients using bedside ultrasound, 90% of patients had interstitial pulmonary edema and pulmonary consolidations<sup>181</sup>. Taking chest CT as a reference standard, bedside lung ultrasound had high diagnostic efficacy for patients with severe disease (but not for mild-to-moderate disease)<sup>181</sup>. Another study described the use of Lung Ultrasound (LUS) in patient triage based on a typical artefact named "light beam"<sup>182</sup>. This sign was observed invariably in most (48 of the 49) patients with pneumonia from COVID-19 and corresponded to the early appearance of 'ground glass" alterations in CT scan. The sign was described as a broad, lucent, band-shaped, vertical artefact arising from a regular pleural line interspersed within areas of normal pattern or with separated B-lines. The artefact moved rapidly with sliding, creating an "on-off" effect as it appeared and disappeared from screen. This sign was never observed in 12 patients with negative COVID-19 swab test.

## **Laboratory Findings**

As of 25 March 2020, 113 published studies reported laboratory findings.

#### Haematology

#### Coagulation Function/Activated Partial Thromboplastin Time (APTT)/Prothrombin Time/Ddimer

In a study of 99 patients in China<sup>2</sup>, APTT was lower than normal in 16% of patients and higher than normal in 6% of patients. Prothrombin times were reduced in 30% of patients but increased in 5% of patients<sup>2</sup>. This was 2.7% and 11.4% respectively in another study<sup>155</sup>. Prothrombin times on admission<sup>3</sup> were longer in ICU patients (Median:12.2s, IQR 11.2-13.4) as compared to non-ICU patients (Median: 10.7s, IQR 9.8-12.1). A longer prothrombin time was also noted in those who died (Median: 15.5s, IQR 14.4-16.3) as compared to those who survived (Median: 13.6 s, IQR 13.0-14.3)<sup>15</sup>. Elevated D-dimer has been reported in some cases<sup>2,16,155,183</sup>, however other case reports have suggested normal D-dimer concentration levels<sup>157</sup>. D-dimer levels were higher in ICU patients as compared to non-ICU patients on admission<sup>3</sup>, and during hospital stay<sup>23</sup>, as well as among the non-survivors as compared to survivors<sup>15</sup>. Non-survivors also had

higher levels of fibrin degradation products<sup>15</sup>. It was suggested that coagulation parameters were associated with prognosis; disseminated intravascular coagulation (DIC) was noted in non-survivors, and rarely in survivors<sup>15</sup>.

In a study with 94 patients and 40 healthy controls<sup>184</sup>, antithrombin, and prothrombin time activity (PT-act) values are lower in COVID-19 patients as compared to healthy individuals, while D-dimer, fibrinogen, and fibrin/fibrinogen degradation product (FDP) levels were higher in patients as compared to controls. D-dimer and FDP levels are also said to be higher in patients who have more severe or critical conditions<sup>184</sup>. Nonetheless, no significant difference could be observed for APTT, prothrombin time-international normalized ratio (PT-INR), and PT between COVID-19 patients of different disease severities (ordinary, severe, critical).

#### **Complete Blood Count/Full Blood Count**

Chen et al<sup>2</sup> found that 51% of patients had lowered haemoglobin counts. While 36.2% had thrombocytopenia on admission in one study<sup>16</sup>, this was less common (12-14%) in others<sup>2,24</sup>, and no difference in platelet counts<sup>3</sup> was noted between patients requiring ICU and non-ICU care in another study. In another pre-print study of 271 COVID-19 patients, 11.8% experienced COVID-19 associated delayed phase thrombocytopenia, which was significantly associated with increased length of stay and ICU admission rate<sup>185</sup>.

Leukopenia (WBC <3.5-4 x10<sup>9</sup>/L)<sup>3,16,24,155,183,186</sup> has been reported in some COVID-19 patients. A case report in US reported leukopenia and lowered absolute neutrophil count on day 7 and 9 illness<sup>141</sup>. Another case report noted elevated neutrophil ratio (81.2%, normal range 40.0-75.0%)<sup>157</sup>, although others reported normal neutrophil counts<sup>183,186</sup>. A study of 99 patients reported that 9% of patients had lower leucocyte levels, and 24% had higher than normal leucocyte levels<sup>2</sup>, with 38% of patients having higher than normal neutrophil counts<sup>2</sup>, while another study suggested that most cases have normal white blood cell and neutrophil counts<sup>27</sup>. Elevated neutrophil ratios (OR 9.679, 95% CI 3.278-28.577) were associated with severe/critical disease in one study<sup>162</sup>. Although no statistically significant difference was found between white blood cell counts of ICU and non-ICU patients in Singapore<sup>21</sup>, peak absolute neutrophil counts were higher in ICU patients (Median 11.6 x 10<sup>9</sup>/L, IQR 9.3-13.8) as compared to non-ICU patients (Median 3.5 x 10<sup>9</sup>/L, IQR 2.6-4.4).

Studies noted that between 31%<sup>153</sup> and 75%<sup>148</sup> of patients had lowered lymphocyte counts. One study on peripheral blood smear consult for haemolysis observed atypical lymphocytes in 14/15 (93.33%)<sup>187</sup>. One study of 51 patients noted low lymphocyte count in 65% of patients, while the remaining 35% were normal<sup>27</sup>. A positive correlation was noted between eosinophil and lymphocyte counts<sup>148</sup>. A lower lymphocyte ratio was noted in a case report (12.8%)<sup>157</sup>, although another reported lymphocytosis<sup>186</sup>. Severe cases<sup>16</sup> had more prominent leukopenia and lymphopenia as compared to non-severe cases, and patients with acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) are more likely to have lymphopenia at admission compared to those without ARDS<sup>188</sup>. Similarly, another study<sup>162</sup> found that patients with severe or critical illness had lower lymphocyte counts (OR 12.000, 95% CI 3.213-44.819), lower lymphocyte ratios (OR 7.6000, 95% CI 2.481-23.284), and lower monocyte ratios (OR 18.000, 95% CI 2.035-159.153). Lymphopenia as indicated by a low lymphocyte percentage (LYM%) was said to be associated with disease progression and poor prognosis<sup>189</sup>. Proposed explanations for lymphocytopenia among severe cases include direct viral cytotoxic action<sup>2,20</sup>, and endothelial dysfunction due to existing co-morbidities (eg hypertension) among older ICU patients<sup>190</sup>. Nonetheless, a study did not find a statistically significant difference between rates of lymphocytopenia between survivors and non-survivors who were in critical condition<sup>20</sup>. In Singapore<sup>21</sup>, 39% of patients had lymphopenia during admission<sup>9</sup>, with a lower baseline absolute lymphocyte count in ICU patients (Median 0.5 x 10<sup>9</sup>/L, IQR 0.48-0.8) as compared to non-ICU patients (Median 1.3 x 10<sup>9</sup>/L, IQR 0.9-1.7). ICU patients also had a lower Nadir ALC count during the hospital stay. One study involving 10 participants suggested that an increase in lowered eosinophil counts back to normal was associated with recovery from SARS-CoV-2 infection<sup>191</sup>. A meta-analysis of 15 studies showed that severe patients had higher neutrophils and neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio with fewer lymphocytes than non-severe patients suggesting that monitoring these markers might assist in predicting the severity and prognosis of patients with COVID-19<sup>192</sup>. A study showed that data involving neutrophil count, lymphocyte count and platelet count (NLP score) as a clinically predictive tool can be used in improving risk stratification and management of COVID-19 patients<sup>193</sup>. On monitoring the Concordance index (C-index), calibration curve, decision curve and clinical impact curve concurrently with the NLP score showed that the nomogram can be used to predict prognosis in COVID-19 patients accurately.

A study noted that NKG2A expression in COVID-19 patients may be associated with early stage functional exhaustion of cytotoxic lymphocytes, resulting in disease progression<sup>194</sup>.

T cell counts are said to be lowered in COVID-19 patients<sup>195</sup>, in particular the elderly and those in ICU. Another study found that T cells, in particular helper and suppressor T cells were reduced significantly, especially in severe cases of SARS-CoV-2 infection<sup>196</sup>. One study noted that multi-functional CD4+ T cells are significantly reduced in the severe group<sup>197</sup>. A study<sup>198</sup> found that lower levels of lymphocytes, CD4+ T-cells, CD8+ T cells, B cells and NK cells were noted in severe cases as compared to milder cases, with a decrease in CD8+ T cells and B cells, as well as an increase in CD4+/CD8+ ratio, associated with poor recovery and clinical efficacy<sup>198</sup>. A study with similar findings suggested that counts of CD4+T and CD8+T cells could be used as diagnostic markers and predictors of COVID-19 disease severity<sup>199</sup>.

Leukoerythroblastic reaction was noted in one case report<sup>200</sup>.

Among children with COVID-19, white blood cell count is said to be either normal or lowered, with reduced lymphocyte counts, and increasing lymphocytopenia for severe conditions<sup>138</sup>. One study found elevated lymphocyte counts and CRP levels in a 10-month-old boy with co-infection with Influenza A<sup>201</sup>.

Lymphopenia was noted in 4 out of 24 COVID-19 patients who were asymptomatic<sup>72</sup>, and in 5 out of 9 pregnant patients<sup>202</sup>. Leukocytosis, elevated neutrophil ratio, and lymphopenia were said to be more common among pregnant patients than non-pregnant adults in a study<sup>168</sup>.

# C-reactive protein (CRP)/Erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR)/IL-6/Procalcitonin/Serum ferritin/Presepsin

Elevated C-reactive protein was said to be an important presentation in COVID-19<sup>137</sup>. In Singapore, 38% of patients had elevated CRP upon admission<sup>9</sup>. Elevated CRP levels<sup>24,124,153,183,186</sup> were reported in multiple case reports of COVID-19, particularly among older patients<sup>203</sup>. Up to 55%<sup>155</sup>-99%<sup>52</sup> of cases have been reported to have elevated CRP levels. CRP levels may be normal or increased in children<sup>138</sup>. 75% of pregnant patients<sup>202</sup> had elevated CRP levels. In a multivariate analysis<sup>204</sup>, higher CRP levels (>8.2 mg/L) were associated with disease progression (OR 10.530, 95% CI 1.224-34.701), while in another study<sup>162</sup>, increased CRP levels were associated with greater disease severity (OR 13.204, 95% CI 2.847-61.237). Another study reported that soluble cluster of differentiation (CD) 14 subtype (sCD14-ST) also termed as

presepsin (PSP) helps in modulating immune responses and found to be useful for early diagnosis, prognosis and risk stratification prediction<sup>205</sup>.

Higher erythrocyte sedimentation rates<sup>2,124,157,183,186</sup> (>15-20 mm/h) have also been reported in case reports, and in up to 85.5%<sup>124</sup> of cases with COVID-19. One study noted elevated ESR levels in all patients in the early phase<sup>206</sup>. Lymphokine IL-6 was increased (27.47 pg/ml, 413.6pg/ml) in two case reports<sup>157</sup>, while this was reported in 52% of cases in another study<sup>2</sup>. One study suggested that multiorgan and tissue damage is caused by SARS-Cov-2 itself, rather than due to a "cytokine storm"<sup>207</sup>.

Most patients<sup>2,3,24</sup> have normal procalcitonin levels at admission. This is similar for children<sup>138</sup>, although another study noted common procalcitonin elevation in children<sup>119</sup>. Nonetheless, one study found that elevated procalcitonin levels were associated with greater disease severity<sup>162</sup> (OR 7.989, 95% CI 2.426-26.305). One case report noted elevated serum amyloid A protein levels<sup>186</sup> although this has not been verified in larger-scale studies. In one study<sup>2</sup>, most patients (63%) had higher than normal serum ferritin levels.

#### Cytokines

Prior studies showed that elevated serum proinflammatory cytokines was "associated with pulmonary inflammation and extensive lung damage" in patients with SARS-CoV and MERS-CoV infection<sup>3</sup>. Similarly, for SARS-CoV-2, baseline plasma IL1-B, IL1RA, IL7, IL8, IL9, IL10, basic FGF, GCSF, GMCSF, IFNγ, IP10, MCP1, MIP1A, MIP1B, PDGF, TNF-α, and VEGF concentrations were higher in both ICU patients and non-ICU patients than in healthy adults. Among COVID-19 patients, plasma concentrations of IL2, IL7, IL10, GCSF, IP10, MCP1, MIP1A, and TNFa were also higher in ICU patients than non-ICU patients. This suggests that disease severity is associated with a cytokine storm<sup>3</sup>. Another study supported the finding of higher levels of "pro-inflammatory cytokines (TNF-α, IL-1 and IL-6), and chemokines (IL-8)" among patients with severe disease as compared to mild disease<sup>196,208</sup>. It was noted that unlike SARS-CoV infection, secretion of T-helper-2 cytokines was noted in SARS-CoV-2 infection, although more studies should be carried out to determine the pathogenesis of COVID-19<sup>3</sup>. One study of the dynamic immune response following SARS-CoV-2 infection found that the expression of most inflammatory genes, except those on the IL1 pathway, "peaked after respiratory function nadir" in one severe case<sup>209</sup>. This appears to deviate from the "cytokine storm hypothesis". Another finding of attenuated cytokine response in patients with mild infection suggests a delay in T-cell immunity against SARS-CoV-2, which may prolong infection and potentially increase virus spread in the community<sup>209</sup>.

Mehta suggests that "a cytokine profile resembling secondary haemophagocytic lymphohistiocytosis (sHLH) is associated with COVID-19 disease severity"<sup>210</sup>.

In an ex-vivo study, SARS-CoV-2 infection upregulated the expression of 5 out of 13 proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines, as compared to 11 by SARS-CoV infection, although the SARS-CoV-2 replicated more efficiently in human lung tissue<sup>211</sup>.

On admission, 7 out of 10 children in a study showed elevated IL-17F (of which, 5 had elevation of IL-22 as well), while 5 showed elevation of IL-6<sup>165</sup>.

#### **Liver Function**

Alkaline Phosphatase (ALP)/Alanine aminotransferase (ALT)/Aspartate aminotransferase (AST)/Lactate Dehydrogenase/Albumin/Total bilirubin/Gamma-Glutamyl Transpeptidase

Alterations in liver function were noted on day 9 from the onset of symptoms in the first case of COVID-19 in USA<sup>141</sup>. Alanine aminotransferase levels on admission were higher in ICU patients (Median: 49.0 U/L, IQR 29.0-115.0) as compared to non-ICU patients (Median: 27.0 U/L, IQR 19.5-40.0)<sup>3</sup>. Aspartate aminotransferase levels were also elevated in 37% of patients in the study by Huang et al<sup>3</sup>, including 62% of patients who were admitted to ICU patients. In another study<sup>2</sup>, 35% and 28% of patients had higher than normal levels of aspartate and alanine aminotransferase respectively. The elevations were also documented in other case reports and studies<sup>16,24,155,186</sup>. Increased lactate dehydrogenase levels were reported in 21%<sup>24</sup> of patients , in particular older patients<sup>2,203</sup>. Another study reported that lactose dehydrogenase was associated with two-fold higher risk of severe infection (OR: 2.21; 95%CI, 1.64-2.99)<sup>212</sup>. Among pregnant patients<sup>202</sup>, 33% reported elevated ALT/AST levels. In Singapore<sup>21</sup>, baseline lactate dehydrogenase counts (Median 1684 U/L, IQR 1053-2051) were higher in ICU patients, as compared to non-ICU patients (Median 401 U/L, IQR 352-513). Similarly<sup>21</sup>, peak lactate dehydrogenase counts during hospitalisation were higher (Median 1081 U/L, IQR 752-1460 vs Median 451 U/L, IQR 367-629). In a longitudinal study, liver function tests were monitored as markers of liver injury and their association with mortality<sup>213</sup>. The study reported that in severe patients, AST elevated first, followed by ALT, whereas ALP increased modestly and mostly remained in the normal range. AST abnormality was significantly associated with mortality risk compared to other liver profile indicators. A meta-analysis of 20 studies reported that deranged liver profile markers were associated with a significant increase of severe COVID-19 infection<sup>214</sup>.

98% of patients were reported to have hypoalbuminemia<sup>2</sup>, although this was much lower (6%) in another study<sup>155</sup>. Lower albumin levels<sup>204</sup> (< 40g/L) are said to be associated with disease progression (OR 7.353, 95% CI 1.098-50.000). Total bilirubin levels were higher than normal in 1-18% of patients<sup>2,24,155</sup>. A study also found elevated Gamma-glutamyl Transpeptidase (GGT) in 5 of the 14 patient cohort<sup>215</sup>.

#### **Kidney Function**

3 studies discussed kidney function in detail<sup>2,216,217</sup>.

Acute renal impairment is said to be a strong indicator of subsequent mortality from SARS<sup>218</sup>. Similarly, kidney impairment was found to be associated with mortality in patients with COVID-19<sup>217</sup>.

The three proposed aetiologies<sup>217</sup> of kidney impairment in patients with COVID-19 include (1) direct cytopathic effect of SARS-CoV-2 on renal cells, following viral entry through highly expressed ACE2 in the kidney, (2) renal damage by immune complexes triggered by viral antigens, and (3) renal damage caused by "hypoxia, shock or rhabdomyolysis" as a result of viral induced cytokines and mediators. Li et al<sup>15</sup> suggested close monitoring of renal functions in patients with severe disease, and recommended early interventions including the use of continuous renal replacement therapy.

#### Proteinuria/Haematuria

In one study<sup>15</sup>, 32 out of 51 (63%) of patients presented with proteinuria. Out of this group, based on semiquantitative analysis, approximately 75% had 1+ protein, 16% had 2+ protein, and 9% had 3+ protein. Most cases (64%) had signs of proteinuria upon admission, although no information was given on the severity of disease among study participants at admission.

Cheng et al<sup>217</sup> noted that 43.9% of patients had proteinuria, with 26.7% exhibiting haematuria. After adjustment for age, gender, disease severity, comorbidity and leukocyte count, proteinuria 2+ (HR 4.84, 95% CI 2.00-11.70), haematuria 1+ (HR 2.99, 95% CI 1.39-6.42), and haematuria  $2+\sim3+$  (HR 5.56, 95% CI 2.58-12.01) were found to be associated with mortality<sup>217</sup> and could predict severe or critical COVID-19<sup>219</sup>.

#### Blood urea nitrogen (BUN)

While only 2-11% of patients were found to have elevated BUN levels in various studies<sup>2,24,155</sup>, 27% of patients showed elevated BUN levels in the study by Li Zhen et al<sup>15</sup>. Among this group, values before normalization ranged from 1.7-12.8. In addition, Li found that among 43% of patients who had BUN data over time, an increase in BUN levels occurred between 2 to 10 days (median: 4 days) after hospital admission. After adjusting for age, gender, disease severity, comorbidity and leukocyte count, higher baseline BUN (HR 3.97, 95% CI 2.57-6.14) was found to be associated with mortality<sup>217</sup>. Patients in ICU have statistically higher BUN levels than patients who are not admitted to ICU<sup>23</sup>.

#### Plasma/Serum Creatinine (Cre)

19% of patients showed elevated Cre levels in the study by Li Zhen et al<sup>15</sup>. Among this group, values before normalization ranged from 40-115  $\mu$ mol/L. In addition, Li found that an increase in Cre levels occurred between 1 to 10 days (median: 5 days) after hospital admission. In contrast, Cheng et al<sup>217</sup> found that peak Cre was 91±67  $\mu$ mol/L. Another study<sup>2</sup> found that 21% of patients had lower than normal Cre levels, and only 3% of patients had elevated Cre levels. This is echoed in studies by Guan et al<sup>16</sup> and Wu et al<sup>24</sup> which found that only a small percentage (~2.%) of patients had elevated Cre.

It was noted that Cre levels were high (209-286 µmol/L) in all three patients who died<sup>15</sup>. High Cre levels may predict mortality in patients infected with coronavirus<sup>15</sup>. After adjustment for age, gender, disease severity, comorbidity and leukocyte count, higher baseline Cre at admission (HR 2.10, 95% CI 1.36-3.26), AKI stage 2 (HR 3.51, 95% CI 1.49-8.26), and AKI stage 3 (HR 4.38, 95% CI 2.31-8.31) were found to be associated with mortality<sup>217</sup>.

Wang et al reported that although 10.8% of patients without chronic kidney disease showed mild increase of blood urea nitrogen or serum creatinine, and 7.2% of patients showed trace or 1+ albuminuria, the patients "did not meet the diagnostic criteria of AKI"<sup>220</sup>.

#### Others/Cardiology/Endocrinology/Musculoskeletal

#### Hypersensitive troponin I/Creatine kinase/Myoglobin

Hypersensitive troponin I levels were elevated in 12% of patients, who had a diagnosis of virusassociated cardiac injury<sup>3</sup>, which potentially suggests viral-related myocardial injury. Results of a meta-analysis<sup>221</sup> showed that cardiac troponin I (cTnl) levels were significantly elevated in patients with severe SARS-CoV-2 infection as compared to those without (standardized mean difference, 25.6 ng/L, 95% CI 6.8–44.5). Patients with elevated cardiac troponin T levels (TnT) and underlying cardiovascular disease were found to have higher mortality rates (69.4%), as compared to those with elevated TnT levels without CVD (37.5%), those with normal TnT levels with CVD (13.3%), and those with normal TnT levels and no underlying CVD (7.5%)<sup>222</sup>. Similar finding was reported in another study where initial cardiac Troponin I (cTnl), senior age, comorbidities, and elevated C-reactive protein (CRP) were predictors of myocardial injury which was highly associated with in-hospital death<sup>223</sup>. Elevated creatine kinase (>200 U/L) was noted in a case in the USA on days 7 and 9 of illness<sup>141</sup>, and in approximately 8<sup>155</sup>-20<sup>24</sup>% of patients based on studies in China, although both elevated and depressed creatine kinase levels were reported among a group of 99 patients<sup>2</sup>. Myoglobin levels were elevated in 15% of patients in one study<sup>2</sup>.

#### Viral Load and Seroconversion

SARS-CoV-2 viral loads in two patients, were said to be high early after the onset of symptoms<sup>224</sup>

Among the first 18 COVID-19 patients in Singapore<sup>9</sup>, viral shedding from the nasopharynx is said to last a median of 12 days (range 1-24 days), with viral shedding for 7 or more days in 83% of patients. Viral loads are said to peak within the initial days of the presentation symptoms<sup>9</sup>, around 5-6 days after symptom onset<sup>225</sup>, and decline thereafter<sup>9</sup>. Another study noted that salivary viral load peaked in the first week after symptom onset and declined with time thereafter (-0.15, 95% CI -0.19 to -0.11). It was noted that older age was associated with a higher viral load (Spearman's  $\rho=0.48$ , 95% CI 0.074-0.75; p=0.020)<sup>226</sup>. Based on testing using RT-PCR cycle threshold (Ct) and droplet digital PCR (ddPCR), viral loads are said to be higher in the "early and progressive stages" (46800 ± 17272) as compared to the recovery stage (1252 ± 1027)<sup>227</sup>. A recent preprint study has provided evidence that the SARS-CoV-2 acquired mutations capable of changing its pathogenicity substantially due to the variation in cytopathic effects and viral load between viral isolates<sup>228</sup>.

Severe cases have higher viral loads (60 times the mean for mild cases), and longer virus shedding periods (100% positive tests at 10 day post-onset vs 10% remaining positive at 10 day post-onset for mild cases)<sup>229</sup>. The time to PCR conversion is longer in patients admitted in ICU compared to the others<sup>124</sup>. Amongst survivors, the median duration of viral shedding was 20·0 days (IQR 17·0–24·0); viral shedding lasted till death in non-survivors<sup>230</sup>. In another study of 161 patients, the median duration from exposure to source of infection and last positive test for COVID-19 was 20 days (IQR 16- 26 days) among patients with non-severe disease, and 27 days (IQR 19 –33 days) in patients with severe disease<sup>231</sup>.

The longest observed duration of viral shedding in survivors was 37 days<sup>230</sup>. In a case series, three patterns were noted: (1) high nasopharyngeal titres of virus within 24 hours of illness onset in paucisymptomatic individuals (2) decreasing viral loads from the nasopharynx in spite of worsening of respiratory conditions after approximately 10 days following mild symptoms, and (3) persistently high viral load in the upper respiratory tract in a patient with critical illness<sup>232</sup>. Patients with prolonged viral shedding were reported to be older (p = 0.011) and have comorbidities such as diabetes (p = 0.016) and hypertension (p = 0.006)<sup>233</sup>.

Among 16 patients with severe disease, 69% showed prolonged viral shedding (>28 days after symptom onset) from the lower respiratory tract<sup>234</sup>. Lower respiratory tract specimens (sputum/ endotracheal aspirate) also had a higher viral RNA load as compared to specimens taken from nasal and throat swabs<sup>234</sup>.

A study found that the median duration of viral shedding was 17 days (IQR 13-22) from illness onset<sup>235</sup>. The male gender (OR 3.24, 95% CI 1.31-8.02), delayed hospital admission of more than 5 days following illness onset (OR 1.30, 95% CI 1.10-1.54), and invasive mechanical ventilation (OR 9,88, 95% CI 1.11-88.02) were risk factors for prolonged SARS-CoV-2 RNA shedding ( $\geq$ 15 days)<sup>235</sup>. Patients with longer viral shedding took a longer time for their body

temperatures to return to normal, and had slower recovery of focal absorption on radiographs<sup>235</sup>. A study reported that using a system of RT-PCR, patients with cycle threshold (CT) values equal or above 34 are not contagious and can be de-isolated<sup>236</sup>.

Male sex (odds ratio [OR], 3.24 [95% CI, 1.31–8.02]), delayed hospital admission (OR, 1.30 [95% CI, 1.10–1.54]), and invasive mechanical ventilation (OR, 9.88 [95% CI, 1.11–88.02]) were independent risk factors for prolonged SARS-CoV-2 RNA shedding. Another preprint study discovered the high expression of ACE2 in testes, and proposed the possibility of testicular viral reservoirs resulting in viral persistence in males<sup>237</sup>. A study comparing viral loads at different stage of disease progression found that the virus persisted longer in male patients and patients aged above 60 years<sup>238</sup>. The study also found that the viral load peaks in the third week in respiratory tissue of patients with severe disease compared to second week peaks in patients with mild disease.

Viral loads are higher in sputum as compared to throat swab samples<sup>225,227</sup>. There are reports of lower but positive viral loads in stool samples among some patients<sup>225</sup>. Live virus may be present in stools of COVID-19 patients who do not have diarrhoea<sup>239</sup>. One study did not find an association between disease severity and fecal sample viral RNA positivity<sup>240</sup>. In another study, viral shedding was detected in 50% of patients with stool samples (regardless of presence of diarrhoea) and one out of 12 patients with whole blood samples, but not in urine<sup>9</sup>. A cohort study in China found the viral persistence significantly longer in stool samples than in the respiratory and serum samples<sup>238</sup>. A study in Singapore found no detectable virus from tear samples taken between day 3 and 20 of symptom onset, suggesting a low risk of ocular transmission<sup>241</sup>. Nonetheless, a study detected SARS-CoV-2 from conjunctival swabs from 2 patients with ocular manifestations suggestive of conjunctivitis<sup>107</sup>, and another yielded positive RT-PCR results from tear and conjunctival secretions from a patient with conjunctivitis<sup>108</sup>. In another study on 43 patients with severe COVID-19, RT-PCR confirmed 3 tear samples positive for viral RNA of which only one patient showed conjunctivitis<sup>242</sup>. A study of 10 female postmenopausal patients with severe COVID-19 disease in China did not find the presence of SARS-CoV-2 virus in vaginal fluids obtained from vaginal swab samples taken 17-40 days after onset of infection<sup>243</sup>. In a cohort study, 38 male patient's semen was collected for SARS-CoV-2 testing<sup>244</sup>. Result was positive in 4/15 (26.7%) patients in an acute stage of infection and in 2/23 (8.7%) cases who were recovering. Further studies are recommended for acquiring detailed information about virus shedding, survival time and viral load in semen.

Asymptomatic patients have returned negative PCR results on average 2 days after admission<sup>124</sup>. The viral load of an asymptomatic patient was said to be similar to that of other symptomatic patients in a study<sup>224</sup>. In a study in a nursing facility, there was said to be no statistically significant difference in the range of RT-PCR testing cycle threshold (Ct) values among COVID-19 patients with typical symptoms (fever, cough and shortness of breath) (18.6-29.2), patients with atypical symptoms (24.3-26.3), pre-symptomatic patients (15.3-37.9) and asymptomatic patients (21.9-31.0)<sup>85</sup>. Low Ct values are representative of large amounts of viral RNA<sup>\*85</sup>.

Recent reports have suggested that viral loads may still be detectable in a small number of patients who have been previously discharged based on 2 consecutive negative RT-PCR results and chest CT findings<sup>245</sup>. The Korea Centers for Disease Control and Prevention reported that 51 people tested positive again for COVID-19 after discharge, likely due to viral reactivation, although further studies are required<sup>246</sup>. There are reports that between 3-10%<sup>247</sup>,

and approximately 14% of patients<sup>248</sup> test positive after recovery in China. In another case, viral RNA reappeared and persisted in throat swabs and in extremely high titers in saliva 40 days after showing negative on throat swabs<sup>249</sup>. A study in Shenzhen found that 14.5% of 172 discharged patients (after achieving two consecutive negative RT-PCR test results 24 hours apart) in Shenzhen tested positive again without symptom aggravation after 2-13 days<sup>250</sup>. In another study of 66 patients who had "recovered" based on negative RT-PCR test results from oropharyngeal swabs, while the majority of patients had negative stool specimens in a median of 11.0 days (IQR 9.0-16.0 days) from symptom onset, 16.7% were found to still have positive stool samples<sup>177</sup>. One study of 69 patients found that 4 patients had anal swabs that tested positive for SARS-CoV-2 infection after recovery, suggesting the risk for fecal-oral transmission<sup>251</sup>. In another case report, a patient initially found to be SARS-CoV-2 negative on plasma testing was positive for the virus from lung biopsy samples<sup>252</sup>. This suggests that despite disappearance from other clinical samples, SARS-CoV-2 virus may still persist in lungs. One limitation of this study as stated by authors is the inability to culture the lung biopsy sample and the resultant uncertainty on correlating positive lung sample with infectiousness.

Viral RNA in the nasopharynx and throat could be detected among children within 4 to 48 hours of symptom development<sup>96</sup>. Viral clearance took between 9-12 days in an analysis for three children<sup>121</sup>, and the mean time was noted to be 12 days in another study<sup>96</sup>. Similar to adults, there was a detectable viral load in stool samples of an asymptomatic infant<sup>83</sup>, but not in urine samples<sup>83</sup>. This applied to children of other ages as well<sup>96</sup>; 5 out of 6 fecal samples tested positive, although all urine and serum samples tested negative. Another preprint study suggested that younger patients, less than 14 years old, with milder symptoms seem to be redetectable positive (RP) for the virus after discharge<sup>253</sup>. They showed no obvious clinical symptoms and disease progression upon re-admission. Retrospectively, the RP patients displayed fewer symptoms, more sustained remission of CT imaging and earlier RNA negative-conversion but similar plasma antibody levels during their hospitalization period as compared to those non-RP patients. In a retrospective study on 94 patients at Shenzhen hospital, mRNA clearance ratio was significantly correlated with the decline of serum creatine kinase (CK) and LDH levels<sup>254</sup>.

Eight out of 10 pediatric patients in a study had persistent positive RT-PCR results from rectal swabs, even after they had negative RT-PCR results<sup>165</sup>. In another report, cases with negative pharyngeal or bronchoalveolar swabs tested positive for salivary samples<sup>255</sup>. In another study, sputum specimens were tested instead of nasopharyngeal and oropharyngeal swabs where sputum viral load was positively correlated with disease severity and risk progression<sup>256</sup>.

Seropositivity was noted after 14 days or more in serum samples, for anti-NP IgG (94%), anti-NP IgM (88%) anti-RBD IgG (100%), anti-RBD IgM (94%)<sup>226</sup>.In a study of 173 patients, less than 40% of patients had antibodies from 1 week of symptom onset, although the percentage of patients with antibodies increased to 100.0% (Ab), 94.3% (IgM) and 79.8% (IgG) 15 days from symptom onset<sup>257</sup>. The median time to Ab, IgM and IgG seroconversion was 11, 12 and 14 days respectively<sup>257</sup>. In a longitudinal study on 338 COVID-19 patients, IgG and IgG antibody levels were assessed specifically<sup>29</sup>. The study reported that severe and critical cases had higher IgM levels and lower IgG levels than mild cases. IgM levels were also slightly higher in deceased patients than recovered patients whereas IgG levels did not differ significantly.

Cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) was tested negative for viral particles in two patients with neurological symptoms and stroke<sup>258</sup>. In another study, a COVID-19 infected patient was operated for

laparoscopic appendicectomy and his peritoneal fluid and washings tested negative for COVID-19 on PCR.<sup>259</sup>

### **Complications/Morbidity**

As of 25 March 2020, 48 published papers reported on the complications in patients with COVID-19. The most common complications reported by Huang et al<sup>3</sup> are Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome (ARDS) (29%), RNAemia (15%), acute cardiac injury (12%), secondary infection (10%), septic shock (7%) and acute kidney injury (7%). Chen et al<sup>2</sup> noted that up to 33% of patients had complications, with 17% of patients developing ARDS, and a lower percentage of patients with septic shock (4%) and acute renal injury (3%). These percentages are much lower in another study of 1099 patients by Guan et al<sup>16</sup>– 3.4% with ARDS, 1.1% with septic shock and 0.5% with acute kidney injury. Acute kidney injury was noted in 5.1% of patients in a prospective cohort study of 701 patients<sup>217</sup>. Other less commonly reported complications include hepatic insufficiency<sup>260</sup>, liver dysfunction<sup>20</sup>, acute pancreatitis<sup>261</sup>, renal insufficiency<sup>260</sup>, cardiac injury<sup>20</sup>, cardiac failure<sup>260</sup>, disseminated intravascular coagulation<sup>16</sup>, rhabdomyolysis<sup>16</sup>, hyperglycemia<sup>20</sup>, subcutaneous emphysema<sup>262</sup> and pneumothorax<sup>20</sup>. 33.3% of critically ill patients in a study in US had cardiomyopathy<sup>263</sup>. It was noted in a case series that hypercapnia was common in patients with ARDS on low-tidal volume ventilation<sup>264</sup>. A study in China found that males were more likely to have liver injury and such patients with liver injury had higher WBC counts, neutrophils, CRP, CT score and had a longer length of stay<sup>265</sup>. The study reported that extent of pulmonary lesions on CT was a predictor of liver function damage.

Pulmonary embolism has been reported to occur in patients with COVID-19 without notable risk factors for venous thromboembolism (VTE) <sup>266,267</sup>. In a study, 22.2% of ICU patients suffering from interstitial pneumonia had venous thrombotic events<sup>268</sup>. Pulmonary embolism may be associated with respiratory deterioration<sup>269</sup>, elevated serum D-dimer levels<sup>266,269,270</sup>, and hemoptysis<sup>266</sup>. There are also case reports of clinically significant coagulopathy and antiphospholipid antibodies (anticardiolipin IgA, anti- β2-glycoprotein I IgA and IgG) in COVID-19 patients in ICU<sup>271</sup>. While there has been a report of acute necrotizing hemorrhagic encephalopathy in a patient with COVID-19, this has not been proven to be a result of the infection<sup>272</sup>. In a retrospective study in French ICUs, proportion of VTE was higher in patients with prophylactic anticoagulation therapy (doses of low molecular weight heparin (LMWH)) compared to patients on therapeutic anticoagulation (either LMWH, or unfractioned heparin with anti-Xa monitoring) (100% vs 56%)<sup>273</sup>. A study compared thrombotic risk based on ethnicity where they found that Chinese had a 3-4-fold lower risk compared to Caucasians and a significantly higher risk in African-Americans<sup>274</sup>. A study on 388 patients requiring ICU from Milan, Italy reported a high number of arterial, and in particular, VTE diagnosed within 24 hours admission suggesting there is an urgent need to improve on VTE diagnostic strategies and investigate further the efficacy and safely of thromboprophylaxis in COVID-19 patients<sup>275</sup>. A study found heparin resistance in critically ill patients<sup>276</sup>. Such patients had sub-optimal peak anti-Xa following therapeutic Low molecular weight Heparin (LMWH). In another study, two patients were diagnosed with acute thrombotic occlusion of infra-renal aorta extending into common iliac artery and intraluminal thrombus in descending thoracic aorta with embolic occlusion of superior mesenteric artery respectively<sup>277</sup>. A case series reported two patients in older age group (70 and 81-years) with pathological sinus node dysfunction most likely caused by cardiac inflammation or SARS-CoV-2 infiltration and suggested monitoring of patients for bradyarrhythmia and haemodynamic instability<sup>278</sup>. In another case series of five patients, 4/5

COVID-19 patients presented with profound haemodynamic instability, cardiac arrest and acute right ventricular failure most likely caused by acute pulmonary thromboembolism though this was not definitively confirmed in all cases<sup>279</sup>. In Iran, a COVID-19 female patient suffering from severe dyspnea reportedly had a large saddle pulmonary embolism in the main pulmonary artery (MPA), right pulmonary artery (RPA) and left pulmonary artery (LPA) on a computed tomography angiography (CTA)<sup>280</sup>. In another case report, a 64-year-old-male with no risk factors for cardiovascular disease presented with ST-elevation myocardial infarction (STEMI). A coronary angiography revealed a critical thrombotic stenosis of proximal right coronary artery as well as a non-occlusive filling defect in left anterior descending (LAD) artery<sup>281</sup>.

Complications are more common in severe cases at baseline compared to non-severe cases<sup>16</sup>, with 2.9% of severe patients requiring extracorporeal membrane oxygenation and 5.2% of severe patients requiring continuous renal-replacement therapy, as compared to 0% of non-severe patients. In a single study that has yet to be peer reviewed, renal dysfunction was noted in up to 63% of patients in a study of 59 patients, of which 28 were severe cases<sup>15</sup>.

Co-infections including other viral, bacterial and fungal infections were not commonly found among patients with COVID-19<sup>2</sup>. Similar findings were reported in Singapore where rate of co-infection with SARS-CoV-2 was 1.4%.<sup>282</sup> The study conducted at one of the major hospitals in Singapore reported low in-hospital mortality and proportion of patients requiring invasive ventilation (1%) in comparison with community-acquired respiratory virus infections over the same period. A study of 92 SARS-CoV-2 positive patients in Shenzhen, China found that common respiratory viruses were concurrently detected in 6 patients (3.2%), with 4 of them testing positive for two or more of the detected viruses<sup>283</sup>. Based on a case series of 5 patients, it was noted that patients with a concurrent influenza infection may also report symptoms of nasal tampon and pharyngalgia, and authors suggested that there is no clear evidence of more severe illness in patients with co-infection<sup>284</sup>. None of the first 18 patients in Singapore developed concomitant infections<sup>9</sup>. It has been highlighted that SARS-CoV-2 infections can occur concurrently with dengue virus infections<sup>285</sup>.

Huang et al<sup>3</sup> reported that the median time from onset of illness "to Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome was 9.0 days (IQR 8.0–14.0), to mechanical ventilation was 10.5 days (IQR 7.0–14.0), and to ICU admission was 10.5 days (IQR 8.0-17.0)". Liu et al<sup>22</sup> reported that the median time from initial symptoms to severe symptoms (including dyspnea and acute respiratory distress syndrome) was 7 days (range 1-20 days), while Wang et al<sup>23</sup> reported that the median time to dyspnea and ARDS were 5.0 (IQR 1.0-10.0) and 8.0 (IQR 6.0-12.0) days respectively.

In Singapore<sup>9</sup>, 6 of 18 initial patients (33%) had oxygen saturation levels that fell below 92% and required oxygen supplementation. In a study of 149 patients in Wenzhou, China<sup>155</sup>, 9.4% of patients had oxygen saturation levels that fell below 95% while 15.4% of patients had a lowered partial pressure of oxygen. Supplemental oxygen was used in 41%<sup>16</sup> to 76%<sup>2</sup> of patients. 3 of 80 patients had severe symptoms in a study in Jiangsu<sup>24</sup>, while 17.6% of 262 patients were classified as "severe", with dyspnea or respiratory failure in Beijing<sup>26</sup>. A study reported case report of two patients with COVID-19 pneumonia who presented with syndrome of inappropriate antidiuresis (SIADH).<sup>286</sup>

5% of 1,099 patients required intensive care unit (ICU) admission in the study by Guan et al<sup>16</sup>, while 6.1% required mechanical ventilation<sup>16</sup>. This is in contrast to Huang et al's study<sup>3</sup> where 13 out of 41 patients (31.7%) were admitted to ICU, and 4 patients (9.8%) required invasive mechanical ventilation, including 2 patients that required extracorporeal membrane oxygenation.

26.1% of patients received ICU care in the study by Wang et al<sup>23</sup>. Two of the first 18 patients in Singapore required ICU admission, of which one required mechanical ventilation<sup>9</sup>. Wang et al<sup>23</sup> noted that patients who received ICU care were more likely to be older, and have underlying comorbidities. In a case-series in Italy, Guillain-Barré Syndrome was reported in five COVID-19 positive patients, however, it is yet to be determined whether the neuromuscular deficits and axonal involvement were typical features of COVID-19<sup>287</sup>. In a similar case study, Guillain-Barré Syndrome was reported in a 54-year-old Caucasian female, with no previous fever or respiratory symptoms, except transient loss of smell and taste. This finding along with recent literature suggests that COVID-19 may present as immunological processes regardless of the prodromic symptoms<sup>288</sup>. In a separate case report Evans syndrome was observed in a 39-year-old COVID-19 positive man<sup>289</sup>.

#### **Potential At-Risk Populations**

#### **Pregnant Women**

For pregnant mothers in late stage (third trimester) pregnancy, potential pregnancy-related complications are foetal distress and premature rupture of membrane<sup>202</sup>. These occurred in 2 out of 9 patients studied. Most of the 13 pregnant patients with COVID-19 in a study outside Wuhan in China<sup>290</sup> had mild to moderate symptoms. 10 patients underwent caesarean section, of which 5 were emergency procedures due to pregnancy complications, while 3 were discharged with an uncomplicated ongoing pregnancy after recovery from COVID-19<sup>290</sup>. Late pregnancy complications are said to be due to both the viral infection and hypoxia intolerance<sup>290</sup>. One of the 10 patients developed severe pneumonia and multiple organ dysfunction syndrome in the third trimester<sup>290</sup>. 46% of the cases had preterm labour between 32-36 weeks of gestation<sup>290</sup>. Studies suggest that there is no current evidence of vertical transmission among women with COVID-19 during late pregnancy<sup>202,290,291</sup>. There was a case reported of uncomplicated spontaneous vaginal delivery in a pregnant mother diagnosed with COVID-19 in US<sup>292</sup>. In the WHO-China joint mission report, based on findings for 147 pregnant women, pregnant women did not appear to have a higher risk of severe disease"<sup>88</sup>. Nonetheless, there was a case report of a 27-year-old, 30 and 3/7 week pregnant patient with COVID-19 who died in Iran following respiratory distress and multi-organ failure, and delivered a cyanotic fetus (Apgar score of 0 at 1<sup>st</sup> and 5<sup>th</sup> minute, with no change after CPR)<sup>293</sup>. Another maternal mortality was reported in UK caused by pulmonary embolism and basilar artery thrombosis, in a 29 year old female with pre-existing T2DM and obesity<sup>294</sup> A study reported miscarriage in a COVID-19 positive woman during the second trimester of pregnancy related to placental infection with SARS-CoV-2<sup>295</sup>. A tertiary care obstetric hospital observed a rise in incidence of hydatidiform mole (HM) coinciding with the onset of COVID-19 pandemic. Majority of these cases were in primigravidae with no other known risk factors for HM<sup>296</sup>.

#### Children

None of the 9 infected infants described by Wei et al developed severe complications or required ICU care<sup>32</sup>. Although 1 out of 10 births studied in other parts of China beyond Wuhan ended in a still birth, the other infants had a 1-minute Apgar score of 10 and did not develop severe asphyxia<sup>290</sup>. While there was a case report of a neo-natal infection 36 hours after birth in China, it could not be ascertained if the case was a vertical transmission<sup>297</sup>. Among 19 neonates who were separated from mothers with COVID-19 immediately after birth who had their throat swabs, gastric fluid samples, urine samples and faeces samples tested, only one neonate had a

positive SARS-CoV-2 RT-PCR test result from a throat swab, which was negative upon retesting<sup>298</sup>. However, another preprint systematic review reported evidence of vertical transmission of SARS-CoV-2 in 11% cases<sup>299</sup>. Two case reports from Wuhan, China reported presence of IgM antibodies in new-borns born to COVID-19 positive mothers immediately after birth suggesting vertical transmission<sup>300,301</sup>. A preprint rapid review on breastfeeding of infants born to COVID-19 positive mothers reported that SARS-CoV-2 viral nucleic acid had not been detected in breast milk and mothers taking hand hygiene precautions before breastfeeding showed that no neonate was infected with influenza during one-month follow-up<sup>302</sup>. The study thus concluded that the benefits of breastfeeding could outweigh the risk of COVID-19 infection in infants. However, in another study, a new-born that tested negative on discharge was tested positive at 2-week follow-up though he remained asymptomatic<sup>303</sup>. In this case, the mother was COVID-19 positive at discharge, however, the breast milk samples tested negative for SARS-CoV-2. The study implies that long-term follow-up and testing is necessary in new-borns. In Brussels, a preterm baby born at 26-weeks' gestation was tested SARS-CoV-2 positive following his mother<sup>304</sup>. At the time of publication, the baby was stable and did not show signs of severe disease.

In a Shenzhen family cluster<sup>203</sup>, a 10-year-old was asymptomatic but confirmed infected by RT-PCR. He also had CT changes suggestive of lung infection. While there have been reports of respiratory distress among children with pre-existing medical conditions<sup>121</sup>, the clinical course of viral infection is said to be "milder" in children than adults<sup>81,121</sup>, with uneventful recovery<sup>96</sup>. In China, only 2 critical COVID-19 cases among children were reported as of early March 2020 - a 7 month old with congenital heart disease, and a 13 month old with "bilateral hydronephrosis and calculus of left kidney"<sup>291</sup>. These two children required invasive mechanical ventilation after deteriorating to respiratory failure rapidly following disease onset<sup>291</sup>. Nonetheless, another recent case report noted that an otherwise healthy 55 day old infant developed pneumonia, liver injury, and cardiac damage from SARS-CoV-2 infection<sup>305</sup>. The prevalence of severe and critical disease reported in confirmed and suspected COVID-19 cases in children in China was 10.6% in those aged below 1, 7.3% in children 1-5 years, 4.2% in children 6-10 years, 4.1% in children 11-15 years and 3.0% in children 16 years and above<sup>82</sup>. In another study at Wuhan Children's hospital, 171 children (171/1391, 12.3%) were confirmed to have SARS-CoV-2 infection<sup>306</sup>. Fever, cough and pharyngeal erythema were common signs and symptoms, however 15.8% (27/171) of children patients were asymptomatic and no radiological features. The study reported three patients, all with coexisting conditions, requiring intensive care support and invasive mechanical ventilation and one death, a 10-month old child with intussusception and multiorgan failure. In a cross-sectional study across North-American PICUs, 40/48 (83%) children that tested positive for SARS-CoV-2 had preexisting underlying medical conditions, 35 (73%) presented with respiratory symptoms and 18 (38%) required invasive ventilation<sup>307</sup>. The hospital mortality rate was 4.2%. The study concluded that severe illness in children is less frequent and early hospital outcomes are better in children than adults.

A paper in the Lancet highlighted a much higher rate of hyperinflammatory shock in children during this COVID-19 period than usual. They had 8 children presented with such symptoms in a period of 10 days (compared to the usual 1-2). These children presented with hyperinflammatory shock with multiorgan involvement, showing features similar to Kawasaki disease shock syndrome or toxic shock syndrome. All 8 children tested negative for SARS-CoV-2 while in hospital (via bronchoalveolar lavage or nasopharyngeal aspirates), but 2 of them tested positive post-discharge. Pre-hospitalization, 5 out of 8 children had contact with people

with confirmed COVID-19. This study suggests that this Kawasaki disease-like syndrome might be a novel phenomenon affecting previously asymptomatic children with SARS-CoV-2 infection<sup>308</sup>. An Italian cohort study also observed a high incidence of a severe form of Kawasaki disease during the SARS-CoV-2 epidemic<sup>309</sup>. Recent reports of children affected by severe mix of symptoms similar to Kawasaki and toxic shock syndrome with fever and cardiac involvement has been termed 'Pediatric Inflammatory Multisystem Syndrome (PIMS)' and is hypothesized to be associated with COVID-19 as some of the affected children were tested positive<sup>310</sup>.

A French study on pediatric oncology children patients with COVID-19 suggested that children with malignancies may have a more severe form of disease requiring intensive care more often than immunocompetent children<sup>311</sup>.

#### Immunocompromised Persons

COVID-19 patients with cancer are said to have a higher risk of complications, including ICU admission and death, compared to those without cancer<sup>312</sup>. This may be due to an increased susceptibility to infection due to immunosuppression<sup>312</sup>. The time to the development of complications was also shorter among patients with cancer (median: 13 days, IQR 6-15 days), as compared to those without (median: 43 days, IQR 20 days-not reached)<sup>312</sup>. In two COVID-19 patients who underwent lobectomies for adenocarcinoma<sup>313</sup>, "edema, proteinaceous exudate, focal reactive hyperplasia of pneumocytes with patchy inflammatory cellular infiltration, and multinucleated giant cells" were noted upon pathological examination of lung tissues. A cancer patient cohort study, yet to be peer-reviewed, noted that anti-tumour treatment within the previous 14 days and patchy consolidation on CT scan on admission significantly increased the risk of developing severe events such as ICU admission, mechanical ventilation and death with HR: 4.1, 95% CI 1.1-15.3 and HR 5.438, 95% CI 1.5-19.7 respectively<sup>314</sup>. In contrast, another preprint study conducted in London, found that the mortality rate of cancer and non-cancer patient cohort was the same, with a median age of mortality being 80 years<sup>315</sup>.

There are a few case reports on the impact of COVID-19 on other patients who are significantly immunocompromised, eg patients with hemophilia<sup>316</sup>, and with solid organ<sup>317</sup> transplants. It was noted that the clinical and laboratory signs of COVID-19 may be atypical<sup>317</sup>, or in part masked by existing conditions in patients with immunosuppression<sup>318</sup>. A case report noted that a man with HIV recovered from SARS-CoV-2 infection<sup>319</sup>, while another noted delayed antibody response in a COVID-19 patient with existing co-infection with HIV-1 and HCV<sup>320</sup>. A retrospective study on 47 HIV patients reported that HIV patients were at a lower risk of severe disease compared to HIV negative patients<sup>321</sup>. An elderly man in Japan passed away after co-infection with SARS-CoV-2 and Legionella<sup>322</sup>. An adult COVID-19 patient with sickle cell disease developed Acute Chest Syndrome, and underwent exchange transfusion before recovery<sup>323</sup>.

Among 34 patients who underwent elective surgeries during their incubation period of COVID-19, 15 (44.1%) were admitted to ICU, and 7 patients (20.5%) died<sup>324</sup>. ICU patients were more likely than non-ICU patients to be older, have underlying co-morbidities, have undergone more difficult surgeries, and have more severe laboratory abnormalities (eg hyperleukocytemia)<sup>324</sup>. Periera et al reported severe outcomes in organ transplant recipients infected by COVID-19<sup>325,326</sup>.

Guidelines have also been published on the management of patients with medical conditions (eg hematology patients<sup>327</sup>, patients with gastro-intestinal issues<sup>328</sup>, cancer<sup>329</sup>) during this outbreak.

#### **Predictive Factors of Disease Severity**

In a multivariate analysis, Liu et al<sup>204</sup> found that the risk factors for disease progression 2 weeks after hospital admission include a higher age of 60 and above, with an odds ratio of 8.546 (95% CI 1.628-44.864). A history of smoking (OR 14.285, 95% CI 1.577-25.000), and high maximum body temperature at admission of 37.3°C and above (OR 8.999, 95% CI 1.036-78.147) were also associated with disease progression. A pre-print meta-analysis of 12 papers with a collective pool of 9,025 patients reported significant association between smoking and progression of COVID-19 (OR: 2.25, 95% CI 1.49-3.39)<sup>330</sup>.

A preprint ecology study conducted in London demonstrated a strong correlation between increased air pollution and increased risk of COVID-19 transmission within London boroughs  $(R2>0.7)^{331}$ . The study along with another English study<sup>332</sup> predicted higher risk of mortality in regions with higher NO<sub>2</sub> and PM2.5 pollution concentrations (R2> 0.72). The study thus showed the possibility of employing air pollution as another indicator to rapidly identify the vulnerable regions within a city. Another preprint cross-sectional study from United States, reported that after adjusting for confounders, a small increase in long-term exposure to PM2.5 leads to a large increase in COVID-19 death rate<sup>333</sup>.

Another study<sup>334</sup> found that independent risk factors for disease progression include comorbidity (HR 3.9, 95% CI 1.9-7.9), age above 60 years (HR 3.0, 95% CI 1.4-6.0), lower lymphocyte levels  $\leq 1.0 \times 10^{9}$ /L (HR 3.7, 95% CI 1.8-7.8), and higher lactate dehydrogenase levels between 250-500 U/L (HR 2.5, 95% CI 1.2-5.2) and above 500 U/L (HR 9.8, 95% CI 2.8-33.8) at presentation. The study proposed the use of a CALL scoring model incorporating the risk factors, for the prediction of risk of progression of disease. Based on ROC analysis, the AUC was 0.91 (95% CI 0.6-0.94)<sup>334</sup>.

Wu et al<sup>335</sup> found that the risk factors associated with the development of ARDS included older age (HR 3.26, 95% CI 2.08-5.11), neutrophilia (HR 1.14, 95% CI 1.09-1.19), and organ and coagulation dysfunction such as higher lactate dehydrogenase (HR 1.61, 95% CI 1.44-1.79) and D-dimer (HR 1.03, 95% CI 1.01-1.04). High fever ( $\geq$ 39 °C) was associated with a higher likelihood of ARDS development (HR 1.77, 95% CI 1.11-2.84).

Chen et al<sup>124</sup> found that older age (OR 1.06, 95% CI 1.00-1.12) and lower CD4 T cell counts (OR 0.55 per 100 cells/uL increase, 95% CI 0.33-0.92) were independently associated with ICU admission. In a meta-analysis<sup>30</sup>, the proportion of ICU patients with hypertension was higher than that among non-ICU patients (RR 2.03, 95% CI 1.54-2.68). This is similar for cardio-cerebrovascular diseases (RR 3.30, 95% CI 2.03-5.36). The difference in proportion of diabetics among ICU patients and non-ICU patients was not statistically significant (RR 2.21, 95% CI 0.88-5.57).

Zhang et al found that older age (OR 1.086, 95% CI 1.020-1.157) and elevated neutrophil-tolymphocyte ratio (OR 1.490, 95% CI 1.012-2.192) was associated with severe COVID-19<sup>336</sup>. Another preprint Italian study on 2653 COVID-19 positive, symptomatic patients reported a higher susceptibility to infection in females compared to males in the under-50 age group with Hazard ratio (HR) 2.61 vs 1.84 per 1000, but were less susceptible than males in the over 50 age group<sup>42</sup>. Men were reported to have an increased risk of hospitalization (HR 1.4, 95% CI 1.2-2.1). in addition, the study reported that immigrants were more likely to be hospitalized but has no significant difference in mortality. A study focused on patients with obesity and metabolic associated fatty liver disease (MAFLD) found that such patients exhibited a ~ 6 fold increased risk of severe COVID-19 illness<sup>337</sup>.

After adjusting for other factors, Mo et al<sup>130</sup> found that patients that did not show signs of clinical and radiographical remission after ten days of hospitalization (ie "refractory" patients) were more likely to be male (OR 2.206, 95% CI 1.012-4.809) and show signs of anorexia upon admission (OR 3.921, 95% CI 1.144-13.443). In contrast, patients with signs of fever on admission were less likely to be "refractory" patients (OR 0.331, 95% CI 0.116-0.945)<sup>130</sup>. In addition, refractory patients tended to receive oxygen treatment (OR 3.065, 95% CI 1.189-7.897), expectorant (OR 2.688, 95% CI 1.204-6.003), corticosteroid (OR 2.232, 95% CI 1.030-4.838), lopinavir and ritonavir (OR 13.975, 95% CI 3.274-59.655), and immune enhancers (OR 8.959, 95% CI 1.724-46.564)<sup>130</sup>.

A higher percentage of patients with GI symptoms were found to have severe/critical disease (22.97%), as compared to those without GI symptoms (8.14%)<sup>338</sup>. Risk factors for severe/critical disease in patients with GI symptoms include sputum production (OR 11.40, 95% CI 1.89-68.73) increased lactate dehydrogenase (OR 24.77, 95% CI 4.60-133.33) and increased glucose levels (OR 2.42, 95% CI 1.43-4.10)<sup>338</sup>.

For haematological parameters, statistically significant differences were noted between mild and severe groups for IL-6, D-dimer, glucose, thrombin time, fibrinogen and C-reactive protein<sup>339</sup>. The combination of IL-6 (>24.3pg/mL) and D-dimer (>0.28µg/L) provided the highest specificity (96.4% - parallel testing) and sensitivity (93.3% - tandem testing) for early prediction of disease severity<sup>339</sup>. In another preprint study, mycoplasma IgG positivity was indicated to be a potential protective factor against COVID-19 infection<sup>340</sup>. Patients with mycoplasma iGG positivity had significant better lab indicators of disease severity and needed fewer nasal catherisation and oxygen mask (p=0.029) than those without mycoplasma IgG.

In a meta-analysis, risk factors for severe disease could include hypertension (pooled OR 2.36, 95% CI 1.46-3.83), respiratory diseases (OR 2.46, 95% CI 1.76-3.44), and cardiovascular diseases (OR 3.42, 95% CI 1.88-6.22)<sup>341</sup>. In a univariate analysis<sup>162</sup>, risk factors associated with severe/critical illness, as compared to a milder condition, include older age above 50 years old (OR 7.596, 95% CI 2.664-21.659), a longer time period between symptom onset and hospitalization (Median 8.00 days, IQR 6.00-12.00 vs Median 6.00 days, IQR 3.00-8.50), the presence of co-morbidities (OR 10.607, 95% CI 2.930-38.399) in particular diabetes and COPD, and cough (OR 9.951, 95% CI 1.245-79.554), expectoration (OR 4.875, 95% CI 1.505-15.789), dyspnea (OR 10.899, 95% CI 2.073-57.198), chest pain (OR 10.857, 95% CI 1.147-102.773), and a higher body temperature (Mean 38.0°C, SD 0.9 vs 37.6°C, SD 0.6) at baseline. ICU patients (Mean 41, IQR 32-53) in Singapore<sup>21</sup>.

A systematic review of prediction models for disease severity noted that the most commonly reported predictors of severe disease include age sex, features derived from computed tomography scans, C reactive protein, lactic dehydrogenase, and lymphocyte count. C index estimates ranged from 0.85 to 0.98 for prognostic models. However, most studies had a high risk of bias due to "non-representative selection of control patients, exclusion of patients who had not experienced the event of interest by the end of the study, and high risk of model overfitting"<sup>342</sup>. In another retrospective study of 276 patients diagnosed with severe/fatal pneumonia following an acute exacerbation reported that such patients were likely to have severe clinical symptoms (p < 0.01) and abnormal laboratory changes (p < 0.01). Also, the

numbers of affected lobes and CT score increased significantly. The study concluded that combining an assessment of clinical and laboratory changes with CT changes could help clinical teams with evaluating the prognosis<sup>343</sup>.

The US Center for Disease Control and Prevention noted that individuals at higher risk of severe illness include elderly aged 65 and above, individuals living in nursing home and longterm care facilities, people with chronic lung disease, moderate-to-severe asthma, serious heart conditions, severe obesity (BMI 40 and above), underlying uncontrolled medical conditions, and/or people who are immunocompromised<sup>344</sup>. France has added obesity to its list of risk factors for severe disease, on top of older age, and co-morbidities including hypertension, diabetes, and coronary artery disease<sup>345</sup>. Based on RNA sequencing, patients with heart failure were found to have increased myocardial ACE2 expression which may result in a higher risk of heart attack<sup>44</sup>. Another yet to be peer reviewed study reported that lipogenesis dysregulation and the subsequently high ACE2 expression in obese patients increased risk for severe complications in COVID-19 patients<sup>346</sup>. In a retrospective study on 182 patients with confirmed COVID-19 in Singapore, a sub-group analysis on patients aged <60 years-old found that BMI  $\geq$ 25 was significantly associated with pneumonia on chest radiograph on admission, requiring low-flow supplemental oxygen and higher serum lactate dehydrogenase levels which are all predictors of severe disease. These findings suggest the importance of a lower BMI cut-off for risk stratification in Asian populations, similar to a lower BMI cut-off in metabolic and cardiovascular diseases<sup>347</sup>. Furthermore, a review study reported that increasing one's aerobic capacity may improve pulmonary functions and immune functions thus conferring some protection against severe COVID-19 disease<sup>348</sup>.

In a small longitudinal study in Germany, urine samples of COVID-19 positive patients who became very sick within few days were used to detect systemic capillary leak syndrome for predicting fluid overload, respiratory failure, severe disease requiring ICU admission and death<sup>349</sup>. In patients with severe outcomes the authors observed low serum antithrombin III concentrations (26-62% [reference > 70%]), severe hypoalbuminaemia (serum concentration 1.4-1.9 mg/dL [reference 3.4-5.0 mg/dL]), and urine samples positive for blood, albumin and leucocytes which suggested COVID-associated nephritis. The study concluded that screening by urine sample analysis might help predict complications.

While there were reports suggesting that ibuprofen can exacerbate COVID-19, there is no clear evidence on the effect of NSAIDs on disease progression currently<sup>350</sup>.

A longitudinal study explored the association of serial viral loads in 308 COVID-19 positive patients that included general patients (n = 70), severe patients (n = 195) and critical patients (n =43)<sup>351</sup>. The study reported higher viral loads in sputum samples compared to nasal and pharyngeal swab samples. Also, the SARS-CoV-2 viral load was negatively associated with blood parameters and positively associated with cardiovascular system features. The study concluded that resurgence of virus during treatment should be treated as a warning sign of severe illness.

## **Mortality**

The COVID-19 Situation Report<sup>352</sup> released by the Centre for Infectious Disease Epidemiology and Research (CIDER) provided figures of reported deaths globally. As of 8 April 2020, the total number of deaths in the world directly attributable to COVID-19 was 82,085, bringing the overall

case-fatality rate to 5.73%<sup>352</sup>. The case fatality rate outside of China stands at 5.83%<sup>352</sup>. The case fatality rate in Italy as of 17 March 2020 was 7.2%<sup>353</sup>. Within China, the overall case fatality rate based on an analysis of 44,672 confirmed cases was 2.3%<sup>1</sup>; the case fatality rate in Beijing was reported to be lower than the national average<sup>26</sup>. The estimated hospital fatality risk in a study published on 23 January 2020 was 14%<sup>354</sup>. The case fatality rate reported among 101 residents in a nursing facility in Washington was 33.7%<sup>355</sup>. Studies carried out earlier in the outbreak may have excluded milder cases, which may result in an overestimation of the risk of complications and mortality.

In Singapore, the majority (67%) of the first 18 reported cases had an uncomplicated disease course, with only mild, predominantly respiratory symptoms<sup>9</sup>. There have been no deaths attributable to COVID-19 in Singapore, although one patient with pre-existing co-morbidities, including pneumonia, is in a "very critical state" as of the report<sup>356</sup>.

In one study, the interval between the onset of symptoms and ventilator-assisted breathing is said to be between 3 and 10 days, with rapid disease progression to multiple organ failure among patients who died<sup>2</sup>. An early analysis found that the median interval from first symptoms to death was 20.0 days (range 10-41) for those below 70 years old<sup>357</sup>, and is shorter (Median: 11.5 days, range 6-19 days) among elderly aged 70 and above<sup>357</sup>. Linton et al<sup>92</sup> estimated that the mean time from reported disease onset to death is 15.0 days (95% CI 12.8-17.5). In contrast, the mean number of days from symptom onset to death was reported to be 23.7 days (95% CI 22.0-25.3) for SARS<sup>358</sup>. Another study<sup>359</sup> found that there were two peak timings for death, approximately 14 days, and 22 days from disease onset.

### **Factors affecting Mortality**

Mortality rates are higher among elderly. As of 11 Feb 2020, the case fatality rates among all confirmed cases in China<sup>1</sup> is highest among those aged 80 and above (14.8%), followed by those aged 70-79 (8.0%), and those aged 60-69 (3.6%). In contrast, the case-fatality rate for individuals aged 10-39 was 0.2%. Similarly in Korea, the case fatality rates of those was 3.7% for those aged 80 and above, 3.1% for those aged 70-79, 1.1% for those aged 60-69, 0.6% or below for those aged 50-59, and 0.2% for those aged between 30-49<sup>5</sup>. Case fatality rates increase with age based on preliminary data from US<sup>6</sup>. No foetal or neonatal deaths were reported in a study involving 9 live births under caesarean section where the mothers have been diagnosed with COVID-19<sup>202</sup>, although one study reported a stillbirth<sup>297</sup>, and another reported death of an infant after 9 days<sup>360</sup>. A preprint study found a higher median R0, infection rate, critical disease rate and death rate in the European region (median age: 41.7 years) than the African region (median age: 18.9 years), indicating that countries with sizable elderly populations may experience large and rapid epidemics in absence of interventions<sup>361</sup>. In another preprint meta-analysis of 31,864 COVID-19-related deaths in 13 European countries (range: 27-14,381 per country), the summary proportions of persons < 40, 40-69, and  $\geq$  70 years of age among all COVID-19-related deaths were 0.1% (0.0-0.2%; I2 24%), 12.8% (10.3-15.6%; I2 94%), and 84.8% (81.3-88.1%; I2 96%), respectively<sup>362</sup>.

Although death is rare among children, there were reports of a 10 month old who passed away with intussusception and multi-organ failure in Wuhan<sup>81</sup>, and 14 year old boy from Hubei who died of COVID-19<sup>82</sup>. A child under the age of 18 was reported to have died in Los Angeles, USA<sup>363</sup>, while a 16 year old girl passed away in France<sup>364</sup>, and a 13 year old boy passed away in UK<sup>365</sup>. The youngest victim reported in Europe is a 12 year old girl in Belgium<sup>366</sup>. The

youngest reported COVID-19 related death in US is that of a six-week-old infant who died due to complications of COVID-19<sup>367</sup>.

Mortality rates were higher in males (2.8%) than females (1.7%)<sup>1</sup> in a study in China, although a study in Wuhan found no statistically significant differences in gender distribution between survivors and non-survivors<sup>359</sup>. However, another preprint systematic review and meta-analysis comprising 32 studies reported a significantly higher mortality in males compared to females (OR 3.4, 95% CI 1.2-9.1)<sup>368</sup>.

The presence of comorbidities<sup>1</sup> was associated with increased mortality, in particular for patients with pre-existing cardiovascular diseases (10.5%), diabetes (7.3%), chronic respiratory diseases (6.3%), hypertension (6.0%) and cancer (5.6%). A study showed that diabetics on metformin treatment reported reduced in-hospital mortality caused by COVID-19 compared to diabetic patients on non-metformin treatment<sup>369</sup>. One paper suggested that smoking is associated with mortality<sup>2</sup> (which contrasted with the lower than expected number of smokers among the patients with ARDS). In another study in Wuhan, 63% of patients who died had comorbidities as compared to 41% of patients who were discharged<sup>359</sup>, and a medical history of hypertension and cardiovascular disease was associated with mortality<sup>359</sup>. 58.2% of patients that met a composite end point of admission to ICU, use of mechanical ventilation or death had comorbidities, compared to 21.5% of those who did not<sup>16</sup>. In another study by Guan<sup>370</sup>, the risk factors of meeting composite end points include COPD (HR 2.681, 95% CI 1.424-5.048), diabetes (HR 1.59, 95%CI 1.03-2.45), hypertension (HR 1.58, 95% CI 1.07-2.32) and malignancy (HR 3.50, 95%CI 1.60-7.64). Patients with at least one comorbidity had a HR of 1.79 (95% CI 1.16-2.77), while those with two or more co-morbidities had a HR of 2.59 (95% CI 1.61-4.17)<sup>370</sup>. In an early report of 775 patients in critical care in UK, mortality rates were higher in overweight individuals (BMI ≥30: 60.9%) as compared to those who were not (BMI <25: 42.1%, BMI 25-<30: 41.7%)<sup>371</sup>.

An Italian study reported that patients with heart failure, arrhythmia, dementia, ischemic heart disease, DM and hypertension had an increased risk of death whereas patients with COPD had an increased risk of hospitalization but no increase in mortality<sup>42</sup>. A preprint meta-analysis on sixteen papers with 3743 ICU patients and mortality outcomes indicated a significant association between acute cardiac injury, (OR: 15.94, 95% CI 2.31-110.14), hypertension (OR: 1.92, 95% CI 1.92-2.74), heart failure (OR: 11.73, 95% CI 5.17-26.60), other cardiovascular diseases (OR: 1.95, 95% CI 1.17-3.24) and overall CVDs (OR: 3.37, 95% CI 2.06-5.52) and mortality in COVID-19 patients<sup>372</sup>. The same study reported arrhythmia (OR: 22.17, 95%CI 4.47-110.04), acute cardiac injury (OR: 19.83, 95%CI 7.85-50.13), coronary heart disease (OR: 4.19, 95%CI 1.27-13.80), cardiovascular disease (OR: 4.17, 95%CI 2.52-6.88) and hypertension (OR: 2.69, 95%CI 1.55-4.67) were also significantly associated with ICU admission in COVID-19 patients.

A multivariable regression analysis<sup>230</sup> found that older age is associated with higher odds of inhospital death (OR 1.10, 95% CI 1.03–1.17). A higher Sequential Organ Failure Assessment (SOFA) score (OR 5.65, 95% CI 2.61–12.23), and d-dimer level greater than 1  $\mu$ g/mL (OR 18.42, 95% CI 2.64–128.55) on admission were also associated with higher odds of death<sup>230</sup>.

In a bivariate Cox regression analysis of 201 patients in China<sup>335</sup>, the risk factors associated with progression from ARDS to death included older age (HR 6.17, 95% CI 3.26-11.67), neutrophilia (HR 1.08, 95% CI 1.01-1.17), and organ and coagulation dysfunction such as higher lactate dehydrogenase (HR 1.30, 95% CI 1.11-1.52) and D-dimer (HR 1.02, 95% CI

1.01-1.04). High fever ( $\geq$ 39 °C) was associated with a lower risk of death (HR, 0.41; 95% CI, 0.21-0.82). Among patients with ARDS, treatment with methylprednisolone decreased the risk of death (HR 0.38, 95% CI 0.20-0.72).

More of the non-survivors (81% vs 45%) out of those who were in critical condition had developed acute respiratory distress syndrome, with significantly lower  $PaO_2$  to  $FiO_2$  ratios<sup>20</sup>. This is supported in another study that found that a higher percentage of non-survivors had acute respiratory distress syndrome (81% vs 9%), respiratory failure (85% vs 16%), acute kidney injury (31% vs 2%), and infection (16% vs 1%)<sup>359</sup>. Patients with cardiac injury had a higher risk of death, from the time of symptom onset (HR 4.26, 95% CI 1.92-9.49) and from hospital admission (HR 3.41, 95% CI 1.62-7.16)<sup>373</sup>.

The mean duration from onset of symptoms to hospital admission was 9.7 days (95% CI 5.4-17.0) for survivors, as compared to 6.6 days (95% CI 5.2-8.8) for survivors in the study by Linton et al<sup>92</sup>, although this duration may have been affected by triaging processes and hospital admission criteria. Leung et al<sup>374</sup> modelled that the time from symptom onset to hospital admission among 46 people who died of COVID-19 in China, is normally distributed with mean 6.2 days (95% CI 5.1-7.3). He also found that the time from hospital admission to death is lognormally distributed (mean 11 days, median 8 days (IQR 5.0-12.0))<sup>374</sup>. It was reported that the duration from symptom onset to death is shorter in those aged 70 and older (median 11.5 days), as compared to younger adults (median 20 days)<sup>375</sup>.

49.0% of patients who were in critical condition (defined as signs of "respiratory failure, septic shock, and/or multiple organ dysfunction/failure") eventually succumbed<sup>1</sup>. In contrast, another study that defined acute respiratory distress severity based on the American Thoracic Society guidelines found that 8.1% of patients with severe disease died, as compared to 0.1% of those with non-severe disease<sup>16</sup>.

Non-survivors had higher white blood cell counts, lymphocyte counts, platelet counts, levels of albumin, total bilirubin, blood urea nitrogen, creatinine, cardiac troponin, myoglobin, C-reactive protein, interleukin-6 and serum ferritin<sup>359</sup>. While "most patients" had marked lymphopenia, non-survivors were said to develop more severe lymphopenia with time<sup>23</sup>. High CT scores (24.5 and above) are said to predict mortality (sensitivity 85.6%, specificity 84.5%)<sup>98</sup>. After adjustment for age, gender, BMI, co-morbidities, smoking status, respiratory rate, ALT levels, creatinine levels, prothrombin time and D-dimer levels, neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio is associated with an 8% increased risk of mortality (OR 1.08, 95% CI 1.01-1.14)<sup>376</sup>.

A study recommended a N terminal pro B type natriuretic peptide (NT-proBNP) cut-off value of 88.64pg/mL for the prediction of in-hospital death among patients with severe COVID-19, with a sensitivity of 100% and specificity of 66.67%<sup>377</sup>. Another study found that peak cardiac troponin I level (HR 8.9, 95% CI 1.9-40.6) and peak NT-pro BNP levels (HR 1.2, 95% CI 1.1-1.3) are associated with a composite endpoint (requiring ICU admission, mechanical ventilation and/or ECMO, or death), although no statistically significant association was found between cardiac troponin I levels at baseline ("first test") and the attainment of the composite endpoint<sup>378</sup>.

A higher proportion of survivors were given antiviral agents (65%), as compared to nonsurvivors (31%) in the study<sup>20</sup>. This was echoed in Ruan et al's study, where 67% of survivors received antivirals as compared to 49% of non-survivors<sup>359</sup>. Yang et al found that more of the survivors received high flow nasal cannula treatment (85% vs 50%), while more of the nonsurvivors received mechanical ventilation (94% vs 35%)<sup>20</sup>. This is in contrast to Ruan et al's study where the percentage of non-survivors that received high flow nasal cannula treatment (as well as mechanical ventilation) was higher than that of survivors<sup>359</sup>. Treatment modalities and clinical management affect mortality rates but an in-depth discussion is beyond the scope of this report.

A preprint study reported BCG vaccination to be protective by comparing the median doubling time of the death toll in four countries using "Tokyo 172-1" strain (Japan, Iraq, Malaysia, and Pakistan). The median doubling time of death toll in these four countries was significantly higher than that of the other 28 vaccinated countries (6.8 and 3.8 respectively, p = 0.024)<sup>379</sup>. Another yet to be reviewed Dutch study used modelling to investigate BCG provided protection from COVID-19<sup>380</sup>. The study found a positive correlation between BCG vaccination and protection from mortality by the heterologous effect of BCG vaccination conferring 'trained immunity' to its recipients.

### **Causes of Death**

Based on the included studies, the reported causes of deaths are severe (bilateral) pneumonia, septic shock, respiratory failure, and sudden cardiac arrest. The three pathologic mechanisms leading to death have been said to be neutrophilia due to cytokine storms triggered by SARS-Cov-2 infection, coagulation activation, and acute kidney injury due to hypoxia and shock<sup>23</sup>. In one study with 68 deaths<sup>359</sup>, 53% of patients succumbed to respiratory failure, 7% had circulatory failure, while 33% died of both causes. The study<sup>359</sup> highlighted the potential of death from fulminant myocarditis.

Deaths were found in one study to be consistent with Multilobular infiltration, Lymphopenia, Bacterial coinfection, Smoking history, hyperTension and Age (MuLBSTA) scores that predict mortality<sup>2</sup>.

A study of 92 patients who died from COVID-19 found that common complications reported were ARDS (73/91), myocardial injury (31/91), liver injury (15/91), renal insufficiency (14/91), multiple organ dysfunction syndrome (MODS) (14/91), and pneumothorax (1/91)<sup>381</sup>.

One study reported a death in spite of 6 days of IV methylprednisolone treatment<sup>22</sup>. Corticosteroids have been reported to have no effect on mortality rates<sup>3</sup>, and may delay viral clearance, as with patients with SARS and MERS<sup>3</sup>. High corticosteroid doses in the management of influenza are associated with higher rates of mortality and hospital-acquired infection<sup>382</sup>.

A study reported that African Americans may be at a higher risk of sudden cardiac death from COVID-19 due to variance in cardiac ion channel variance<sup>383</sup>.

## **Certification and Classification of COVID-19 as Cause of Death**

The World Health Organization (WHO) issued the "International Guidelines for Certification and Classification (Coding) of COVID-19 as a Cause of Death" based on ICD International Statistical Classification of Diseases on 20 April 2020<sup>384</sup>. The main purpose of this report is to provide standardized mortality surveillance, crucial information on population-level disease progression and assessment of public health interventions impact.

For this purpose, the official terminology, "**COVID-19**" and not '*coronavirus*" should be used for all certification of this cause of death. The report states that COVID-19 should be recorded as a cause of death on the medical certification for ALL decedents the disease caused, or is

assumed to have caused that contributed to death, unless there is an alternate cause of death unrelated to COVID disease (e.g. trauma). The deceased should not have completely recovered from COVID-19 preceding his death. Death in patients with chronic conditions (e.g. cancer) should be counted as pre-existing conditions that are suspected of triggering a severe form of COVID-19 disease. Based on ICD-10 codes, U07.1 COVID-19 should be used when the virus is identified and U07.2 COVID-19, when the virus is not identified i.e. probable or suspected COVID-19. Inclusion of 'probable' or 'suspected' cases without laboratory confirmation is however not consistent across all states of the United States (US)<sup>385</sup>, and few states such as Florida have continued to report only fatalities with a confirmed positive test<sup>386</sup>.

United Kingdom's Office of National Statistics has issued guidelines during the COVID-19 pandemic emergency relaxing some of the previous legislations concerning completion of the medical certificate cause of death (MCCD)<sup>387</sup>. Without diagnostic proof, the medical practitioners can specify that MCCD section "information from post-mortem may be available later". If the patient had typical COVID-19 infection symptoms, then the certifying medical practitioner needs to indicate ante-mortem investigations on MCCD. In the absence of swab, it is satisfactory to apply clinical judgement. Many other countries such as Australia<sup>388</sup>, India<sup>389</sup> and European CDC<sup>390</sup> have released their 'Death certification' guidelines based on WHO report.

## **Search method**

On 18 February 2020, a systematic search was carried out on PubMed to identify published studies on the clinical characteristics of COVID-19. Key words used include "clinical characteristics", "epidemiological", "COVID-19", "2019-nCov", "novel coronavirus", and "SARS-Cov-2". Only articles in English were included in our analysis. Given that most articles have yet to be indexed, hand searching of major journals, official websites and clinical trial sites, including BMJ, Lancet, and NEJM, was conducted. The search was updated on 26 February, 2 March, 9 March and 16 March 2020. Updated weekly searches from 25 March, up to 9 April 2020 focused on articles highlighting novel presentations of COVID-19, risk factors for disease susceptibility and severity, as well as clinical characteristics in vulnerable sub-populations.

## **Acknowledgement**

We are grateful to the following for their assistance on the review of articles and input into the report:

Dr Shweta R Singh Tang Xuan Rong Low Yue Wey Lee Pei Yu Gwyneth Syn Zander Tay Yong Hong Keith Low Qie Hua Xu Ang

# Appendix A

As of 25 March 2020, the following papers on the COVID-19 outbreak were included following a systematic search.

Table 4 List of published papers included in report

No.	Author	Title	Date Published (online)
1	Wu P et al	Real-time tentative assessment of the epidemiological characteristics of novel coronavirus infections in Wuhan	January 23, 2020
2	Chan JF et al	A familial cluster of pneumonia associated with the 2019 novel coronavirus indicating person-to-person transmission: a study of a family cluster	January 24, 2020
3	Huang C et al	Clinical features of patients infected with 2019 novel coronavirus in Wuhan, China	January 24, 2020
4	Phan L T et al	Importation and human-to-human transmission of a novel coronavirus in Vietnam	January 28, 2020
5	Li Q et al	Early transmission dynamics in Wuhan, China, of novel coronavirus-infected pneumonia	January 29, 2020
6	Wang W et al	Updated understanding of the outbreak of 2019 novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV in Wuhan, China)	January 29, 2020
7	Chen N et al	Epidemiological and clinical characteristics of 99 cases of 2019 novel coronavirus pneumonia in Wuhan, China: a descriptive study	January 30, 2020
8	Rothe C et al	Transmission of 2019-nCoV Infection from an Asymptomatic Contact in Germany	January 30, 2020
9	Holshue M L et al	First case of 2019 novel coronavirus in the United States	January 31, 2020
10	Lei J et al	CT Imaging of the 2019 novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) pneumonia	January 31, 2020
11	Chen Z-M et al	Diagnosis and treatment recommendations for pediatric respiratory infection caused by the 2019 novel coronavirus	February 2, 2020
12	Chung M et al	CT Imaging features of 2019 novel coronavirus (2019-nCov)	February 4, 2020
13	Kanne JP et al	Chest CT findings in 2019 novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) infections from Wuhan, China: Key points for the radiologist	February 4, 2020
14	Liu P et al	2019 novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) pneumonia	February 4, 2020
15	del Rio C et al	2019 novel coronavirus – important information for clinicians	February 5, 2020

16	Backer J A et al	Incubation period of 2019 novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) infections among travellers from Wuhan, China, 20-28 January 2020	February 6, 2020
17	Ryu S et al	An interim review of the epidemiological characteristics of 2019 novel coronavirus	February 6, 2020
18	Song F et al	Emerging coronavirus 2019 n-CoV pneumonia	February 6, 2020
19	Chang D et al	Epidemiologic and clinical characteristics of novel coronavirus infections involving 13 patients outside Wuhan, China	February 7, 2020
20	Fang Y et al	CT manifestations of two cases of 2019 novel coronavirus (2019-nCov) pneumonia	February 7, 2020
21	Liu K et al	Clinical characteristics of novel coronavirus cases in tertiary hospitals in Hubei Province	February 7, 2020
22	Shi H et al	Evolution of CT manifestations in a patient recovered from 2019 novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) pneumonia in Wuhan, China	February 7, 2020
23	Wang D et al	Clinical characteristics of 138 hospitalized patients with 2019 novel coronavirus-infected pneumonia in Wuhan, China	February 7, 2020
24	Liu YX et al	Clinical and biochemical indexes from 2019-nCoV infected patients linked to viral loads and lung injury	February 9, 2020
25	Moran Ki	Epidemiologic characteristics of early cases with 2019-nCoV disease in Republic of Korea	February 9, 2020
26	Wang Z et al	Clinical characteristics and therapeutic procedure for four cases with 2019 novel coronavirus pneumonia receiving combined Chinese and Western medicine treatment	February 9, 2020
27	Bastola A et al	The first 2019 novel coronavirus case in Nepal	February 10, 2020
28	Zhu H et al	Clinical analysis of 10 neonates born to mothers with 2019- nCoV pneumonia	February 10, 2020
29	Diao K et al	HRCT imaging features in representative imported cases of 2019 novel coronavirus pneumonia	February 11, 2020
30	Chen H et al	Clinical characteristics and intrauterine vertical transmission potential of COVID-19 infection in nine pregnant women: a retrospective review of medical records	February 12, 2020
31	Duan Y et al	Pre- and posttreatment chest CT findings: 2019 novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) pneumonia	February 12, 2020
32	Huang P et al	Use of chest CT in combination with negative RT-PCR assay for the 2019 novel coronavirus but high clinical suspicion	February 12, 2020
33	Li X et al	COVID-19 infection presenting with CT halo sign	February 12, 2020

34	Liu Y-C et al	A locally transmitted case of SARS-CoV-2 infection in Taiwan	February 12, 2020
35	Sahin A R et al	2019 novel coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak: a review of the current literature	February 12, 2020
36	Xie X et al	Chest CT for typical 2019-nCov pneumonia: relationship to negative RT-PCR testing	February 12, 2020
37	Jiang X et al	Does SARS-CoV-2 has a longer incubation period than SARS and MERS?	February 13, 2020
38	Liu T et al	Spectrum of chest CT findings in a familial cluster of COVID- 19 infection	February 13, 2020
39	Kong W et al	Chest imaging appearance of COVID-19 infection	February 13, 2020
40	Ng M-Y et al	Imaging profile of the COVID-19 Infection: radiologic findings and literature review	February 13, 2020
41	Pan F et al	Time course of lung changes on chest CT During recovery from 2019 novel coronavirus (COVID-19) pneumonia	February 13, 2020
42	Pan Y et al	Initial CT findings and temporal changes in patients with the novel coronavirus pneumonia (2019-nCoV): a study of 63 patients in Wuhan, China	February 13, 2020
43	Silverstein WK et al	First imported case of 2019 novel coronavirus in Canada, presenting as mild pneumonia	February 13, 2020
44	Zhang J et al	Therapeutic and triage strategies for 2019 novel coronavirus disease in fever clinics	February 13, 2020
45	China Centre for Disease Control	Vital Surveillances: the epidemiological characteristics of an outbreak of 2019 novel coronavirus diseases (COVID-19) – China, 2020	February 14, 2020
46	Kay F et al	The many faces of COVID-19 – spectrum of imaging manifestations	February 14, 2020
47	Liang W et al	Cancer patients in SARS-CoV-2 infection: a nationwide analysis in China	February 14, 2020
48	Qian L et al	Severe acute respiratory disease in a Huanan seafood market worker: images of an early casualty	February 14, 2020
49	Wei M et al	Novel coronavirus infection in hospitalized infants under 1 year of age in China	February 14, 2020
50	Wu Y et al	Longitudinal CT findings in COVID-19 pneumonia: case presenting organizing pneumonia pattern	February 14, 2020
51	Lai C-C et al	Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS- CoV-2) and coronavirus disease-2019 (COVID-19): the epidemic and the challenges	February 17, 2020
52	Linton NM et al	Incubation period and other epidemiological characteristics of 2019 novel coronavirus infections with right truncation: a statistical analysis of publicly available case data	February 17, 2020

53	Van Cuong L et al	The first Vietnamese case of COVID-19 acquired from China	February 18, 2020
54	Xu Z et al	Pathological findings of COVID-19 associated with acute respiratory distress syndrome	February 18, 2020
55	Fang Y et al	Sensitivity of chest CT for COVID-19: comparison to PCR	February 19, 2020
56	Huang W-H et al	2019 novel coronavirus disease (COVID-19) in Taiwan: reports of two cases from Wuhan, China	February 19, 2020
57	Kim JY et al	Viral load kinetics of SARS-CoV-2 infection in first two patients in Korea	February 19, 2020
58	Pan X et al	Asymptomatic cases in a family cluster with SARS-CoV-2 infection	February 19, 2020
59	Tang N et al	Abnormal coagulation parameters are associated with poor prognosis in patients with novel coronavirus pneumonia	February 19, 2020
60	Zhang J et al	Clinical characteristics of 140 patients infected by SARS- CoV-2 in Wuhan, China	February 19, 2020
61	Zou L et al	SARS-CoV-2 viral load in upper respiratory specimens of infected patients	February 19, 2020
62	Xu XW et al	Clinical findings in a group of patients infected with the 2019 novel coronavirus (SARS-Cov-2) outside of Wuhan, China: retrospective case series	February 19, 2020
63	Bernheim A et al	Chest CT findings in coronavirus disease-19 (COVID-19): relationship to duration of infection	February 20, 2020
64	She J et al	2019 novel coronavirus of pneumonia in Wuhan, China: emerging attack and management strategies	February 20, 2020
65	Sun K et al	Early epidemiological analysis of the coronavirus disease 2019 outbreak based on crowdsourced data: a population level observational study	February 20, 2020
66	Wong J et al	COVID-19 in Singapore – current experience: critical global issues that require attention and action	February 20, 2020
67	Zhu N et al	A novel coronavirus from patients with pneumonia in China, 2019	February 20, 2020
68	Bai Y et al	Presumed asymptomatic carrier transmission of COVID-19	February 21, 2020
69	Hao W	Clinical features of atypical 2019 novel coronavirus pneumonia with an initially negative RT-PCR Assay	February 21, 2020
70	Yang X et al	Clinical course and outcomes of critically ill patients with SARS-CoV-2 pneumonia in Wuhan, China: a single-centered, retrospective, observational study.	February 21, 2020
71	Zu ZY et al	Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): a perspective from China	February 21, 2020

72	Meo SA et al	Novel coronavirus 2019-nCoV: prevalence, biological and clinical characteristics comparison with SARS-CoV and MERS-CoV	February 24, 2020
73	Pan Y et al	Viral load of SARS-CoV-2 in clinical samples	February 24, 2020
74	Patel A & Jernigan D	Initial public health response and interim clinical guidance for the 2019 novel coronavirus outbreak — United States, December 31, 2019–February 4, 2020	February 24, 2020
75	Qin C et al	<sup>18</sup> F-FDG PET/CT findings of COVID-19: a series of four highly suspected cases.	February 22, 2020
76	Shi H et al	Radiological findings from 81 patients with COVID-19 pneumonia in Wuhan, China: a descriptive study	February 24, 2020
77	Wu Z et al	Characteristics of and important lessons from the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) outbreak in China: summary of a report of 72 314 cases from the Chinese Center for Disease Control and Prevention	February 24, 2020
78	Xu YH et al	Clinical and computed tomographic imaging features of novel coronavirus pneumonia caused by SARS-CoV-2	February, 25, 2020
79	Liang W et al	Diarrhoea may be underestimated: a missing link in 2019 novel coronavirus	February 26, 2020
80	Wei J et al	2019 novel coronavirus (COVID-19) Pneumonia: serial computed tomography findings	February 26, 2020
81	Yang W et al	Clinical characteristics and imaging manifestations of the 2019 novel coronavirus disease (COVID-19): a multi-center study in Wenzhou city, Zhejiang, China	February 26, 2020
82	Yoon SH et al	Chest radiographic and CT Findings of the 2019 novel coronavirus disease (COVID-19): analysis of nine patients treated in Korea	February 26, 2020
83	Huang Y et al	Clinical characteristics of laboratory confirmed positive cases of SARS-CoV- 2 infection in Wuhan, China: A retrospective single center analysis	February 27, 2020
84	Lan L et al	Positive RT-PCR test results in patients recovered from COVID-19	February 27, 2020
85	Tian S et al	Characteristics of COVID-19 infection in Beijing	February 27, 2020
86	Cai J et al	A case series of children with 2019 novel coronavirus infection: clinical and epidemiological feature	February 28, 2020
87	Guan et al	Clinical characteristics of coronavirus disease 2019 in China	February 28, 2020
88	Huang R et al	A family cluster of SARS-CoV-2 infection involving 11 patients in Nanjing, China	February 28, 2020

89	Kam K-q et al	A well infant with coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) with high viral load	February 28, 2020
90	Lillie PJ et al	Novel coronavirus disease (Covid-19): the first two patients in the UK with person to person transmission	February 28, 2020
91	Ling Y et al	Persistence and clearance of viral RNA in 2019 novel coronavirus disease survivors	February 28, 2020
92	Liu W et al	Analysis of factors associated with disease outcomes in hospitalized patients with 2019 novel coronavirus disease	February 28, 2020
93	Sun P et al	Clinical characteristics of 50466 hospitalized patients with 2019-nCoV infection	February 28, 2020
94	Tian S et al	Pulmonary pathology of early phase 2019 novel coronavirus (COVID-19) pneumonia in two patients with lung cancer	February 28, 2020
95	Xu X et al	Imaging and clinical features of patients with 2019 novel coronavirus SARS-CoV-2	February 28, 2020
96	Li K et al	The clinical and chest CT features associated with severe and critical COVID-19 pneumonia	February 29, 2020
97	Wu J et al	Clinical characteristics of imported cases of COVID-19 in Jiangsu province: a multicenter descriptive study	February 29, 2020
98	Lu Q and Shi Y	Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) and neonate: What neonatologist need to know	March 1, 2020
99	Bae JM	A Chinese case of COVID-19 did not show infectivity during the incubation period: based on an epidemiological survey	March 2, 2020
100	Cao Q et al	SARS-CoV-2 infection in children: transmission dynamics and clinical characteristics	March 2, 2020
101	Ruan Q et al	Clinical predictors of mortality due to COVID-19 based on an analysis of data of 150 patients from Wuhan, China	March 3, 2020
102	Xiong Y et al	Clinical and high-resolution CT features of the COVID-19 infection: comparison of the initial and follow-up changes	March 3, 2020
103	Yang P et al	Coronavirus disease 2019, a growing threat to children?	March 3, 2020
104	Young BE et al	Epidemiologic features and clinical course of patients infected with SARS-CoV-2 in Singapore	March 3, 2020
105	Zhao W et al	Relation between chest CT findings and clinical conditions of coronavirus disease (COVID-19) pneumonia: a multicentre study	March 3, 2020
106	Zhu Y et al	Clinical and CT imaging features of 2019 novel coronavirus disease (COVID-19)	March 3, 2020
107	Fan B E et al	Hematologic parameters in patients with COVID-19 infection	March 4, 2020
108	Hu Z et al	Clinical characteristics of 24 asymptomatic infections with COVID-19 screened among close contacts in Nanjing, China	March 4, 2020

109	Jiang F et al	Review of the clinical characteristics of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19)	March 4, 2020
110	Li Y & Xia L	Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): role of chest CT in diagnosis and management	March 4, 2020
111	Liu Y et al	Clinical manifestations and outcome of SARS-CoV-2 infection during pregnancy	March 4, 2020
112	Yan G et al	Covert COVID-19 and false-positive dengue serology in Singapore	March 4, 2020
113	Zhang C et al	Liver injury in COVID-19: management and challenges	March 4, 2020
114	Bermejo-Martin J F et al	Lymphopenic community acquired pneumonia as a sign of severe COVID-19 infection	March 5, 2020
115	Lake MA et al	What we know so far: COVID-19 current clinical knowledge and research	March 5, 2020
116	Liang H & Acharya G	Novel corona virus disease (COVID-19) in pregnancy: What clinical recommendations to follow?	March 5, 2020
117	Lin D et al	Co-infections of SARS-CoV-2 with multiple common respiratory pathogens in infected patients	March 5, 2020
118	Wang L et al	The clinical dynamics of 18 cases of COVID-19 outside of Wuhan, China	March 5, 2020
119	Wang Y et al	Unique epidemiological and clinical features of the emerging 2019 novel coronavirus pneumonia (COVID-19) implicate special control measures	March 5, 2020
120	Xia W et al	Clinical and CT features in pediatric patients with COVID-19 infection: different points from adults	March 5, 2020
121	Zhou S et al	CT Features of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pneumonia in 62 patients in Wuhan, China	March 5, 2020
122	Burke R M et al 2020	Active monitoring for persons exposed to patients with confirmed COVID-19 – United States, January – February 2020	March 6, 2020
123	Yang W & Yan F	Patients with RT-PCR confirmed COVID-19 and normal chest CT	March 6, 2020
124	Zhou C et al	COVID-19 with spontaneous pneumomediastinum	March 9, 2020
125	Gupta R et al	Clinical considerations for patients with diabetes in times of COVID-19 epidemic	March 10, 2020
126	Lauer SA et al	The incubation period of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID- 19) from publicly reported confirmed cases- estimation and application	March 10, 2020
127	Lippi G et al	Cardiac troponin I in patients with coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19)- evidence from a meta-analysis	March 10, 2020

128	Soong YG et al	COVID-19, a clinical syndrome manifesting as hypersensitivity pneumonitis	March 10, 2020
129	Cai Hua	Sex difference and smoking predisposition in patients with COVID-19	March 11, 2020
130	Chen J et al	Clinical progression of patients with COVID-19 in Shanghai, China	March 11, 2020
131	Chen R et al	Chest computed tomography images of early coronavirus disease (COVID-19)	March 11, 2020
132	Fang L et al	Are patients with hypertension and diabetes mellitus at increased risk for COVID-19 infection?	March 11, 2020
133	Li B et al	Prevalence and impact of cardiovascular metabolic diseases on COVID-19 in China	March 11, 2020
134	Liu H et al	Clinical and CT imaging features of the COVID-19 pneumonia: focus on pregnant women and children	March 11, 2020
135	Liu K et al	Clinical feature of COVID-19 in elderly patients: a comparison with young and middle-aged patients	March 11, 2020
136	Mao R et al	Implications of COVID-19 for patients with pre-existing digestive diseases	March 11, 2020
137	Wang W et al	Detection of SARS-CoV-2 in different types of clinical specimens	March 11, 2020
138	Zhou F et al	Clinical course and risk factors for mortality of adult inpatients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China: a retrospective cohort study	March 11, 2020
139	Zhu F et al	Co-infection of SARS-CoV-2 and HIV in a patient in Wuhan city, China	March 11, 2020
140	Chen Q et al	A report of clinical diagnosis and treatment of 9 cases of coronavirus disease 2019	March 12, 2020
141	Garnier-Crussard A et al	Novel coronavirus (COVID-19) epidemic: what are the risks for older patients?	March 12, 2020
142	Ghinai I et al	First known person-to-person transmission of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) in the USA	March 12, 2020
143	Li LQ et al	2019 novel coronavirus patients' clinical characteristics, discharge rate and fatality rate of meta-analysis	March 12, 2020
144	Liu F et al	Patients of COVID-19 may benefit from sustained lopinavir- combined regimen and the increase of eosinophil may predict the outcome of COVID-19 progression	March 12, 2020
145	Liu W et al	Detection of COVID-19 in children in early January 2020 in Wuhan, China	March 12, 2020
146	Ng OT et al	SARS-CoV-2 Infection among travelers returning from Wuhan, China	March 12, 2020

147	Pongpirul W et al	Journey of a Thai taxi driver and novel coronavirus	March 12, 2020
148	Qin C et al	Dysregulation of immune response in patients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China	March 12, 2020
149	Wang S et al	A case report of neonatal COVID-19 infection in China	March 12, 2020
150	Xing Y et al	Post-discharge surveillance and positive virus detection in two medical staff recovered from coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19), China, January to February 2020	March 12, 2020
151	Ye G et al	Clinical characteristics of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 reactivation	March 12, 2020
152	Zhao D et al	A comparative study on the clinical features of COVID-19 pneumonia to other pneumonias	March 12, 2020
153	Chan KW et al	An update on the epidemiological, clinical, preventive and therapeutic evidence and guidelines of integrative Chinese- Western medicine for the management of 2019 novel coronavirus disease	March 13, 2020
154	Guo Y-R et al	The origin, transmission and clinical therapies on coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) outbreak – an update on the status	March 13, 2020
155	Henry B M	COVID-19, ECMO, and lymphopenia- a word of caution	March 13, 2020
156	Mehta P et al	COVID-19: consider cytokine storm syndromes and immunosuppression	March 13, 2020
157	Rodriguez- Morales A J et al	Clinical, laboratory and imaging features of COVID-19: a systematic review and meta-analysis	March 13, 2020
158	Shi F et al	2019 novel coronavirus (COVID-19) pneumonia with hemoptysis as the initial symptom: CT and clinical features	March 13, 2020
159	Sun Q et al	Evolution of computed tomography manifestations in five patients who recovered from coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pneumonia	March 13, 2020
160	Wu C et al	Risk Factors Associated with Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome and Death in Patients with Coronavirus Disease 2019 Pneumonia in Wuhan, China	March 13, 2020
161	Xu T et al	Clinical features and dynamics of viral load in imported and non-imported patients with COVID-19	March 13, 2020
162	Xu Y et al	Characteristics of pediatric SARS-CoV-2 infection and potential evidence for persistent fecal viral shedding	March 13, 2020
163	Zhu W et al	Initial clinical features of suspected coronavirus disease 2019 in two emergency departments outside of Hubei, China	March 13, 2020
164	COVID-19 National Incident Room	National incident room surveillance team COVID-19, Australia, epidemiology report 7	March 14, 2020

	Surveillance		
	Team		
165	Cheng Z et al	Clinical features and chest CT manifestations of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) in a single-center study in Shanghai China	March 14, 2020
166	Salehi S et al	Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): a systematic review of imaging findings in 919 patients	March 14, 2020
167	Su Y-J et al	Comparison of clinical characteristics of coronavirus disease (COVID-19) and severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS) as experienced in Taiwan	March 14, 2020
168	Willan J et al	Care of haematology patients in a COVID-19 epidemic	March 15, 2020
169	Dong Y et al	Epidemiological characteristics of 2143 pediatric patients with 2019 coronavirus disease in China	March 16, 2020
170	Han H et al	Prominent changes in blood coagulation of patients with SARS-CoV-2 infection	March 16, 2020
171	Henry B et al	Laboratory abnormalities in children with novel coronavirus disease 2019	March 16, 2020
172	Ji L-N et al	Clinical features of pediatric patients with COVID-19: a report of two family cluster cases	March 16, 2020
173	Korean society of infectious diseases	Report on the epidemiological features of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) outbreak in the Republic of Korea from January 19 to March 2, 2020	March 16, 2020
174	Leung C et al	Clinical features of deaths in the novel coronavirus epidemic in China	March 16, 2020
175	Mo P et al	Clinical characteristics of refractory COVID-19 pneumonia in Wuhan, China	March 16, 2020
176	Pung R et al	Investigation of three clusters of COVID-19 in Singapore: implications for surveillance and response measures	March 16, 2020
177	Thevarajan I et al	Breadth of concomitant immune responses prior to patient recovery: a case report of non-severe COVID-19	March 16, 2020
178	Wang Z et al	Clinical features of 69 cases with coronavirus disease 2019 in Wuhan, China	March 16, 2020
179	Adhikari SP et al	Epidemiology, causes, clinical manifestation and diagnosis, prevention and control of coronavirus disease (COVID-19) during the early outbreak period: a scoping review	March 17, 2020
180	Cui Y et al	A 55-Day-Old Female Infant Infected With 2019 Novel Coronavirus Disease: Presenting with Pneumonia, Liver Injury, and Heart Damage	March 17, 2020
181	Gao Y et al	Diagnostic Utility of Clinical Laboratory Data Determinations for Patients with the Severe COVID-19	March 17, 2020

182	Han R et al	Early clinical and CT Manifestations of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) Pneumonia	March 17, 2020
183	Inui S et al	Chest CT findings in cases from the cruise ship "Diamond Princess" with coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19)	March 17, 2020
184	Lei P	The progression of computed tomographic (CT) images in patients with coronavirus disease (COVID-19) pneumonia: The CT progression of COVID-19 pneumonia	March 17, 2020
185	Livingston E & Bucher K	Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) in Italy	March 17, 2020
186	Qian GQ et al	Epidemiologic and Clinical Characteristics of 91 Hospitalized Patients with COVID-19 in Zhejiang, China: A retrospective, multi-centre case series	March 17, 2020
187	Qu R et al	Platelet-to-lymphocyte ratio is associated with prognosis in patients with Corona Virus Disease-19	March 17, 2020
188	Ran L et al	Risk factors of healthcare workers with corona virus disease 2019: a retrospective cohort study in a designated hospital of Wuhan in China	March 17, 2020
189	Wang Y et al	Clinical outcome of 55 asymptomatic cases at the time of hospital admission infected with SARS-COV-2 in Shenzhen, China	March 17, 2020
190	Zheng H-Y et al	Elevated exhaustion levels and reduced functional diversity of T cells in peripheral blood may predict severe progression in COVID-19 patients	March 17, 2020
191	Driggin E et al	Cardiovascular considerations for patients, health care workers, and health systems during the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic	March 18, 2020
192	Lu X et al	SARS-CoV-2 Infection in children	March 18, 2020
193	Sun Q et al	Lower mortality of COVID-19 by early recognition and intervention: experience from Jiangsu province	March 18, 2020
194	Zhou Z et al	Effect of gastrointestinal symptoms on patients infected with COVID-19	March 18, 2020
195	Arentz M et al	Characteristics and outcomes of 21 critically ill patients with COVID-19 in Washington state	March 19, 2020
196	Liu Y et al	Viral dynamics in mild and severe cases of COVID-19	March 19, 2020
197	Lu S et al	Alert for non-respiratory symptoms of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) patients in epidemic period: A case report of familial cluster with three asymptomatic COVID-19 patients.	March 19, 2020
198	Sun D et al	Clinical features of severe pediatric patients with coronavirus disease 2019 in Wuhan: a single center's observational study	March 19, 2020

199	Wang Y et al	Temporal Changes of CT Findings in 90 Patients with COVID-19 Pneumonia: A Longitudinal Study	March 19, 2020
200	Wu Y et al	Prolonged presence of SARS-CoV-2 viral RNA in faecal samples	March 19, 2020
201	Ye Z et al	Chest CT manifestations of new coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): a pictorial review	March 19, 2020
202	Yuan M et al	Association of radiologic findings with mortality of patients infected with 2019 novel coronavirus in Wuhan, China	March 19, 2020
203	Zheng M et al	Functional exhaustion of antiviral lymphocytes in COVID-19 patients	March 19, 2020
204	Ding Q et al	The clinical characteristics of pneumonia patients co-infected with 2019 novel coronavirus and influenza virus in Wuhan, China	March 20, 2020
205	Guillen E et al	Case report of COVID-19 in a kidney transplant recipient: Does immunosuppression alter the clinical presentation?	March 20, 2020
206	Luo S et al	Don't overlook digestive symptoms in patients with 2019 novel coronavirus disease (COVID-19)	March 20, 2020
207	Zhang X et al	Epidemiological, clinical characteristics of cases of SARS- CoV-2 infection with abnormal imaging findings	March 20, 2020
208	Wan S et al	Clinical features and treatment of COVID-19 patients in northeast Chongqing	March 21, 2020
209	Liu X et al	Ventilatory ratio in hypercapnic mechanically ventilated patients with COVID-19 associated ARDS	March 23, 2020
210	Luvigsson et al	Systematic review of COVID-19 in children show milder cases and a better prognosis than adults	March 23, 2020
211	Onder G et al	Case-fatality rate and characteristics of patients dying in relation to COVID-19 in Italy	March 23, 2020
212	Qian G et al	A COVID-19 transmission within a family cluster by presymptomatic infectors in China	March 23, 2020
213	To K et al	Temporal profiles of viral load in posterior oropharyngeal saliva samples and serum antibody responses during infection by SARS-CoV-2: an observational cohort study	March 23, 2020
214	Seah YJI et al	Assessing Viral Shedding and Infectivity of Tears in Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) Patients	March 24, 2020
215	Yu N et al	Clinical features and obstetric and neonatal outcomes of pregnant patients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China: a retrospective, single-centre, descriptive study	March 24, 2020
216	Lian J et al	Analysis of Epidemiological and Clinical features in older patients with Corona Virus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) out of Wuhan	March 25, 2020
217	Mitra A et al	Erythroblastic reaction in a patient with COVID-19 infection	March 25, 2020

218	Shi S et al	Association of Cardiac Injury with Mortality in Hospitalized Patients With COVID-19 in Wuhan, China	March 25, 2020
219	Sun Y et al	Epidemiological and Clinical Predictors of COVID-19	March 25, 2020
220	Yu J et al	SARS-CoV-2 Transmission in Patients with Cancer at a Tertiary Care Hospital in Wuhan, China	March 25, 2020
221	CDC	Severe outcomes among patients with Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) - United States, February 12 - February 16, 2020	March 26, 2020
222	Monteleone G & Ardizzone S	Are patients with inflammatory bowel disease at increased risk for Covid-19 infection?	March 26, 2020
223	Jin X-H et al	COVID-19 in a patient with chronic lymphocytic leukaemia	April 1, 2020

# References

- 1. The Novel Coronavirus Pneumonia Emergency Response Epidemiology Team. *Vital Surveillances: The Epidemiological Characteristics of an Outbreak of 2019 Novel Coronavirus Diseases (COVID-19) China, 2020.* China CDC Weekly Feb 17 2020.
- Chen N, Zhou M, Dong X, et al. Epidemiological and clinical characteristics of 99 cases of 2019 novel coronavirus pneumonia in Wuhan, China: a descriptive study. *Lancet*. 2020;395(10223):507-513.
- 3. Huang C, Wang Y, Li X, et al. Clinical features of patients infected with 2019 novel coronavirus in Wuhan, China. *Lancet.* 2020;395(10223):497-506.
- 4. Zhang R, Liu H, Li F, et al. Transmission and epidemiological characteristics of Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) infected Pneumonia (COVID-19): preliminary evidence obtained in comparison with 2003-SARS. *medRxiv*. 2020:2020.2001.2030.20019836.
- 5. Korean Society of Infectious Diseases KSoPID, Korean Society of Epidemiology, Korean Society for Antimicrobial Therapy, Korean Society for Healthcare-associated Infection Control and Prevention, and Korea Centers for Disease Control and Prevention,. *Report on the Epidemiological Features of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) Outbreak in the Republic of Korea from January 19 to March 2, 2020.*
- 6. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Severe Outcomes Among Patients with Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) — United States, February 12–March 16, 2020. US March 26 2020.
- 7. Livingston E, Bucher K. Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) in Italy. *JAMA*. 2020.
- 8. Borghesi A, Zigliani A, Masciullo R, et al. Radiographic severity index in COVID-19 pneumonia: relationship to age and sex in 783 Italian patients. *La radiologia medica*. 2020.
- 9. Young BE, Ong SWX, Kalimuddin S, et al. Epidemiologic Features and Clinical Course of Patients Infected With SARS-CoV-2 in Singapore. *JAMA*. 2020.
- 10. Xie Z. Pay attention to SARS-CoV-2 infection in children. *PEDIATRIC INVESTIGATION.* 2020;4(1):1-4.
- 11. Bunyavanich S, Do A, Vicencio A. Nasal Gene Expression of Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme 2 in Children and Adults. *JAMA*. 2020.
- 12. Li Q, Guan X, Wu P, et al. Early Transmission Dynamics in Wuhan, China, of Novel Coronavirus-Infected Pneumonia. *N Engl J Med.* 2020.
- 13. Backer JA, Klinkenberg D, Wallinga J. Incubation period of 2019 novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) infections among travellers from Wuhan, China, 20-28 January 2020. *Euro Surveill.* 2020;25(5).
- 14. Xu XW, Wu XX, Jiang XG, et al. Clinical findings in a group of patients infected with the 2019 novel coronavirus (SARS-Cov-2) outside of Wuhan, China: retrospective case series. *BMJ*. 2020;368:m606.
- 15. Tang N, Li D, Wang X, Sun Z. Abnormal Coagulation parameters are associated with poor prognosis in patients with novel coronavirus pneumonia. *J Thromb Haemost.* 2020.
- 16. Guan WJ, Ni ZY, Hu Y, et al. Clinical Characteristics of Coronavirus Disease 2019 in China. *N Engl J Med.* 2020.
- 17. Yang W, Cao Q, Qin L, et al. Clinical characteristics and imaging manifestations of the 2019 novel coronavirus disease (COVID-19):A multi-center study in Wenzhou city, Zhejiang, China. *J Infect.* 2020.
- 18. Xu YH, Dong JH, An WM, et al. Clinical and computed tomographic imaging features of Novel Coronavirus Pneumonia caused by SARS-CoV-2. *J Infect.* 2020.
- 19. Shi H, Han X, Jiang N, et al. Radiological findings from 81 patients with COVID-19 pneumonia in Wuhan, China: a descriptive study. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*. 2020.
- 20. Yang X, Yu Y, Xu J, et al. Clinical course and outcomes of critically ill patients with SARS-CoV-2 pneumonia in Wuhan, China: a single-centered, retrospective, observational study. 2020.
- 21. Fan BE, Chong VCL, Chan SSW, et al. Hematologic parameters in patients with COVID-19 infection. *Am J Hematol.* 2020.
- 22. Liu K, Fang YY, Deng Y, et al. Clinical characteristics of novel coronavirus cases in tertiary hospitals in Hubei Province. *Chin Med J (Engl).* 2020.
- 23. Wang D, Hu B, Hu C, et al. Clinical Characteristics of 138 Hospitalized Patients With 2019 Novel Coronavirus-Infected Pneumonia in Wuhan, China. *JAMA*. 2020.

- 24. Wu J, Liu J, Zhao X, et al. Clinical Characteristics of Imported Cases of COVID-19 in Jiangsu Province: A Multicenter Descriptive Study. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*. 2020.
- 25. Xu X, Yu C, Qu J, et al. Imaging and clinical features of patients with 2019 novel coronavirus SARS-CoV-2. *Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging.* 2020.
- 26. Tian S, Hu N, Lou J, et al. Characteristics of COVID-19 infection in Beijing. *Journal of Infection.* 2020.
- 27. Song F, Shi N, Shan F, et al. Emerging Coronavirus 2019-nCoV Pneumonia. *Radiology.* 2020;0(0):200274.
- 28. Cai H. Sex difference and smoking predisposition in patients with COVID-19. *Lancet Respir Med.* 2020.
- 29. Zeng F, Dai C, Cai P, et al. A comparison study of SARS-CoV-2 IgG antibody between male and female COVID-19 patients: a possible reason underlying different outcome between sex. *J Med Virol.* 2020.
- 30. Li B, Yang J, Zhao F, et al. Prevalence and impact of cardiovascular metabolic diseases on COVID-19 in China. *Clinical research in cardiology : official journal of the German Cardiac Society.* 2020.
- 31. Parascandola M, Xiao L. Tobacco and the lung cancer epidemic in China. *Transl Lung Cancer Res.* 2019;8(Suppl 1):S21-S30.
- 32. Jin J-M, Bai P, He W, et al. Gender differences in patients with COVID-19: Focus on severity and mortality. *medRxiv.* 2020:2020.2002.2023.20026864.
- Bi Q, Wu Y, Mei S, et al. Epidemiology and Transmission of COVID-19 in Shenzhen China: Analysis of 391 cases and 1,286 of their close contacts. *medRxiv*. 2020:2020.2003.2003.20028423.
- 34. Wang J, Luo Q, Chen R, Chen T, Li J. Susceptibility Analysis of COVID-19 in Smokers Based on ACE2. *Preprints.* 2020.
- 35. Xia Y, Jin R, Zhao J, Li W, Shen H. Risk of COVID-19 for cancer patients. *The Lancet Oncology.* 2020.
- 36. Yu J, Ouyang W, Chua MLK, Xie C. SARS-CoV-2 Transmission in Patients With Cancer at a Tertiary Care Hospital in Wuhan, China. *JAMA Oncology.* 2020.
- 37. Fang L, Karakiulakis G, Roth M. Are patients with hypertension and diabetes mellitus at increased risk for COVID-19 infection? *Lancet Respir Med.* 2020.
- 38. Reynolds HR, Adhikari S, Pulgarin C, et al. Renin–Angiotensin–Aldosterone System Inhibitors and Risk of Covid-19. *New England Journal of Medicine.* 2020.
- 39. Mehra MR, Desai SS, Kuy S, Henry TD, Patel AN. Cardiovascular Disease, Drug Therapy, and Mortality in Covid-19. *New England Journal of Medicine.* 2020.
- 40. Mancia G, Rea F, Ludergnani M, Apolone G, Corrao G. Renin-Angiotensin-Aldosterone System Blockers and the Risk of Covid-19. *N Engl J Med.* 2020.
- 41. Sama IE, Ravera A, Santema BT, et al. Circulating plasma concentrations of angiotensinconverting enzyme 2 in men and women with heart failure and effects of renin–angiotensin– aldosterone inhibitors. *European Heart Journal.* 2020.
- 42. Giorgi Rossi P, Marino M, Formisano D, Venturelli F, Vicentini M, Grilli R. Characteristics and outcomes of a cohort of SARS-CoV-2 patients in the Province of Reggio Emilia, Italy. *medRxiv*. 2020:2020.2004.2013.20063545.
- 43. Mehta N, Kalra A, Nowacki AS, et al. Association of Use of Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme Inhibitors and Angiotensin II Receptor Blockers With Testing Positive for Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19). *JAMA Cardiology*. 2020.
- 44. Chen L, Li X, Chen M, Feng Y, Xiong C. The ACE2 expression in human heart indicates new potential mechanism of heart injury among patients infected with SARS-CoV-2. *Cardiovascular Research.* 2020.
- 45. Li Q, Cao Z, Rahman P. Genetic Variability of Human Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme 2 (hACE2) Among Various Ethnic Populations. *bioRxiv*. 2020:2020.2004.2014.041434.
- 46. Monteleone G, Ardizzone S. Are patients with inflammatory bowel disease at increased risk for Covid-19 infection? *Journal of Crohn's and Colitis.* 2020.
- 47. Taxonera C, Sagastagoitia I, Alba C, Manas N, Olivares D, Rey E. 2019 Novel Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) in patients with Inflammatory Bowel Diseases. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther.* 2020.

- 48. Bezzio C, Saibeni S, Variola A, et al. Outcomes of COVID-19 in 79 patients with IBD in Italy: an IG-IBD study. *Gut.* 2020.
- 49. Zietz M, Tatonetti NP. Testing the association between blood type and COVID-19 infection, intubation, and death. *medRxiv*. 2020:2020.2004.2008.20058073.
- Zeng X, Fan H, Lu D, et al. Association between ABO blood groups and clinical outcome of coronavirus disease 2019: Evidence from two cohorts. *medRxiv*. 2020:2020.2004.2015.20063107.
- 51. Bastola A, Sah R, Rodriguez-Morales AJ, et al. The first 2019 novel coronavirus case in Nepal. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases.* 2020.
- 52. Han R, Huang L, Jiang H, Dong J, Peng H, Zhang D. Early Clinical and CT Manifestations of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) Pneumonia. *AJR Am J Roentgenol.* 2020:1-6.
- 53. Beltrán-Corbellini Á, Chico-García JL, Martínez-Poles J, et al. Acute-onset smell and taste disorders in the context of Covid-19: a pilot multicenter PCR-based case-control study. *European Journal of Neurology*.n/a(n/a).
- 54. Wee LE, Chan YFZ, Teo NWY, et al. The role of self-reported olfactory and gustatory dysfunction as a screening criterion for suspected COVID-19. *European Archives of Oto-Rhino-Laryngology.* 2020.
- 55. Cholankeril G, Podboy A, Aivaliotis VI, et al. High Prevalence of Concurrent Gastrointestinal Manifestations in Patients with SARS-CoV-2: Early Experience from California. *Gastroenterology*. 2020.
- 56. Cheung KS, Hung IF, Chan PP, et al. Gastrointestinal Manifestations of SARS-CoV-2 Infection and Virus Load in Fecal Samples from the Hong Kong Cohort and Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *Gastroenterology*. 2020.
- 57. Kim J, Thomsen T, Sell N, Goldsmith AJ. Abdominal and testicular pain: An atypical presentation of COVID-19. *The American journal of emergency medicine*. 2020:S0735-6757(0720)30194-30197.
- 58. Ministry of Health Singapore. *Executive Summary of the Case Series of the First 18 Cases of COVID-19 (MOH Circular 50/2020).* Feb 18 2020.
- 59. Su YJ, Lai YC. Comparison of clinical characteristics of coronavirus disease (COVID-19) and severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS) as experienced in Taiwan. *Travel Med Infect Dis.* 2020:101625.
- 60. Wei M, Yuan J, Liu Y, Fu T, Yu X, Zhang ZJ. Novel Coronavirus Infection in Hospitalized Infants Under 1 Year of Age in China. *JAMA*. 2020.
- 61. Sun Y, Koh V, Marimuthu K, et al. Epidemiological and Clinical Predictors of COVID-19. *Clinical Infectious Diseases.* 2020.
- 62. Amatore F, Macagno N, Mailhe M, et al. SARS-CoV-2 infection presenting as a febrile rash. *Journal of the European Academy of Dermatology and Venereology.* 2020;n/a(n/a).
- 63. van Damme C, Berlingin E, Saussez S, Accaputo O. Acute urticaria with pyrexia as the first manifestations of a COVID-19 infection. *Journal of the European Academy of Dermatology and Venereology*. 2020;n/a(n/a).
- 64. Diaz-Guimaraens B, Dominguez-Santas M, Suarez-Valle A, et al. Petechial Skin Rash Associated With Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 Infection. *JAMA Dermatology*. 2020.
- 65. Joob B, Wiwanitkit V. COVID-19 can present with a rash and be mistaken for dengue. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology.* 2020;82(5):e177.
- 66. Elsaie ML, Youssef EA, Nada HA. Herpes zoster might be an indicator for Latent COVID 19 infection. *Dermatologic Therapy.*n/a(n/a):e13666.
- 67. Chen Z, Hu J, Zhang Z, et al. Caution: The clinical characteristics of COVID-19 patients at admission are changing. *medRxiv*. 2020:2020.2003.2003.20030833.
- 68. Wei H, Yin H, Huang M, Guo Z. The 2019 novel cornoavirus pneumonia with onset of oculomotor nerve palsy: a case study. *Journal of Neurology*. 2020;267(5):1550-1553.
- 69. Wu P, Liang L, Chen C, Nie S. A child confirmed COVID-19 with only symptoms of conjunctivitis and eyelid dermatitis. *Graefe's Archive for Clinical and Experimental Ophthalmology.* 2020.
- 70. Oxley TJ, Mocco J, Majidi S, et al. Large-Vessel Stroke as a Presenting Feature of Covid-19 in the Young. *New England Journal of Medicine.* 2020:e60.

- 71. Centre for Infectious Disease Epidemiology and Research-NUS. COVID-19 Situation Report 20. 2020.
- 72. Hu Z, Song C, Xu C, et al. Clinical characteristics of 24 asymptomatic infections with COVID-19 screened among close contacts in Nanjing, China. *Sci China Life Sci.* 2020.
- 73. Wang Y, Liu Y, Liu L, Wang X, Luo N, Ling L. Clinical outcome of 55 asymptomatic cases at the time of hospital admission infected with SARS-Coronavirus-2 in Shenzhen, China. *The Journal of infectious diseases.* 2020.
- 74. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Public Health Responses to COVID-19 Outbreaks on Cruise Ships Worldwide, February-March 2020. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report (MMWR) Web site. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/volumes/69/wr/mm6912e3.htm</u>. Published 2020. Accessed April 15, 2020.
- 75. Mizumoto K, Kagaya K, Zarebski A, Chowell G. Estimating the asymptomatic proportion of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) cases on board the Diamond Princess cruise ship, Yokohama, Japan, 2020. *Eurosurveillance*. 2020;25(10):2000180.
- 76. Nishiura H, Kobayashi T, Suzuki A, et al. Estimation of the asymptomatic ratio of novel coronavirus infections (COVID-19). *Int J Infect Dis.* 2020.
- 77. Day M. Covid-19: four fifths of cases are asymptomatic, China figures indicate. *BMJ.* 2020;369:m1375.
- 78. Song JY, Yun JG, Noh JY, Cheong HJ, Kim WJ. Covid-19 in South Korea Challenges of Subclinical Manifestations. *N Engl J Med.* 2020.
- 79. Wei W, Li Z, Chiew C, Yong S, Toh M, Lee V. *Presymptomatic Transmission of SARS-CoV-2 Singapore, January 23 March 16, 2020.* Centers for Disease Control and Prevention April 1 2020.
- 80. Day M. Covid-19: identifying and isolating asymptomatic people helped eliminate virus in Italian village. *BMJ.* 2020;368:m1165.
- 81. Lu X, Zhang L, Du H, et al. SARS-CoV-2 Infection in Children. *New England Journal of Medicine.* 2020.
- 82. Dong Y, Mo X, Hu Y, et al. Epidemiological Characteristics of 2143 Pediatric Patients With 2019 Coronavirus Disease in China. *Pediatrics*. 2020.
- 83. Kam K-q, Yung CF, Cui L, et al. A Well Infant with Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) with High Viral Load. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*. 2020.
- 84. Qiu H, Wu J, Hong L, Luo Y, Song Q, Chen D. Clinical and epidemiological features of 36 children with coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) in Zhejiang, China: an observational cohort study. *Lancet Infect Dis.* 2020.
- 85. Kimball A HK, Arons M, et al. . Asymptomatic and Presymptomatic SARS-CoV-2 Infections in Residents of a Long-Term Care Skilled Nursing Facility King County, Washington, March 2020. . April 3 2020.
- 86. Qian G, Yang N, Ma AHY, et al. A COVID-19 Transmission within a family cluster by presymptomatic infectors in China. *Clinical Infectious Diseases.* 2020.
- 87. Huang L, Zhang X, Zhang X, et al. Rapid asymptomatic transmission of COVID-19 during the incubation period demonstrating strong infectivity in a cluster of youngsters aged 16-23 years outside Wuhan and characteristics of young patients with COVID-19: a prospective contact-tracing study. *J Infect.* 2020.
- 88. WHO. Report of the WHO-China Joint Mission on Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19). 2020.
- 89. Wang X, Fang J, Zhu Y, et al. Clinical characteristics of non-critically ill patients with novel coronavirus infection (COVID-19) in a Fangcang Hospital. *Clin Microbiol Infect.* 2020.
- 90. Meng H, Xiong R, He R, et al. CT imaging and clinical course of asymptomatic cases with COVID-19 pneumonia at admission in Wuhan, China. *J Infect.* 2020.
- 91. Zhou X, Li Y, Li T, Zhang W. Follow-up of asymptomatic patients with SARS-CoV-2 infection. *Clinical Microbiology and Infection.* 2020.
- 92. Linton NM, Kobayashi T, Yang Y, et al. Incubation Period and Other Epidemiological Characteristics of 2019 Novel Coronavirus Infections with Right Truncation: A Statistical Analysis of Publicly Available Case Data. *J Clin Med.* 2020;9(2).
- Lauer SA, Grantz KH, Bi Q, et al. The Incubation Period of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) From Publicly Reported Confirmed Cases: Estimation and Application. *Annals of Internal Medicine*. 2020.

- 94. Jiang AB-z, Lieu R, Quenby S. Significantly longer Covid-19 incubation times for the elderly, from a case study of 136 patients throughout China. *medRxiv*. 2020:2020.2004.2014.20065896.
- 95. Wang Y, Wang Q, Wang K, Song Č, Guo Z, Hu W. A Case of COVID-19 with Ultra-Long Incubation Period. *Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology.* 2020:1-7.
- 96. Cai J, Xu J, Lin D, et al. A Case Series of children with 2019 novel coronavirus infection: clinical and epidemiological features. *Clin Infect Dis.* 2020.
- 97. Jiang X, Rayner S, Luo MH. Does SARS-CoV-2 has a longer incubation period than SARS and MERS? *J Med Virol.* 2020.
- 98. !!! INVALID CITATION !!! {}.
- 99. American Academy of Otolaryngology Head and Neck Surgery. AAO-HNS: Anosmia, Hyposmia, and Dysgeusia Symptoms of Coronavirus Disease <u>https://www.entnet.org/content/aao-hns-anosmia-hyposmia-and-dysgeusia-symptoms-coronavirus-disease</u>. Published 2020. Updated March 22. Accessed March 27, 2020.
- 100. Brodwin E. Doctors warn an inability to smell could be a symptom of Covid-19 but caution the evidence is preliminary. Stat News. <u>https://www.statnews.com/2020/03/23/coronavirus-sense-of-smell-anosmia/</u>. Published 2020. Updated March 23. Accessed March 26, 2020.
- 101. Hopkins C. Loss of sense of smell as a marker of COVID-19 infection. ENT UK;2020.
- 102. Giacomelli A, Pezzati L, Conti F, et al. Self-reported olfactory and taste disorders in SARS-CoV-2 patients: a cross-sectional study. *Clin Infect Dis.* 2020.
- 103. Lechien JR, Chiesa-Estomba CM, De Siati DR, et al. Olfactory and gustatory dysfunctions as a clinical presentation of mild-to-moderate forms of the coronavirus disease (COVID-19): a multicenter European study. *Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol.* 2020.
- 104. Lee Y, Min P, Lee S, Kim SW. Prevalence and Duration of Acute Loss of Smell or Taste in COVID-19 Patients. *J Korean Med Sci.* 2020;35(18):e174.
- 105. Mao L, Jin H, Wang M, et al. Neurologic Manifestations of Hospitalized Patients With Coronavirus Disease 2019 in Wuhan, China. *JAMA Neurology.* 2020.
- 106. Zanin L, Saraceno G, Panciani PP, et al. SARS-CoV-2 can induce brain and spine demyelinating lesions. *Acta Neurochirurgica*. 2020.
- 107. Wu P, Duan F, Luo C, et al. Characteristics of Ocular Findings of Patients With Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) in Hubei Province, China. *JAMA Ophthalmology.* 2020.
- 108. Xia J, Tong J, Liu M, Shen Y, Guo D. Evaluation of coronavirus in tears and conjunctival secretions of patients with SARS-CoV-2 infection. *Journal of Medical Virology.* 2020;n/a(n/a).
- 109. Ulhaq ZS, Soraya GV. The prevalence of ophthalmic manifestations in COVID-19 and the diagnostic value of ocular tissue/fluid. *Graefe's Archive for Clinical and Experimental Ophthalmology*. 2020.
- 110. Loffredo L, Pacella F, Pacella E, Tiscione G, Oliva A, Violi F. Conjunctivitis and COVID-19: a meta-analysis. *Journal of Medical Virology*.n/a(n/a).
- 111. Recalcati S. Cutaneous manifestations in COVID-19: a first perspective. *Journal of the European Academy of Dermatology and Venereology.* 2020;n/a(n/a).
- 112. Piccolo V, Neri I, Filippeschi C, et al. Chilblain-like lesions during COVID-19 epidemic: a preliminary study on 63 patients. *Journal of the European Academy of Dermatology and Venereology*.n/a(n/a).
- 113. Bouaziz JD, Duong T, Jachiet M, et al. Vascular skin symptoms in COVID-19: a french observational study. *Journal of the European Academy of Dermatology and Venereology*. 2020;n/a(n/a).
- 114. Yang Y, Zhao J, Wu J, Teng Y, Xia X. A Rare Case of Immune Thrombocytopenic Purpura Secondary to COVID-19. *Journal of Medical Virology.*n/a(n/a).
- 115. Sanchez A, Sohier P, Benghanem S, et al. Digitate Papulosquamous Eruption Associated With Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 Infection. *JAMA Dermatology*. 2020.
- 116. Jimenez-Cauhe J, Ortega-Quijano D, Carretero-Barrio I, et al. Erythema multiforme-like eruption in patients with COVID-19 infection: clinical and histological findings. *Clin Exp Dermatol.* 2020.
- 117. Ordieres-Ortega L, Toledo-Samaniego N, Parra-Virto A, Fernández-Carracedo E, Lavilla-Olleros C, Demelo-Rodríguez P. Atypical erythema nodosum in a patient with COVID-19 pneumonia. *Dermatologic Therapy*.n/a(n/a):e13658.
- 118. Suchonwanit P, Leerunyakul K, Kositkuljorn C. Diagnostic and prognostic values of cutaneous manifestations in COVID-19. *Dermatologic Therapy*.n/a(n/a):e13650.

- 119. Xia W, Shao J, Guo Y, Peng X, Li Z, Hu D. Clinical and CT features in pediatric patients with COVID-19 infection: Different points from adults. *Pediatr Pulmonol.* 2020.
- 120. Cao Q, Chen YC, Chen CL, Chiu CH. SARS-CoV-2 infection in children: Transmission dynamics and clinical characteristics. *J Formos Med Assoc.* 2020.
- 121. Lu Q, Shi Y. Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) and neonate: What neonatologist need to know. *Journal of Medical Virology.* 2020;n/a(n/a).
- 122. Almeida FJ, Olmos RD, Oliveira DBL, et al. Hematuria Associated With SARS-CoV-2 Infection in a Child. *Pediatr Infect Dis J.* 2020.
- 123. Yan CH, Faraji F, Prajapati DP, Ostrander BT, DeConde AS. Self-reported olfactory loss associates with outpatient clinical course in Covid-19. *Int Forum Allergy Rhinol.* 2020.
- 124. Chen J, Qi T, Liu L, et al. Clinical progression of patients with COVID-19 in Shanghai, China. J Infect. 2020.
- 125. Gartland RM, Velmahos GC. Bowel Necrosis in the Setting of COVID-19. *Journal of Gastrointestinal Surgery.* 2020.
- 126. Sun D, Li H, Lu X-X, et al. Clinical features of severe pediatric patients with coronavirus disease 2019 in Wuhan: a single center's observational study. *World Journal of Pediatrics.* 2020.
- 127. Coronado Munoz A, Nawaratne U, McMann D, Ellsworth M, Meliones J, Boukas K. Late-Onset Neonatal Sepsis in a Patient with Covid-19. *New England Journal of Medicine*. 2020;382(19):e49.
- 128. Radmanesh A, Derman A, Lui YW, et al. COVID-19 –associated Diffuse Leukoencephalopathy and Microhemorrhages. *Radiology*.0(0):202040.
- 129. Ling Y, Xu SB, Lin YX, et al. Persistence and clearance of viral RNA in 2019 novel coronavirus disease rehabilitation patients. *Chin Med J (Engl).* 2020.
- 130. Mo P, Xing Y, Xiao Y, et al. Clinical characteristics of refractory COVID-19 pneumonia in Wuhan, China. *Clin Infect Dis.* 2020.
- 131. Xing Y, Mo P, Xiao Y, Zhao O, Zhang Y, Wang F. Post-discharge surveillance and positive virus detection in two medical staff recovered from coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19), China, January to February 2020. *Eurosurveillance*. 2020;25(10):2000191.
- 132. Ye G, Pan Z, Pan Y, et al. Clinical characteristics of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 reactivation. *The Journal of infection*. 2020.
- 133. Wang X, Xu H, Jiang H, et al. The Clinical Features and Outcomes of Discharged Coronavirus Disease 2019 Patients: A Prospective Cohort Study. *QJM: An International Journal of Medicine*. 2020.
- 134. Cheung E. Coronavirus: some recovered patients may have reduced lung function and are left gasping for air while walking briskly, Hong Kong doctors find. South China Morning Post. <u>https://www.scmp.com/news/hong-kong/health-environment/article/3074988/coronavirus-some-recovered-patients-may-have</u>. Published 2020. Updated February 13. Accessed February 18, 2020.
- 135. Lei DP. The Progression of Computed Tomographic (CT) Images in Patients with Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) Pneumonia: The CT progression of COVID-19 pneumonia. *Journal of Infection.* 2020.
- 136. Zheng Y, Sun L, Xu M, et al. Clinical characteristics of 34 COVID-19 patients admitted to ICU in Hangzhou, China. *medRxiv.* 2020:2020.2004.2012.20062604.
- 137. Zhang J, Zhou L, Yang Y, Peng W, Wang W, Chen X. Therapeutic and triage strategies for 2019 novel coronavirus disease in fever clinics. *The Lancet Respiratory Medicine*. 2020.
- 138. Chen Z-M, Fu J-F, Shu Q, et al. Diagnosis and treatment recommendations for pediatric respiratory infection caused by the 2019 novel coronavirus. *World Journal of Pediatrics*. 2020.
- 139. She J, Jiang J, Ye L, Hu L, Bai C, Song Y. 2019 novel coronavirus of pneumonia in Wuhan, China: emerging attack and management strategies. *Clinical and Translational Medicine*. 2020;9(1):19.
- 140. Zhu N, Zhang D, Wang W, et al. A Novel Coronavirus from Patients with Pneumonia in China, 2019. *N Engl J Med.* 2020;382(8):727-733.
- 141. Holshue ML, DeBolt C, Lindquist S, et al. First Case of 2019 Novel Coronavirus in the United States. *N Engl J Med.* 2020.
- 142. Qian L, Yu J, Shi H. Severe Acute Respiratory Disease in a Huanan Seafood Market Worker: Images of an Early Casualty. *Radiology: Cardiothoracic Imaging.* 2020;2(1):e200033.

- 143. Yoon SH, Lee KH, Kim JY, et al. Chest Radiographic and CT Findings of the 2019 Novel Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19): Analysis of Nine Patients Treated in Korea. *Korean J Radiol.* 2020.
- 144. Wong HYF, Lam HYS, Fong AH, et al. Frequency and Distribution of Chest Radiographic Findings in COVID-19 Positive Patients. *Radiology.* 2019:201160.
- 145. Borghesi A, Maroldi R. COVID-19 outbreak in Italy: experimental chest X-ray scoring system for quantifying and monitoring disease progression. *Radiol Med.* 2020.
- 146. Pan F, Ye T, Sun P, et al. Time Course of Lung Changes On Chest CT During Recovery From 2019 Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19) Pneumonia. *Radiology*. 2020:200370.
- 147. Fang Y, Zhang H, Xie J, et al. Sensitivity of Chest CT for COVID-19: Comparison to RT-PCR. *Radiology.* 2020;0(0):200432.
- 148. Zhang JJ, Dong X, Cao YY, et al. Clinical characteristics of 140 patients infected by SARS-CoV-2 in Wuhan, China. *Allergy.* 2020.
- 149. Bernheim A, Mei X, Huang M, et al. Chest CT Findings in Coronavirus Disease-19 (COVID-19): Relationship to Duration of Infection. *Radiology.* 2020;0(0):200463.
- 150. Zhao W, Zhong Z, Xie X, Yu Q, Liu J. Relation Between Chest CT Findings and Clinical Conditions of Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) Pneumonia: A Multicenter Study. *AJR Am J Roentgenol.* 2020:1-6.
- 151. Li Y, Xia L. Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19): Role of Chest CT in Diagnosis and Management. *AJR American journal of roentgenology.* 2020:1-7.
- 152. Zhou S, Wang Y, Zhu T, Xia L. CT Features of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) Pneumonia in 62 Patients in Wuhan, China. *AJR Am J Roentgenol.* 2020:1-8.
- 153. Qian G-Q, Yang N-B, Ding F, et al. Epidemiologic and Clinical Characteristics of 91 Hospitalized Patients with COVID-19 in Zhejiang, China: A retrospective, multi-centre case series. *QJM: An International Journal of Medicine.* 2020.
- 154. Liu P, Tan X-z. 2019 Novel Coronavirus (2019-nCoV) Pneumonia. *Radiology.* 2020:200257.
- 155. Chung M, Bernheim A, Mei X, et al. CT Imaging Features of 2019 Novel Coronavirus (2019nCoV). *Radiology.* 2020:200230.
- 156. Kong W, Agarwal PP. Chest Imaging Appearance of COVID-19 Infection. *Radiology: Cardiothoracic Imaging.* 2020;2(1):e200028.
- 157. Fang Y, Zhang H, Xu Y, Xie J, Pang P, Ji W. CT Manifestations of Two Cases of 2019 Novel Coronavirus (2019-nCoV) Pneumonia. *Radiology*. 2020;0(0):200280.
- 158. Caruso D, Zerunian M, Polici M, et al. Chest CT Features of COVID-19 in Rome, Italy. *Radiology.* 2020:201237.
- 159. Ng M-Y, Lee EY, Yang J, et al. Imaging Profile of the COVID-19 Infection: Radiologic Findings and Literature Review. *Radiology: Cardiothoracic Imaging.* 2020;2(1):e200034.
- 160. Wang Y, Dong C, Hu Y, et al. Temporal Changes of CT Findings in 90 Patients with COVID-19 Pneumonia: A Longitudinal Study. *Radiology.* 2020:200843.
- 161. Han X, Cao Y, Jiang N, et al. Novel Coronavirus Pneumonia (COVID-19) Progression Course in 17 Discharged Patients: Comparison of Clinical and Thin-Section CT Features During Recovery. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*. 2020.
- 162. Li K, Wu J, Wu F, et al. The Clinical and Chest CT Features Associated with Severe and Critical COVID-19 Pneumonia. *Invest Radiol.* 2020.
- 163. Wang J, Xu Z, Wang J, et al. CT characteristics of patients infected with 2019 novel coronavirus: association with clinical type. *Clin Radiol.* 2020.
- 164. Tabatabaei SMH, Talari H, Moghaddas F, Rajebi H. Computed Tomographic Features and Shortterm Prognosis of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) Pneumonia: A Single-Center Study from Kashan, Iran. *Radiology: Cardiothoracic Imaging.* 2020;2(2):e200130.
- 165. Xu Y, Li X, Zhu B, et al. Characteristics of pediatric SARS-CoV-2 infection and potential evidence for persistent fecal viral shedding. *Nature Medicine.* 2020.
- 166. Liu M, Song Z, Xiao K. High-Resolution Computed Tomography Manifestations of 5 Pediatric Patients With 2019 Novel Coronavirus. *J Comput Assist Tomogr.* 2020.
- 167. Lai W, Xie C, Pan H, Fan M, Liu J. Computed tomography of the lungs in novel corona virus (COVID-19) infection. *Pediatric Radiology*. 2020.
- 168. Liu H, Liu F, Li J, Zhang T, Wang D, Lan W. Clinical and CT Imaging Features of the COVID-19 Pneumonia: Focus on Pregnant Women and Children. *J Infect.* 2020.

- 169. Liu T, Huang P, Liu H, et al. Spectrum of Chest CT Findings in a Familial Cluster of COVID-19 Infection. *Radiology: Cardiothoracic Imaging.* 2020;2(1):e200025.
- 170. Inui S, Fujikawa A, Jitsu M, et al. Chest CT Findings in Cases from the Cruise Ship "Diamond Princess" with Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19). *Radiology: Cardiothoracic Imaging.* 2020;2(2):e200110.
- 171. Xie X, Zhong Z, Zhao W, Zheng C, Wang F, Liu J. Chest CT for Typical 2019-nCoV Pneumonia: Relationship to Negative RT-PCR Testing. *Radiology*. 2020;0(0):200343.
- 172. Li K, Fang Y, Li W, et al. CT image visual quantitative evaluation and clinical classification of coronavirus disease (COVID-19). *European Radiology.* 2020.
- 173. Ai T, Yang Z, Hou H, et al. Correlation of Chest CT and RT-PCR Testing in Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) in China: A Report of 1014 Cases. *Radiology.* 2020:200642.
- 174. Ding X, Xu J, Zhou J, Long Q. Chest CT findings of COVID-19 pneumonia by duration of symptoms. *Eur J Radiol.* 2020;127:109009.
- 175. Qin C, Liu F, Yen TC, Lan X. (18)F-FDG PET/CT findings of COVID-19: a series of four highly suspected cases. *Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging.* 2020.
- 176. Albano D, Bertagna F, Bertolia M, et al. Incidental findings suggestive of COVID-19 in asymptomatic patients undergoing nuclewar medicine procedures in a high prevalence region. *J Nucl Med.* 2020.
- 177. Xiong Y, Sun D, Liu Y, et al. Clinical and High-Resolution CT Features of the COVID-19 Infection: Comparison of the Initial and Follow-up Changes. *Investigative radiology*. 2020:10.1097/RLI.0000000000674.
- 178. Li G, Fox SE, Summa B, et al. Multiscale 3-dimensional pathology findings of COVID-19 diseased lung using high-resolution cleared tissue microscopy. *bioRxiv*. 2020:2020.2004.2011.037473.
- 179. Verger A, Bahloul A, Melki S, Karcher G, Imbert L, Marie P-Y. Tracheobronchitis signs observed on ventilation lung scintigraphy during the course of COVID-19 infection. *European Journal of Nuclear Medicine and Molecular Imaging.* 2020.
- 180. Luo L, Luo Z, Jia Y, et al. CT differential diagnosis of COVID-19 and non-COVID-19 in symptomatic suspects: a practical scoring method. *BMC Pulm Med.* 2020;20(1):129.
- 181. Lu W, Zhang S, Chen B, et al. A Clinical Study of Noninvasive Assessment of Lung Lesions in Patients with Coronavirus Disease-19 (COVID-19) by Bedside Ultrasound. *Ultraschall Med.* 2020.
- 182. Volpicelli G, Lamorte A, Villén T. What's new in lung ultrasound during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Intensive Care Medicine.* 2020.
- 183. Lei J, Li J, Li X, Qi X. CT Imaging of the 2019 Novel Coronavirus (2019-nCoV) Pneumonia. *Radiology.* 2020:200236.
- 184. Han H, Yang L, Liu R, et al. Prominent changes in blood coagulation of patients with SARS-CoV-2 infection. *Clin Chem Lab Med.* 2020.
- 185. Zhou H, Chen W, Li Z, et al. Delayed-Phase Thrombocytopenia in Patients of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19). *medRxiv*. 2020:2020.2004.2011.20059170.
- 186. Shi H, Han X, Zheng C. Evolution of CT Manifestations in a Patient Recovered from 2019 Novel Coronavirus (2019-nCoV) Pneumonia in Wuhan, China. *Radiology*. 2020;0(0):200269.
- 187. Weinberg SE, Behdad A, Ji P. Atypical lymphocytes in peripheral blood of patients with COVID-19. *British Journal of Haematology*.n/a(n/a).
- 188. Liu Y, Sun W, Li J, et al. Clinical features and progression of acute respiratory distress syndrome in coronavirus disease 2019. *medRxiv.* 2020:2020.2002.2017.20024166.
- 189. Tan L, Wang Q, Zhang D, et al. Lymphopenia predicts disease severity of COVID-19: a descriptive and predictive study. *Signal Transduction and Targeted Therapy.* 2020;5(1):33.
- 190. Bermejo-Martin JF, Almansa R, Menéndez R, Mendez R, Kelvin DJ, Torres A. Lymphopenic community acquired pneumonia as signature of severe COVID-19 infection. *J Infect.* 2020.
- 191. Liu F, Xu A, Zhang Y, et al. Patients of COVID-19 may benefit from sustained lopinavir-combined regimen and the increase of eosinophil may predict the outcome of COVID-19 progression. *International Journal of Infectious Diseases.* 2020.
- 192. Zeng F, Li L, Zeng J, et al. Can we predict the severity of COVID-19 with a routine blood test? *Pol Arch Intern Med.* 2020.
- 193. Zheng Y, Zhang Y, Chi H, et al. The hemocyte counts as a potential biomarker for predicting disease progression in COVID-19: a retrospective study. *Clin Chem Lab Med.* 2020.

- 194. Zheng M, Gao Y, Wang G, et al. Functional exhaustion of antiviral lymphocytes in COVID-19 patients. *Cell Mol Immunol.* 2020.
- 195. Diao B, Wang C, Tan Y, et al. Reduction and Functional Exhaustion of T Cells in Patients with Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19). *medRxiv.* 2020:2020.2002.2018.20024364.
- 196. Qin C, Zhou L, Hu Z, et al. Dysregulation of immune response in patients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China. *Clin Infect Dis.* 2020.
- 197. Zheng HY, Zhang M, Yang CX, et al. Elevated exhaustion levels and reduced functional diversity of T cells in peripheral blood may predict severe progression in COVID-19 patients. *Cell Mol Immunol.* 2020.
- 198. Wang F, Nie J, Wang H, et al. Characteristics of Peripheral Lymphocyte Subset Alteration in COVID-19 Pneumonia. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases*. 2020.
- 199. Jiang M, Guo Y, Luo Q, et al. T cell subset counts in peripheral blood can be used as discriminatory biomarkers for diagnosis and severity prediction of COVID-19. *J Infect Dis.* 2020.
- 200. Mitra A, Dwyre DM, Schivo M, et al. Leukoerythroblastic reaction in a patient with COVID-19 infection. *American Journal of Hematology.* 2020;n/a(n/a).
- 201. Li D, Wang D, Dong J, et al. False-Negative Results of Real-Time Reverse-Transcriptase Polymerase Chain Reaction for Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2: Role of Deep-Learning-Based CT Diagnosis and Insights from Two Cases. *Korean J Radiol.* 2020;21(4):505-508.
- 202. Chen H, Guo J, Wang C, et al. Clinical characteristics and intrauterine vertical transmission potential of COVID-19 infection in nine pregnant women: a retrospective review of medical records. *The Lancet.* 2020.
- 203. Chan JF, Yuan S, Kok KH, et al. A familial cluster of pneumonia associated with the 2019 novel coronavirus indicating person-to-person transmission: a study of a family cluster. *Lancet.* 2020;395(10223):514-523.
- 204. Liu W, Tao ZW, Lei W, et al. Analysis of factors associated with disease outcomes in hospitalized patients with 2019 novel coronavirus disease. *Chin Med J (Engl)*. 2020.
- 205. Zaninotto M, Mion MM, Cosma C, Rinaldi D, Plebani M. Presepsin in risk stratification of SARS-CoV-2 patients. *Clinica Chimica Acta*. 2020;507:161-163.
- 206. Yang S, Shi Y, Lu H, et al. Clinical and CT features of early-stage patients with COVID-19: a retrospective analysis of imported cases in Shanghai, China. *Eur Respir J.* 2020.
- 207. Zheng Y, Huang Z, Ying G, et al. Comparative study of the lymphocyte change between COVID-19 and non-COVID-19 pneumonia cases suggesting uncontrolled inflammation might not be the main reason of tissue injury. *medRxiv*. 2020:2020.2002.2019.20024885.
- 208. Wang F, Hou H, Luo Y, et al. The laboratory tests and host immunity of COVID-19 patients with different severity of illness. *JCI Insight.* 2020.
- 209. Ong EZ, Chan YFZ, Leong WY, et al. A dynamic response shapes COVID-19 progression. <u>https://marlin-prod.literatumonline.com/pb-assets/journals/research/cell-host-</u> microbe/chom 2283 s5.pdf. Published 2020. Accessed April 15, 2020.
- 210. Mehta P, McAuley DF, Brown M, Sanchez E, Tattersall RS, Manson JJ. COVID-19: consider cytokine storm syndromes and immunosuppression. *The Lancet.* 2020.
- 211. Chu H, Chan JF-W, Wang Y, et al. Comparative replication and immune activation profiles of SARS-CoV-2 and SARS-CoV in human lungs: an ex vivo study with implications for the pathogenesis of COVID-19. *Clinical Infectious Diseases.* 2020.
- 212. Huang X, Wei F, Yang Z, Li M, Liu L, Chen K. Lactose Dehydrogenase in Patients with Severe COVID-19: A Meta-Analysis of Retrospective Study. *Prehosp Disaster Med.* 2020:1-9.
- 213. Lei F, Liu YM, Zhou F, et al. Longitudinal association between markers of liver injury and mortality in COVID-19 in China. *Hepatology*. 2020.
- 214. Parohan M, Yaghoubi S, Seraj A. Liver injury is associated with severe Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) infection: a systematic review and meta-analysis of retrospective studies. *Hepatol Res.* 2020.
- 215. Tian S, Liu H, Liao M, et al. Analysis of mortality in patients of COVID-19: clinical and laboratory parameters. *Open Forum Infectious Diseases.* 2020.
- 216. Li Z, Wu M, Guo J, et al. Caution on Kidney Dysfunctions of 2019-nCoV Patients. *medRxiv.* 2020:2020.2002.2008.20021212.

- 217. Cheng Y, Luo R, Wang K, et al. Kidney disease is associated with in-hospital death of patients with COVID-19. *Kidney Int.* 2020:S0085-2538(0020)30255-30256.
- 218. Chu KH, Tsang WK, Tang CS, et al. Acute renal impairment in coronavirus-associated severe acute respiratory syndrome. *Kidney Int.* 2005;67(2):698-705.
- 219. Hong D, Long L, Wang AY, et al. Kidney manifestations of mild, moderate and severe coronavirus disease 2019: a retrospective cohort study. *Clinical Kidney Journal.* 2020.
- 220. Wang L, Li X, Chen H, et al. Coronavirus Disease 19 Infection Does Not Result in Acute Kidney Injury: An Analysis of 116 Hospitalized Patients from Wuhan, China. *American Journal of Nephrology.* 2020.
- 221. Lippi G, Lavie CJ, Sanchis-Gomar F. Cardiac troponin I in patients with coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): Evidence from a meta-analysis. *Prog Cardiovasc Dis.* 2020.
- 222. Guo T, Fan Y, Chen M, et al. Cardiovascular Implications of Fatal Outcomes of Patients With Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19). *JAMA Cardiol.* 2020.
- 223. Shi S, Qin M, Cai Y, et al. Characteristics and clinical significance of myocardial injury in patients with severe coronavirus disease 2019. *European Heart Journal*. 2020.
- 224. Zou L, Ruan F, Huang M, et al. SARS-CoV-2 Viral Load in Upper Respiratory Specimens of Infected Patients. *N Engl J Med.* 2020.
- 225. Pan Y, Zhang D, Yang P, Poon LLM, Wang Q. Viral load of SARS-CoV-2 in clinical samples. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases.* 2020.
- 226. To KK-W, Tsang OT-Y, Leung W-S, et al. Temporal profiles of viral load in posterior oropharyngeal saliva samples and serum antibody responses during infection by SARS-CoV-2: an observational cohort study. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases.* 2020.
- 227. Yu F, Yan L, Wang N, et al. Quantitative Detection and Viral Load Analysis of SARS-CoV-2 in Infected Patients. *Clinical Infectious Diseases.* 2020.
- 228. Yao H, Lu X, Chen Q, et al. Patient-derived mutations impact pathogenicity of SARS-CoV-2. *medRxiv.* 2020:2020.2004.2014.20060160.
- 229. Liu Y, Yan L-M, Wan L, et al. Viral dynamics in mild and severe cases of COVID-19. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*. 2020.
- 230. Zhou F, Yu T, Du R, et al. Clinical course and risk factors for mortality of adult inpatients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China: a retrospective cohort study. *Lancet.* 2020.
- 231. Du X, Yu X, Li Q, et al. Duration for carrying SARS-CoV-2 in COVID-19 patients. *Journal of Infection.* 2020.
- 232. Lescure F-X, Bouadma L, Nguyen D, et al. Clinical and virological data of the first cases of COVID-19 in Europe: a case series. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases.*
- 233. Xiao AT, Tong YX, Zhang S. Profile of RT-PCR for SARS-CoV-2: a preliminary study from 56 COVID-19 patients. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*. 2020.
- 234. Huang Y, Chen S, Yang Z, et al. SARS-CoV-2 Viral Load in Clinical Samples of Critically III Patients. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* 2020.
- 235. Xu K, Chen Y, Yuan J, et al. Factors associated with prolonged viral RNA shedding in patients with COVID-19. *Clinical Infectious Diseases.* 2020.
- 236. La Scola B, Le Bideau M, Andreani J, et al. Viral RNA load as determined by cell culture as a management tool for discharge of SARS-CoV-2 patients from infectious disease wards.
- 237. Shastri A, Wheat J, Agrawal S, et al. Delayed clearance of SARS-CoV2 in male compared to female patients: High ACE2 expression in testes suggests possible existence of gender-specific viral reservoirs. *medRxiv*. 2020:2020.2004.2016.20060566.
- 238. Zheng S, Fan J, Yu F, et al. Viral load dynamics and disease severity in patients infected with SARS-CoV-2 in Zhejiang province, China, January-March 2020: retrospective cohort study. *BMJ*. 2020;369:m1443.
- 239. Wang W, Xu Y, Gao R, et al. Detection of SARS-CoV-2 in Different Types of Clinical Specimens. *JAMA*. 2020.
- 240. Wu Y, Guo C, Tang L, et al. Prolonged presence of SARS-CoV-2 viral RNA in faecal samples. *The Lancet Gastroenterology & Hepatology.* 2020.
- 241. Seah YJI, Anderson DE, Zheng Kang AE, et al. Assessing Viral Shedding and Infectivity of Tears in Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) Patients. *Ophthalmology*. 2020.
- 242. Karimi S, Arabi A, Shahraki T, Safi S. Detection of severe acute respiratory syndrome Coronavirus-2 in the tears of patients with Coronavirus disease 2019. *Eye.* 2020.

- 243. Qiu L, Liu X, Xiao M, et al. SARS-CoV-2 is not detectable in the vaginal fluid of women with severe COVID-19 infection. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*. 2020.
- 244. Li D, Jin M, Bao P, Zhao W, Zhang S. Clinical Characteristics and Results of Semen Tests Among Men With Coronavirus Disease 2019. *JAMA Network Open.* 2020;3(5):e208292-e208292.
- 245. Lan L, Xu D, Ye G, et al. Positive RT-PCR Test Results in Patients Recovered From COVID-19. *JAMA*. 2020.
- 246. Yonhap News Agency. Cured virus patients might have tested positive due to virus reactivation: KCDC. <u>https://en.yna.co.kr/view/AEN20200406006700320</u>. Published 2020. Updated April 6. Accessed April 10, 2020.
- 247. Ho M. Up to 10 per cent of recovered coronavirus patients in Wuhan study tested positive later, doctors say South China Morning Post. <u>https://www.scmp.com/news/china/society/article/3076989/coronavirus-10pc-recovered-patients-test-positive-later-say</u>. Published 2020. Updated March 26. Accessed April 9, 2020.
- 248. Lo K, Rui G, Zhang P. Should China count recovered coronavirus patients who test positive again? . South China Morning Post. https://www.scmp.com/news/china/society/article/3076484/should-china-count-recovered-coronavirus-patients-who-test. Published 2020. Updated March 23. Accessed April 9, 2020.
- 249. Yang J-R, Deng D-T, Wu N, Yang B, Li H-J, Pan X-B. Persistent viral RNA positivity during recovery period of a patient with SARS-CoV-2 infection. *Journal of Medical Virology*.n/a(n/a).
- 250. Yuan J, Kou S, Liang Y, Zeng J, Pan Y, Liu L. PCR Assays Turned Positive in 25 Discharged COVID-19 Patients. *Clinical Infectious Diseases.* 2020.
- 251. Liu J, Xiao Y, Shen Y, et al. Detection of SARS-CoV-2 by RT-PCR in anal from patients who have recovered from coronavirus disease 2019. *J Med Virol.* 2020.
- 252. Zhao Y, Xia Z, Liang W, et al. SARS-CoV-2 Persisted in Lung Tissue Despite Disappearance in Other Clinical Samples. *Clin Microbiol Infect.* 2020.
- 253. An J, Liao X, Xiao T, et al. Clinical characteristics of the recovered COVID-19 patients with redetectable positive RNA test. *medRxiv*. 2020:2020.2003.2026.20044222.
- 254. Yuan J, Zou R, Zeng L, et al. The correlation between viral clearance and biochemical outcomes of 94 COVID-19 infected discharged patients. *Inflammation Research.* 2020;69(6):599-606.
- 255. Azzi L, Carcano G, Dalla Gasperina D, Sessa F, Maurino V, Baj A. Two cases of COVID-19 with positive salivary and negative pharyngeal or respiratory swabs at hospital discharge: a rising concern. *Oral Diseases.n/a*(n/a).
- 256. Yu X, Sun S, Shi Y, Wang H, Zhao R, Sheng J. SARS-CoV-2 viral load in sputum correlates with risk of COVID-19 progression. *Critical Care.* 2020;24(1):170.
- 257. Zhao J, Yuan Q, Wang H, et al. Antibody responses to SARS-CoV-2 in patients of novel coronavirus disease 2019. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*. 2020.
- 258. Al Saiegh F, Ghosh R, Leibold A, et al. Status of SARS-CoV-2 in cerebrospinal fluid of patients with COVID-19 and stroke. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. 2020.
- 259. Ngaserin SH-N, Koh FH, Ong B-C, Chew M-H. COVID-19 not detected in peritoneal fluid: a case of laparoscopic appendicectomy for acute appendicitis in a COVID-19-infected patient. *Langenbeck's Archives of Surgery.* 2020.
- 260. Liu Y, Yang Y, Zhang C, et al. Clinical and biochemical indexes from 2019-nCoV infected patients linked to viral loads and lung injury. *Sci China Life Sci.* 2020.
- 261. Anand ER, Major C, Pickering O, Nelson M. Acute pancreatitis in a COVID-19 patient. *BJS* (*British Journal of Surgery*).n/a(n/a).
- 262. Xiang C, Wu G. SARS-CoV-2 pneumonia with subcutaneous emphysema, mediastinal emphysema, and pneumothorax: A case report. *Medicine*. 2020;99(20):e20208.
- 263. Arentz M, Yim E, Klaff L, et al. Characteristics and Outcomes of 21 Critically III Patients With COVID-19 in Washington State. *JAMA*. 2020.
- 264. Liu X, Liu X, Xu Y, et al. Ventilatory Ratio in Hypercapnic Mechanically Ventilated Patients with COVID-19 Associated ARDS. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* 2020.
- 265. Xie H, Zhao J, Lian N, Lin S, Xie Q, Zhuo H. Clinical characteristics of non-ICU hospitalized patients with coronavirus disease 2019 and liver injury: A retrospective study. *Liver Int.* 2020.
- 266. Casey K, Iteen A, Nicolini R, Auten J. COVID-19 pneumonia with hemoptysis: Acute segmental pulmonary emboli associated with novel coronavirus infection. *The American Journal of Emergency Medicine*. 2020.

- 267. Danzi GB, Loffi M, Galeazzi G, Gherbesi E. Acute pulmonary embolism and COVID-19 pneumonia: a random association? *European Heart Journal.* 2020.
- 268. Tavazzi G, Civardi L, Caneva L, Mongodi S, Mojoli F. Thrombotic events in SARS-CoV-2 patients: an urgent call for ultrasound screening. *Intensive Care Medicine*. 2020.
- 269. Xie Y, Wang X, Yang P, Zhang S. COVID-19 Complicated by Acute Pulmonary Embolism. *Radiology: Cardiothoracic Imaging.* 2020;2(2):e200067.
- 270. Leonard-Lorant I, Delabranche X, Severac F, et al. Acute Pulmonary Embolism in COVID-19 Patients on CT Angiography and Relationship to D-Dimer Levels. *Radiology*.0(0):201561.
- 271. Zhang Y, Xiao M, Zhang S, et al. Coagulopathy and Antiphospholipid Antibodies in Patients with Covid-19. *New England Journal of Medicine.* 2020.
- 272. Poyiadji N, Shahin G, Noujaim D, Stone M, Patel S, Griffith B. COVID-19–associated Acute Hemorrhagic Necrotizing Encephalopathy: CT and MRI Features. *Radiology*. 2020;0(0):201187.
- 273. Llitjos JF, Leclerc M, Chochois C, et al. High incidence of venous thromboembolic events in anticoagulated severe COVID-19 patients. *J Thromb Haemost.* 2020.
- 274. Fogarty H, Townsend L, Ni Cheallaigh C, et al. COVID-19 Coagulopathy in Caucasian patients. *Br J Haematol.* 2020.
- 275. Lodigiani C, Iapichino G, Carenzo L, et al. Venous and arterial thromboembolic complications in COVID-19 patients admitted to an academic hospital in Milan, Italy. *Thromb Res.* 2020;191:9-14.
- 276. White D, MacDonald S, Bull T, et al. Heparin resistance in COVID-19 patients in the intensive care unit. *Journal of Thrombosis and Thrombolysis.* 2020.
- 277. Vulliamy P, Jacob S, Davenport RA. Acute aorto-iliac and mesenteric arterial thromboses as presenting features of COVID-19. *Br J Haematol.* 2020.
- 278. Peigh G, Leya MV, Baman JR, Cantey EP, Knight BP, Flaherty JD. Novel coronavirus 19 (COVID-19) associated sinus node dysfunction: a case series. *European Heart Journal Case Reports.* 2020.
- 279. Creel-Bulos C, Hockstein M, Amin N, Melhem S, Truong A, Sharifpour M. Acute Cor Pulmonale in Critically III Patients with Covid-19. *New England Journal of Medicine*. 2020:e70.
- 280. Jafari R, Cegolon L, Jafari A, et al. Large saddle pulmonary embolism in a woman infected by COVID-19 pneumonia. *European Heart Journal.* 2020.
- 281. Dominguez-Erquicia P, Dobarro D, Raposeiras-Roubín S, Bastos-Fernandez G, Iñiguez-Romo A. Multivessel coronary thrombosis in a patient with COVID-19 pneumonia. *European Heart Journal*. 2020.
- 282. Wee LE, Ko KKK, Ho WQ, Kwek GTC, Tan TT, Wijaya L. Community-acquired viral respiratory infections amongst hospitalized inpatients during a COVID-19 outbreak in Singapore: co-infection and clinical outcomes. *Journal of Clinical Virology.* 2020;128:104436.
- 283. Lin D, Liu L, Zhang M, et al. Co-infections of SARS-CoV-2 with multiple common respiratory pathogens in infected patients. *Sci China Life Sci.* 2020.
- 284. Ding Q, Lu P, Fan Y, Xia Y, Liu M. The clinical characteristics of pneumonia patients co-infected with 2019 novel coronavirus and influenza virus in Wuhan, China. *J Med Virol.* 2020.
- 285. Yan G, Lee CK, Lam LTM, et al. Covert COVID-19 and false-positive dengue serology in Singapore. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases.* 2020.
- 286. Ravioli S, Niebuhr N, Ruchti C, Pluess E, Stoeckli T, Lindner G. The syndrome of inappropriate antidiuresis in COVID-19 pneumonia: report of two cases. *Clinical Kidney Journal.* 2020.
- 287. Toscano G, Palmerini F, Ravaglia S, et al. Guillain–Barré Syndrome Associated with SARS-CoV-2. New England Journal of Medicine. 2020.
- 288. Scheidl E, Canseco DD, Hadji-Naumov A, Bereznai B. Guillain-Barre syndrome during SARS-CoV-2 pandemic: a case report and review of recent literature. *J Peripher Nerv Syst.* 2020.
- 289. Li M, Nguyen CB, Yeung Z, Sanchez K, Rosen D, Bushan S. Evans syndrome in a patient with COVID-19. *British Journal of Haematology*.n/a(n/a).
- 290. Liu Y, Chen H, Tang K, Guo Y. Clinical manifestations and outcome of SARS-CoV-2 infection during pregnancy. *J Infect.* 2020.
- 291. Yang P, Liu P, Li D, Zhao D. Corona Virus Disease 2019, a growing threat to children? *Journal of Infection.* 2020.
- 292. Iqbal SN, Overcash R, Mokhtari N, et al. An Uncomplicated Delivery in a Patient with Covid-19 in the United States. *New England Journal of Medicine.* 2020.

- 293. Karami P, Naghavi M, Feyzi A, et al. Mortality of a pregnant patient diagnosed with COVID-19: A case report with clinical, radiological, and histopathological findings. *Travel Med Infect Dis.* 2020:101665.
- 294. Ahmed I, Azhar A, Eltaweel N, Tan BK. First Covid-19 maternal mortality in the UK associated with thrombotic complications. *British Journal of Haematology*.n/a(n/a).
- 295. Baud D, Greub G, Favre G, et al. Second-Trimester Miscarriage in a Pregnant Woman With SARS-CoV-2 Infection. *JAMA*. 2020.
- 296. Abbas AM, Ahmed OA, Shaltout AS. Hydatidiform mole in the era of COVID-19 pandemic. Is there an association? *American Journal of Reproductive Immunology*.n/a(n/a):e13253.
- 297. Wang S, Guo L, Chen L, et al. A case report of neonatal COVID-19 infection in China. *Clinical Infectious Diseases.* 2020.
- 298. Liu W, Wang J, Li W, Zhou Z, Liu S, Rong Z. Clinical characteristics of 19 neonates born to mothers with COVID-19. *Frontiers of Medicine*. 2020.
- 299. Gajbhiye R, Modi D, Mahale S. Pregnancy outcomes, Newborn complications and Maternal-Fetal Transmission of SARS-CoV-2 in women with COVID-19: A systematic review. *medRxiv*. 2020:2020.2004.2011.20062356.
- 300. Dong L, Tian J, He S, et al. Possible Vertical Transmission of SARS-CoV-2 From an Infected Mother to Her Newborn. *JAMA*. 2020;323(18):1846-1848.
- 301. Zeng H, Xu C, Fan J, et al. Antibodies in Infants Born to Mothers With COVID-19 Pneumonia. *JAMA*. 2020;323(18):1848-1849.
- 302. Yang N, Che S, Zhang J, et al. Breastfeeding of Infants Born to Mothers with COVID-19: A Rapid Review. *medRxiv*. 2020:2020.2004.2013.20064378.
- 303. Buonsenso D, Costa S, Sanguinetti M, et al. Neonatal Late Onset Infection with Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2. *Am J Perinatol.* 2020.
- 304. Piersigilli F, Carkeek K, Hocq C, et al. COVID-19 in a 26-week preterm neonate. *The Lancet Child & Adolescent Health.*
- 305. Cui Y, Tian M, Huang D, et al. A 55-Day-Old Female Infant Infected With 2019 Novel Coronavirus Disease: Presenting With Pneumonia, Liver Injury, and Heart Damage. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases*. 2020.
- 306. Lu X, Zhang L, Du H, et al. SARS-CoV-2 Infection in Children. *New England Journal of Medicine.* 2020;382(17):1663-1665.
- 307. Shekerdemian LS, Mahmood NR, Wolfe KK, et al. Characteristics and Outcomes of Children With Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) Infection Admitted to US and Canadian Pediatric Intensive Care Units. *JAMA Pediatrics.* 2020.
- 308. Riphagen S, Gomez X, Gonzalez-Martinez C, Wilkinson N, Theocharis P. Hyperinflammatory shock in children during COVID-19 pandemic. *The Lancet.*
- 309. Verdoni L, Mazza A, Gervasoni A, et al. An outbreak of severe Kawasaki-like disease at the Italian epicentre of the SARS-CoV-2 epidemic: an observational cohort study. *Lancet.* 2020.
- 310. Control ECfDPa. Paediatric inflammatory multisystem syndrome and SARS-CoV-2 infection in children 15 May 2020. Stockholm2020.
- 311. André N, Rouger-Gaudichon J, Brethon B, et al. COVID-19 in pediatric oncology from French pediatric oncology and hematology centers: High risk of severe forms? *Pediatric Blood & Cancer.n*/a(n/a):e28392.
- 312. Liang W, Guan W, Chen R, et al. Cancer patients in SARS-CoV-2 infection: a nationwide analysis in China. *Lancet Oncol.* 2020.
- 313. Tian S, Hu W, Niu L, Liu H, Xu H, Xiao S-Y. Pulmonary pathology of early phase 2019 novel coronavirus (COVID-19) pneumonia in two patients with lung cancer. *Journal of Thoracic Oncology.* 2020.
- 314. Zhang L, Zhu F, Xie L, et al. Clinical characteristics of COVID-19-infected cancer patients: a retrospective case study in three hospitals within Wuhan, China. *Annals of Oncology.* 2020.
- 315. Joharatnam-Hogan N, Hochhauser D, Shiu K-K, et al. Outcomes of the 2019 Novel Coronavirus in patients with or without a history of cancer a multi-centre North London experience. *medRxiv*. 2020:2020.2004.2016.20061127.
- 316. Cui D, Zhang A, Liu A, Hu Q. Clinical findings in a patient with hemophilia A affected by COVID-19. *Haemophilia*. 2020.

- 317. Guillen E, Pineiro GJ, Revuelta I, et al. Case report of COVID-19 in a kidney transplant recipient: Does immunosuppression alter the clinical presentation? *American Journal of Transplantation*. 2020;n/a(n/a).
- 318. Jin X-H, Zheng KI, Pan K-H, Xie Y-P, Zheng M-H. COVID-19 in a patient with chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. *The Lancet Haematology*. 2020;7(4):e351-e352.
- 319. Zhu F, Cao Y, Xu S, Zhou M. Co-infection of SARS-CoV-2 and HIV in a patient in Wuhan city, China. *J Med Virol.* 2020.
- 320. Zhao J, Liao X, Wang H, et al. Early virus clearance and delayed antibody response in a case of COVID-19 with a history of co-infection with HIV-1 and HCV. *Clinical Infectious Diseases.* 2020.
- 321. Gervasoni C, Meraviglia P, Riva A, et al. Clinical features and outcomes of HIV patients with coronavirus disease 2019. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*. 2020.
- 322. Arashiro T, Nakamura S, Asami T, et al. SARS-CoV-2 and Legionella Co-infection in a Person Returning from a Nile Cruise. *Journal of Travel Medicine.* 2020.
- 323. Beerkens F, John M, Puliafito B, Corbett V, Edwards C, Tremblay D. COVID-19 Pneumonia as a Cause of Acute Chest Syndrome in an Adult Sickle Cell Patient. *American Journal of Hematology*. 2020;n/a(n/a).
- 324. Lei S, Jiang F, Su W, et al. Clinical characteristics and outcomes of patients undergoing surgeries during the incubation period of COVID-19 infection. *EClinicalMedicine*. 2020:100331.
- 325. Pereira MR, Mohan S, Cohen DJ, et al. COVID-19 in Solid Organ Transplant Recipients: Initial Report from the US Epicenter. *Am J Transplant.* 2020.
- 326. Banerjee D, Popoola J, Shah S, Ster IC, Quan V, Phanish M. COVID-19 infection in kidney transplant recipients. *Kidney Int.* 2020.
- 327. Willan J, King AJ, Hayes S, Collins GP, Peniket A. Care of haematology patients in a COVID-19 epidemic. *Br J Haematol.* 2020.
- 328. Mao R, Liang J, Shen J, et al. Implications of COVID-19 for patients with pre-existing digestive diseases. *Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol.* 2020.
- 329. Burki TK. Cancer care in the time of COVID-19. *The Lancet Oncology.* 2020.
- 330. Patanavanich R, Glantz SA. Smoking is Associated with COVID-19 Progression: A Meta-Analysis. *medRxiv.* 2020.
- 331. Sasidharan M, Singh A, Eskandari Torbaghan M, Parlikad AK. A vulnerability-based approach to human-mobility reduction for countering COVID-19 transmission in London while considering local air quality. *medRxiv*. 2020:2020.2004.2013.20060798.
- 332. Travaglio M, Popovic R, Yu Y, Leal N, Martins LM. Links between air pollution and COVID-19 in England. *medRxiv.* 2020.
- 333. Wu X, Nethery RC, Sabath BM, Braun D, Dominici F. Exposure to air pollution and COVID-19 mortality in the United States: A nationwide cross-sectional study. *medRxiv*. 2020:2020.2004.2005.20054502.
- 334. Ji D, Zhang D, Xu J, et al. Prediction for Progression Risk in Patients with COVID-19 Pneumonia: the CALL Score. *Clinical Infectious Diseases.* 2020.
- 335. Wu C, Chen X, Cai Y, et al. Risk Factors Associated With Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome and Death in Patients With Coronavirus Disease 2019 Pneumonia in Wuhan, China. *JAMA Internal Medicine*. 2020.
- 336. Zhang Y, Zheng L, Liu L, Zhao M, Xiao J, Zhao Q. Liver impairment in COVID-19 patients: a retrospective analysis of 115 cases from a single center in Wuhan city, China. *Liver Int.* 2020.
- 337. Zheng KI, Gao F, Wang XB, et al. Obesity as a risk factor for greater severity of COVID-19 in patients with metabolic associated fatty liver disease. *Metabolism.* 2020:154244.
- 338. Jin X, Lian JS, Hu JH, et al. Epidemiological, clinical and virological characteristics of 74 cases of coronavirus-infected disease 2019 (COVID-19) with gastrointestinal symptoms. *Gut.* 2020.
- 339. Gao Y, Li T, Han M, et al. Diagnostic Utility of Clinical Laboratory Data Determinations for Patients with the Severe COVID-19. *J Med Virol.* 2020.
- 340. Mi B, Chen L, Panayi AC, Xiong Y, Liu G. Serum Mycoplasma Pneumoniae IgG in COVID-19: A Protective Factor. *medRxiv*. 2020:2020.2004.2012.20060079.
- 341. Yang J, Zheng Y, Gou X, et al. Prevalence of comorbidities in the novel Wuhan coronavirus (COVID-19) infection: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Infect Dis.* 2020.
- 342. Wynants L, Van Calster B, Bonten MMJ, et al. Prediction models for diagnosis and prognosis of covid-19 infection: systematic review and critical appraisal. *BMJ.* 2020;369:m1328.

- 343. Liu J, Chen T, Yang H, et al. Clinical and radiological changes of hospitalised patients with COVID-19 pneumonia from disease onset to acute exacerbation: a multicentre paired cohort study. *European Radiology*. 2020.
- 344. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. People Who are at Higher Risk. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/specific-groups/people-at-higher-risk.html</u>. Published 2020. Updated March 26. Accessed March 26, 2020.
- Conseil scientifique. Avis du Conseil scientifique COVID-19, Etat des lieux du confinement et critères de sortie <u>https://solidarites-sante.gouv.fr/IMG/pdf/avis\_conseil\_scientifique\_2\_avril\_2020.pdf</u>. Published 2020. Updated April 2. Accessed April 10, 2020.
- 346. Al Heialy S, Hachim MY, Senok A, et al. Regulation of angiotensin converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) in obesity: implications for COVID-19. *bioRxiv*. 2020:2020.2004.2017.046938.
- 347. Ong SWX, Young BE, Leo Y-S, Lye DC. Association of higher body mass index (BMI) with severe coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) in younger patients. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*. 2020.
- 348. Mohamed AA, Alawna M. Role of increasing the aerobic capacity on improving the function of immune and respiratory systems in patients with coronavirus (COVID-19): A review. *Diabetes & Metabolic Syndrome: Clinical Research & Reviews.* 2020;14(4):489-496.
- 349. Gross O, Moerer O, Weber M, Huber TB, Scheithauer S. COVID-19-associated nephritis: early warning for disease severity and complications? *The Lancet.*
- 350. EMA gives advice on the use of non-steroidal antiinflammatories for COVID-19 [press release]. March 18 2020.
- 351. Huang JT, Ran RX, Lv ZH, et al. Chronological Changes of Viral Shedding in Adult Inpatients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China. *Clin Infect Dis.* 2020.
- 352. Centre for Infectious Disease Epidemiology and Research-NUS. COVID-19 Situation Report 69. 2020.
- 353. Onder G, Rezza G, Brusaferro S. Case-Fatality Rate and Characteristics of Patients Dying in Relation to COVID-19 in Italy. *JAMA*. 2020.
- 354. Wu P, Hao X, Lau EHY, et al. Real-time tentative assessment of the epidemiological characteristics of novel coronavirus infections in Wuhan, China, as at 22 January 2020. *Euro Surveill.* 2020;25(3).
- 355. McMichael TM, Currie DW, Clark S, et al. Epidemiology of Covid-19 in a Long-Term Care Facility in King County, Washington. *N Engl J Med.* 2020.
- 356. Baker JA. Bangladeshi national with COVID-19 in very critical state: Bangladesh High Commission. *Channel News Asia.* Feb 21, 2020.
- 357. Wang W, Tang J, Wei F. Updated understanding of the outbreak of 2019 novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) in Wuhan, China. *Journal of Medical Virology.* 2020;92(4):441-447.
- 358. Leung GM, Hedley AJ, Ho LM, et al. The epidemiology of severe acute respiratory syndrome in the 2003 Hong Kong epidemic: an analysis of all 1755 patients. *Ann Intern Med.* 2004;141(9):662-673.
- 359. Ruan Q, Yang K, Wang W, Jiang L, Song J. Clinical predictors of mortality due to COVID-19 based on an analysis of data of 150 patients from Wuhan, China. *Intensive Care Med.* 2020.
- 360. Zhu H, Wang L, Fang C, et al. Clinical analysis of 10 neonates born to mothers with 2019-nCoV pneumonia. *Translational Pediatrics.* 2020;9(1):51-60.
- 361. Ayoub HH, Chemaitelly H, Seedat S, Mumtaz GR, Makhoul M, Abu-Raddad LJ. Age could be driving variable SARS-CoV-2 epidemic trajectories worldwide. *medRxiv*. 2020:2020.2004.2013.20059253.
- 362. Cohen JF, Korevaar DA, Matczak S, Brice J, Chalumeau M, Toubiana J. COVID-19-related mortality by age groups in Europe: A meta-analysis. *medRxiv*. 2020:2020.2004.2011.20061721.
- 363. Los Angeles County Announces Three New Deaths Related to 2019 Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19)- 128 New Cases of Confirmed COVID-19 in Los Angeles County [press release]. March 24 2020.
- 364. 12-year-old girl infected with COVID-19 dies in Belgium. *Channel News Asia.* March 31, 2020.
- 365. 13-year-old UK boy dies after contracting COVID-19. *Channel News Asia*. April 1, 2020.
- 366. Duan YN, Qin J. Pre- and Posttreatment Chest CT Findings: 2019 Novel Coronavirus (2019nCoV) Pneumonia. *Radiology*. 2020;295(1):21.

- 367. 6-week-old newborn dies of coronavirus in US: State governor. *Channel News Asia.* April 2, 2020.
- 368. Nasiri MJ, Haddadi S, Tahvildari A, et al. COVID-19 clinical characteristics, and sex-specific risk of mortality: Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *medRxiv.* 2020:2020.2003.2024.20042903.
- 369. Luo P, Qiu L, Liu Y, et al. Metformin Treatment Was Associated with Decreased Mortality in COVID-19 Patients with Diabetes in a Retrospective Analysis. *Am J Trop Med Hyg.* 2020.
- 370. Guan WJ, Liang WH, Zhao Y, et al. Comorbidity and its impact on 1590 patients with Covid-19 in China: A Nationwide Analysis. *Eur Respir J.* 2020.
- 371. centre Icnaar. Report on 775 patients critically ill with COVID-19. March 27 2020.
- 372. Shamshirian A, Heydari K, Alizadeh-Navaei R, Moosazadeh M, Abrotan S, Hessami A. Cardiovascular Diseases and COVID-19 Mortality and Intensive Care Unit Admission: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *medRxiv*. 2020:2020.2004.2012.20062869.
- 373. Shi S, Qin M, Shen B, et al. Association of Cardiac Injury With Mortality in Hospitalized Patients With COVID-19 in Wuhan, China. *JAMA Cardiology*. 2020.
- 374. Leung C. Clinical features of deaths in the novel coronavirus epidemic in China. *Rev Med Virol.* 2020:e2103.
- 375. Garnier-Crussard A, Forestier E, Gilbert T, Krolak-Salmon P. Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19) Epidemic: What Are the Risks for Older Patients? *J Am Geriatr Soc.* 2020.
- 376. Liu Y, Du X, Chen J, et al. Neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio as an independent risk factor for mortality in hospitalized patients with COVID-19. *Journal of Infection.* 2020.
- 377. Gao L, Jiang D, Wen XS, et al. Prognostic value of NT-proBNP in patients with severe COVID-19. *Respir Res.* 2020;21(1):83.
- 378. Deng Q, Hu B, Zhang Y, et al. Suspected myocardial injury in patients with COVID-19: Evidence from front-line clinical observation in Wuhan, China. *International Journal of Cardiology.* 2020.
- 379. Akiyama Y, Ishida T. Relationship between COVID-19 death toll doubling time and national BCG vaccination policy. *medRxiv.* 2020.
- 380. Green CM, Fanucchi S, Fok ET, et al. COVID-19: A model correlating BCG vaccination to protection from mortality implicates trained immunity. *medRxiv*. 2020.
- 381. Yang F, Shi S, Zhu J, Shi J, Dai K, Chen X. Analysis of 92 deceased patients with COVID-19. *J Med Virol.* 2020.
- 382. Lansbury LE, Rodrigo C, Leonardi-Bee J, Nguyen-Van-Tam J, Shen Lim W. Corticosteroids as Adjunctive Therapy in the Treatment of Influenza: An Updated Cochrane Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *Critical Care Medicine*. 2020;48(2):e98-e106.
- 383. Giudicessi JR, Roden DM, Wilde AAM, Ackerman MJ. Genetic Susceptibility for COVID-19-Associated Sudden Cardiac Death in African Americans. *Heart Rhythm.* 2020.
- 384. World Health Organization. INTERNATIONAL GUIDELINES FOR CERTIFICATION AND CLASSIFICATION (CODING) OF COVID-19 AS CAUSE OF DEATH. 2020.
- 385. Control CfD, Prevention, Statistics NCfH. *Guidance for Certifying Deaths Due to Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19).* Report;2020.
- 386. D'Ambrosio A. 'Probable' COVID-19 Death Reporting Varies by State. *Medpage Today.* April 23, 2020, 2020.
- 387. Statistics OfN. Guidance for doctors completing Medical Certificates of Cause of Death in England and Wales. 2010.
- 388. Statistics ABo. Guidance for Certifying Deaths due to COVID-19. <u>https://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/mf/1205.0.55.001</u>. Published 2020. Accessed May 14, 2020.
- 389. Indian Council of Medical Research. *Guidance for appropriate recording of COVID-19 related deaths in India.* 2020.
- 390. Control ECfDPa. Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) in the EU/EEA and the UK– ninth update 23 April 2020 2020.